
1 

 
 

METROPOLITAN BOROUGH OF SEFTON 
 

COUNCIL SUMMONS 
 
 
To Members of the Metropolitan Borough Council 
 
 
Dear Councillor 
 
 
You are requested to attend a Meeting of the Sefton Metropolitan Borough Council to  
 
 
be held on Thursday 24th January, 2013 at 6.30 pm at the Town Hall, Southport to  
 
 
transact the business set out on the agenda overleaf. 
 
 

Yours sincerely, 

 
Chief Executive 

 
 
 
 
Town Hall, 
Southport 
 
Wednesday 16 January 2013 
 
 

Please contact Steve Pearce, Democratic Services Manager  
on 0151 934 2046 or e-mail steve.pearce@sefton.gov.uk 

 

 

Public Document Pack



2 

 
 
 
 
 

This page is intentionally left blank.



3 

A G E N D A 
 

1. Apologies for Absence 
 

 

2. Declarations of Interest 

 Members are requested to give notice of any disclosable 
pecuniary interest, which is not already included in their 
Register of Members' Interests and the nature of that interest, 
relating to any item on the agenda in accordance with the 
Members Code of Conduct, before leaving the meeting room 
during the discussion on that particular item. 
  
 

 

3. Minutes of Previous Meeting 

 Minutes of the meeting held on 22 November 2012  
 

(Pages 7 - 22) 

4. Mayor's Communications 
 

 

Public Session 
 

5. Matters Raised by the Public 

 To deal with matters raised by members of the public 
resident within the Borough, of which notice has been given 
in accordance with the procedures relating to public 
questions, motions or petitions set out in Paragraphs 36 to 46 
of the Council and Committee Procedure Rules in Chapter 4 
of the Council Constitution.  
 

 

Council Business Session 
 

6. Questions Raised by Members of the Council 

 To receive and consider questions to Cabinet Members, 
Chairs of Committees or Spokespersons for any of the Joint 
Authorities upon any matter within their portfolio/area of 
responsibility, of which notice has been given by Members of 
the Council in accordance with Paragraphs 48 to 53 of the 
Council and Committee Procedure Rules, set out in Chapter 
4 of the Council Constitution.  
 

 

7. Local Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2013/14 and 
Changes to Council Tax Discounts and Exemptions for 
Unoccupied Properties 

 Report of the Head of Corporate Finance and ICT  
 

(Pages 23 - 
106) 

8. Capital Maintenance Grant 2012/13 - Additional Schemes 

 Report of the Director of Young People and Families  
 

(Pages 107 - 
112) 



4 

9. Neighbourhood Planning Scheme of Delegation 

 Report of the Director of Built Environment  
 

(Pages 113 - 
124) 

10. Review of Standards Regime 

 Report of the Director of Corporate Support Services and 
Director of Corporate Commissioning  
 

(Pages 125 - 
142) 

11. Membership of Committees 20012/13 

 To consider any changes to the Membership of any 
committees etc.  
 

 

12. Matters dealt with in accordance with Rule 46 of the 
Scrutiny Procedure Rules (Call-In and Urgency) of the 
Constitution 

 Report of the Leader of the Council.  
 

(Pages 143 - 
148) 

13. Notice of Motion Submitted by Councillor Sir Ron 
Watson 

 To consider the following Motion submitted by Councillor Sir 
Ron Watson: 
 
“The Council: 
 
1. Welcomes the principle that a referendum is required 

for an increase in Council Tax;  
  
2. Believes, however that those participating in such a 

referendum should be Council Tax Payers only; and  
  
3. Seeks the support of the Local Government 

Association in introducing such a proposal.”  
 

 

14. Notice of Motion Submitted by Councillor Weavers 

 To consider the following Motion submitted by Councillor 
Weavers: 

“This Council appreciates the problems caused by fuel 
poverty, which affects the most vulnerable in our community, 
and strives to do whatever is possible within existing 
resources to minimise the problem. This includes using our 
planning policy to reduce the suffering whenever and 
wherever it is possible.” 

  
 
 
 
 
 

 



5 

15. Notice of Motion Submitted by Councillor Dawson 

 To consider the following Motion submitted by Councillor  
Dawson: 
 
“The Council notes: 
 
1. the erosion of the value of the State Retirement 

Pension over many years; 
 
2. that since 2010, in a time of relative of austerity, the 

Government has increased the State Retirement 
Pension above the prevailing inflation rate; 

 
3. the announcement of Government proposals to 

introduce a new state pension system which will, from 
2017, guarantee a pension 'of right' to all those who 
have been in employment of approximately £160.00 
per week; 

 
4. the particular benefits in the new proposals for those, 

disproportionately women whose employment record 
has been broken by periods of full-time or part-time 
childcare; and 

 
5. the proposed new pension system will encourage 

people to save to add to their pension income without 
being penalised by a means test which has acted as a 
disincentive, to many, to claiming their full entitlement. 
 

On behalf of the future pensioners living within the 
communities served by Sefton Metropolitan Borough Council, 
the Council welcomes, in principle, the announced basis of 
the new State Retirement Pension proposals.” 
  
 

 

 



This page is intentionally left blank



THIS SET OF MINUTES IS NOT SUBJECT TO “CALL-IN” 

 

44 

COUNCIL 
 

MEETING HELD AT THE TOWN HALL, SOUTHPORT 
ON THURSDAY 22ND NOVEMBER, 2012 

 
 
PRESENT: The Mayor (Councillor K. Cluskey) (in the Chair) 

The Deputy Chair (Councillor M. Fearn) (Vice Chair) 
 

 Councillors Ashton, Atkinson, Ball, Bennett, 
Blackburn, Booth, Bradshaw, Brennan, Brodie -
 Browne, Byrom, Carr, L. Cluskey, Crabtree, 
Cummins, Cuthbertson, Dawson, Dodd, Dorgan, 
M. Dowd, P. Dowd, Dutton, Fairclough, Lord Fearn, 
Friel, Gatherer, Gustafson, Hands, Hartill, Hubbard, 
Jones, Keith, John Kelly, John Joseph Kelly, 
Kermode, Kerrigan, Killen, Lappin, P. Maguire, 
Maher, Mahon, McGinnity, S. McGuire, McIvor, 
McKinley, Moncur, Murphy, Page, Papworth, 
Preece, Rimmer, Robertson, Robinson, Roche, 
Shaw, Sumner, Tonkiss, Tweed, Veidman, 
Sir Ron Watson, Weavers, Webster and Welsh 

 
57. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Hardy and Roberts. 
 
58. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
The following declarations of interest were made: 
  
Member 
 

Minute No. Reason Action 

Councillor 
Atkinson 

74 - Notice of 
Motion 
submitted by 
Councillor 
Robertson 
 

Other Interest – 
She is employed 
by the  
Merseyside 
Integrated 
Transport 
Authority 
 

Stayed in the 
room and took 
part in the 
consideration of 
the item 

Councillor Dodd 74 - Notice of 
Motion 
submitted by 
Councillor 
Robertson 
 

Pecuniary 
Interest – He is 
one of the 
Council’s 
representatives 
on the 
Merseyside 
Integrated 
Transport 
Authority 

Left the room 
during the 
consideration of 
the item 

Agenda Item 3

Page 7



COUNCIL- THURSDAY 22ND NOVEMBER, 2012 
 

45 

Councillor 
Dorgan 

70 - Notice of 
Motion 
submitted by 
Councillor 
McKinley 
 

Pecuniary 
Interest – His 
business is 
involved with 
financial 
guarantees and 
international 
services and 
transactions 
  

Left the room 
during the 
consideration of 
the item 

Councillor 
Lappin 

74 - Notice of 
Motion 
submitted by 
Councillor 
Robertson 
 

Other Interest – 
She is employed 
by the  
Merseyside 
Integrated 
Transport 
Authority 
 

Stayed in the 
room and took 
part in the 
consideration of 
the item 

The Motions under consideration did not directly engage or affect the 
interests of the Councillors set out above 
 
59. MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING  
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the Minutes of the Council Meeting held on 6 September 2012 be 
approved as a correct record. 
 
60. MAYOR'S COMMUNICATIONS  
 
The Mayor reported on the recent death of Colonel ‘Paddy’ Bryson, a 
prominent and much admired citizen of this Borough, who would have 
celebrated his 100th Birthday next year. 
 
Colonel Bryson was a World War Two Veteran, former Regimental 
Commanding Officer, former High Court Judge and the holder of a 
Queen’s Order for bravery and the OBE. 
 
He was also the Liverpool and County President of the Royal British 
Legion, a Knight of the Honourable Society of the Knights of the Round 
Table, Knight Commander of the Papal Order of St. Gregory, Honorary 
Life President of the Merseyside Council of Ex-Service and Regimental 
Associations, and lifetime member of the Royal British Legion. 
 
He had presided over the North West Cancer Research Fund, the 
Liverpool Law Society and the West Lancashire and Liverpool Royal 
British Legion. 
 
Past positions included Commissioner of Taxes, Chairman of the Medical 
Appeal Tribunal, Senior District Registrar of the High Court of Justice, 

Agenda Item 3

Page 8



COUNCIL- THURSDAY 22ND NOVEMBER, 2012 
 

46 

Chairman of the Lord Mayor’s Poppy Fund and organiser of the Lime 
Street Remembrance Day commemorations. 
 
The Mayor indicated that he had attended the funeral of Colonel Bryson on 
behalf of the people of the Borough on 8 October 2012 and would again 
be representing the Borough at a memorial service to be held in Liverpool 
Metropolitan Cathedral on 25 November 2012.  
 
61. MATTERS RAISED BY THE PUBLIC  
 
The Mayor reported that a petition with 4,298 signatures had been 
submitted by the Formby Residents Action Group Opposition from Formby 
(FRAGOFF) “urging the Council, including its officers, elected members 
and its Leaders, to implement a Local Plan which protects the green belt, 
farm land, countryside and residents in Sefton from any development on 
such land and that they address this issue as a matter of urgency.” In 
addition to that, 50 people had also signed an e-petition on the Council’s 
website. 
 
A copy of the supporting statement submitted with the petition had been 
included in the agenda for the meeting. 
 
In accordance with the Council’s Petition Scheme, Mrs. M. Bennett, the 
lead petitioner, made a statement in support of the petition. 
 
The Leader of the Council, Councillor P. Dowd thanked Mrs Bennett for 
submitting the petition. He then referred to the Unitary Development Plan 
previously adopted by the Council and he indicated that the current 
position on the preparation of a new Local Plan was as follows: 
 

• A report would be submitted to the Cabinet in the near future providing 
updated evidence in the following areas:- 

 

• Housing requirement study (a review of the housing requirement 
was needed to take account of new information from the Census 
and latest population estimate).  

• Employment land and premises study (the last employment land 
study dated from 2008 and also needed to be brought up-to-date).  

• Agricultural land quality study (The agriculture land study was 
considered important as concern had been expressed during the 
consultation about the potential loss of high quality agricultural land 
and further surveys were needed to find out its current quality).  

 

• The outcome and implications of the above studies would need to be 
considered by the Cabinet and it was anticipated that a “Consequences 
Study” would be commissioned in January 2013 and completed by the 
end of April/May 2013.  

• Once the Consequences Study was complete, the next stage of the 
process would be to consider a “Preferred Options” document with a 
view to carrying out a 12 week consultation exercise from July to 
September 2013 and the publication of the Plan by March to May 2014.  

Agenda Item 3

Page 9



COUNCIL- THURSDAY 22ND NOVEMBER, 2012 
 

47 

• Thereafter, the Plan would be submitted to the Secretary of State in 
June 2014 and it was anticipated that the Plan would be examined by a 
Planning Inspector in October 2014, prior to the adoption of the new 
Local Plan in early 2015. 

 
A short discussion then took place on the content of the petition. 
 
It was then moved by Councillor P. Dowd, seconded by Councillor Maher 
and 
unanimously 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the petition be noted and any comments from the Formby Residents 
Action Group Opposition from Formby (FRAGOFF) on the Local Plan be 
considered during the consultation period. 
 
62. QUESTIONS RAISED BY MEMBERS OF THE COUNCIL  
 
The Council considered a schedule setting out the written questions 
submitted by: 

• Councillor Ashton to the Leader of the Council (Councillor P. Dowd) 

• Councillor Robertson to the Council’s Spokesperson on the 
Merseyside Integrated Transport Authority (Councillor Friel) 

• Councillor McGuire to the Cabinet Member – Corporate Services 
and Performance (Councillor Tweed) 

• Councillor Jones to the Leader of the Council (Councillor P. Dowd) 

• Councillor Crabtree to the Cabinet Member – Children, Schools, 
Families and Leisure (Councillor Moncur) 

• Councillor Shaw to the Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee – Regeneration and Environmental Services (Councillor 
McKinley) 

• Councillor Hands to the Cabinet Member – Children, Schools, 
Families and Leisure (Councillor Moncur) 

• Councillor Dawson to the Cabinet Member – Transportation 
(Councillor Fairclough) 

• Councillor Dawson to the Cabinet Member – Children, Schools, 
Families and Leisure (Councillor Moncur) 

• Councillor Dawson to the Cabinet Member – Older People and 
Health (Councillor Cummins) 

together with the responses given.  Supplementary questions were asked 
and responded to by the Leader of the Council and the Cabinet Members 

Agenda Item 3

Page 10



COUNCIL- THURSDAY 22ND NOVEMBER, 2012 
 

48 

for Children, Schools, Families and Leisure; Corporate Services and 
Performance; and Transportation. 
 
63. TRANSFORMATION PROGRAMME AND REVENUE BUDGET 

2012 - 2015  
 
Further to the meetings of the Cabinet held on 13 September, 11 October 
and 8 November 2012, the Council considered the report of the Head of 
Transformation Services and the Head of Corporate Finance and ICT 
which provided details of a package of budget savings proposals to enable 
the Council to achieve the current budget savings of £43.7 million for the 
period 2013/14 to 2014/15. 
 
The report contained the following annexes: 
 
Annex A – Work Programme Timetable 
 
Annex B – Business efficiencies on which approval to progress 
immediately was sought 
 
Annex C – Internal consultation proposals on which approval to progress 
immediately was sought 
 
Annex D – Integration proposals on which approval to progress 
immediately was sought 
 
Annex E – External consultation (information) proposals on which approval 
to progress as described was sought 
 
This was a Key Decision and was included in the Council’s Forward Plan 
of Key Decisions. 
 
The Leader of the Council, Councillor P. Dowd referred to the current 
budget savings of £43.7m which had to be achieved for the period 2013/14 
to 2014/15 and indicated that the Government was due to announce the 
Local Government Settlement for 2013/14 in December 2012 and the 
confirmation of the external revenue support from the Government would 
provide greater clarity of the Council’s saving requirement for 2013/14. 
 
 It was moved by Councillor P. Dowd, seconded by Councillor Maher: 
 
1) the work programme timetable contained in Annex A of the report 

be noted; 
 
Annex B – Business efficiencies on which approval to progress 
immediately was sought 
 
2) approval be given to the budget reductions, increased income 

targets and adjustments to the Medium Term Finances Plan as 
outlined in Annex B of the report and Officers be authorised to 
continue with engagement and implementation processes with 

Agenda Item 3

Page 11



COUNCIL- THURSDAY 22ND NOVEMBER, 2012 
 

49 

partners, key stakeholders, employees and Trade Unions as 
appropriate with a view to achieving the agreed changes at the 
earliest opportunity; 

 
Annex C – Internal consultation proposals on which approval to progress 
immediately was sought 
 
3) approval be given to the proposals as described in Annex C of the 

report; 
 
Annex D – Integration proposals on which approval to progress 
immediately was sought 
 
4) approval be given to the proposals as described in Annex D of the 

report; 
 
Annex E – External consultation (information) proposals on which approval 
to progress as described was sought 
 
5) approval be given to the proposals as described in Annex E of the 

report; 
 
6) it be noted that the risks and mitigating actions outlined in Annexes 

C, D and E of the report had been taken into account; 
 
7) it be noted that where changes and/or savings cannot be achieved 

through deletion of vacant posts, Voluntary Redundancy or 
Voluntary Early Retirement then there may be a need for 
compulsory redundancies arising from a number of proposals 
outlined in the report that are subject to normal procedures; and 

 
8) it be noted that the Cabinet had been made aware of the need to 

notify the Department of Business Innovation and Skills and Trade 
Unions to comply with statutory requirements regarding 
redundancies. 

 
An amendment was moved by Councillor Booth, seconded by Councillor 
Brodie - Browne that resolution (5) of the Motion be amended to read as 
follows: 
 
“approval be given to the proposals as described in Annex E of the report, 
subject to: 
 
(a)  the deferral of Option F1.2 (Grounds Maintenance – Recharging 

grounds maintenance / utility costs for adult football/sports users / 
bowlers) until the consultation process on Option F1.3 (Grounds 
Maintenance - Recharging grounds maintenance / utility costs for 
organised junior sports activities) is concluded and a report is 
submitted to the Council on the progress made by the Sefton Sports 
Connect Group; and 

 

Agenda Item 3

Page 12



COUNCIL- THURSDAY 22ND NOVEMBER, 2012 
 

50 

(b) the deferral of Option F1.4 (Cemeteries and Crematoria – Increase 
 Burial and Cremation Charges) until further consultation can take 
 place.” 
 
Councillor P. Dowd indicated that he accepted the amendment. 
 
On a show of hands, the Mayor declared that the revised Motion was 
carried by 52 votes in support of the Motion and none against, with 12 
abstentions and it was 
 
RESOLVED: That 
 
1) the work programme timetable contained in Annex A of the report 

be noted; 
 
Annex B – Business efficiencies on which approval to progress 
immediately was sought 
 
2) approval be given to the budget reductions, increased income 

targets and adjustments to the Medium Term Finances Plan as 
outlined in Annex B of the report and Officers be authorised to 
continue with engagement and implementation processes with 
partners, key stakeholders, employees and Trade Unions as 
appropriate with a view to achieving the agreed changes at the 
earliest opportunity; 

 
Annex C – Internal consultation proposals on which approval to progress 
immediately was sought 
 
3) approval be given to the proposals as described in Annex C of the 

report; 
 
Annex D – Integration proposals on which approval to progress 
immediately was sought 
 
4) approval be given to the proposals as described in Annex D of the 

report; 
 
Annex E – External consultation (information) proposals on which approval 
to progress as described was sought 
 
5) approval be given to the proposals as described in Annex E of the 

report subject to: 
 

(a)  the deferral of Option F1.2 (Grounds Maintenance – 
Recharging grounds maintenance / utility costs for adult 
football/sports users /bowlers) until the consultation process 
on Option F1.3 (Grounds Maintenance - Recharging grounds 
maintenance / utility costs for organised junior sports 
activities) is concluded and a report is submitted to the 

Agenda Item 3

Page 13



COUNCIL- THURSDAY 22ND NOVEMBER, 2012 
 

51 

Council on the progress made by the Sefton Sports Connect 
Group; and 

 
(b) the deferral of Option F1.4 (Cemeteries and Crematoria – 

Increase Burial and Cremation Charges) until further 
consultation can take place. 

 
6) it be noted that the risks and mitigating actions outlined in Annexes 

C, D and E of the report had been taken into account; 
 
7) it be noted that where changes and/or savings cannot be achieved 

through deletion of vacant posts, Voluntary Redundancy or 
Voluntary Early Retirement then there may be a need for 
compulsory redundancies arising from a number of proposals 
outlined in the report that are subject to normal procedures; and 

 
8) it be noted that the Cabinet had been made aware of the need to 

notify the Department of Business Innovation and Skills and Trade 
Unions to comply with statutory requirements regarding 
redundancies 

 
64. CAPITAL PROGRAMME - CONTAMINATED LAND CAPITAL 

PROJECT GRANT  
 
Further to Minute No. 67 of the Cabinet meeting held on 11 October 2012, 
the Council considered the report of the Director of Built Environment on 
the award of grant funding of £30,803 from the Department for 
Environment, Food and Rural Affairs to undertake further investigations 
into potentially contaminated land within the Borough. 
 
It was moved by Councillor P. Dowd, seconded by Councillor Maher and 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That approval be given to the inclusion of the grant funding of £30,803 in 
the Council’s Capital Programme for 2012/13. 
 
65. FINAL DRAFT REVISED STATEMENT OF GAMBLING 

LICENSING POLICY - GAMBLING ACT 2005  
 
Further to Minute No. 20 of the meeting of the Licensing and Regulatory 
Committee held on 24 September 2012, the Council considered the report 
of the Director of Built Environment on the revised Statement of Gambling 
Licensing Policy which had been produced in accordance with Gambling 
Act 2005. 
 
It was moved by Councillor Kerrigan, seconded by Councillor Robinson 
and 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 3

Page 14



COUNCIL- THURSDAY 22ND NOVEMBER, 2012 
 

52 

RESOLVED: 
 
That the revised Statement of Gambling Licensing Policy be approved. 
 
66. COUNCIL CONSTITUTION - URGENCY AND CALL-IN 

PROVISIONS  
 
The Council considered the report of the Leader of the Council setting out 
the details of those matters dealt with in accordance with Rule 28 of the 
Access to Information Procedure Rules and Rule 46 of the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee Procedure Rules set out in the Council Constitution. 
 
The Leader of the Council, Councillor P. Dowd reported that the Cabinet 
meeting on 6 December 2012 had been cancelled and re-arranged to be 
held on 13 December 2012, commencing at 10.00 a.m. in Bootle Town 
Hall; and the venue for the Cabinet meeting on 17 January 2013 had been 
changed from Southport Town Hall to Bootle Town Hall. He also indicated 
that a future meeting of the Cabinet scheduled to be held at Bootle Town 
would be changed to Southport Town Hall in due course. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the report and verbal report be noted. 
 
67. MEMBERSHIP OF COMMITTEES 2012/13  
 
It was proposed by Councillor Webster that the following changes be 
made to the Membership of the following Committees: 
 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee (Health and Social Care) 
 
Councillor Murphy to replace Councillor Killen as a Member of the 
Committee. 
 
It was moved by Councillor Blackburn that the following change be made 
to the Membership of the following Committee 
 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee (Performance and Corporate Services) 
 
Councillor McGuire to replace Councillor Robertson as a Member of the 
Committee and Councillor Robertson to be the new Substitute Member for 
Councillor Ashton on the Committee 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the changes to the Membership of the Committees listed above be 
approved. 
 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 3

Page 15



COUNCIL- THURSDAY 22ND NOVEMBER, 2012 
 

53 

68. NOTICE OF MOTION SUBMITTED BY COUNCILLOR SIR RON 
WATSON  

 
It was moved by Councillor Sir Ron Watson, seconded by Councillor 
Cuthbertson: 
 
“Sefton Council welcomes the clear commitment given by the Prime 
Minister not to introduce a Mansion Tax” 
 
Following debate thereon, on a show of hands, the Mayor declared that 
the Motion was lost by 54 votes to 2 with 8 abstentions and it was 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That no action be taken on the Motion. 
 
69. NOTICE OF MOTION SUBMITTED BY COUNCILLOR WEAVERS  
 
It was moved by Councillor Weavers, seconded by Councillor Maher and 
unanimously  
 
RESOLVED: 
 
The in accordance with Rule 84 of the Council and Committee Procedure 
Rules (Motions on Expenditure), the following Motion be referred to the 
Cabinet for consideration of the financial implications in advance of any 
budgetary commitment and prior to any action being taken to implement 
the decision:  

“This Council welcomes the appointment of consultants for a sustainable 
energy action plan for the Liverpool City Region. 

The Council recognises that a sustainable energy action plan will be of 
immense importance for investment, businesses, jobs and the 
environment within Sefton. 

This Council commits itself to implementing a sustainable energy action 
plan and notes that delaying the implementation of an action plan will cost 
jobs and money.” 

 
70. NOTICE OF MOTION FROM COUNCILLOR MCKINLEY  
 
It was moved by Councillor McKinley, seconded by Councillor Gatherer: 

“Financial Malpractice:  

This Council recognises that taxation is an investment that enables the 
public and private sectors ability to do business and that tax evasion and 
avoidance are dysfunctional for the workings of a healthy economy. We 
condemn unethical business practice such as tax evasion, tax avoidance 
through loopholes, the activities of the offshore secrecy industry and the 
international financial malpractice operated by multinational companies. 
These actions significantly contributed to the banking crisis and continue 

Agenda Item 3

Page 16



COUNCIL- THURSDAY 22ND NOVEMBER, 2012 
 

54 

to siphon millions of pounds in flight capital out of the UK economy each 
day. We believe such activities are immoral and little more than economic 
crimes against the citizens of the UK, furthermore, they contribute to the 
growing wealth of the undeserving rich at the expense of and the 
impoverishment of middle and lower income working people. The UK 
deficit could be significantly reduced if such financial malpractice could be 
controlled, this fact exposes the Coalition governments ideologically driven 
weapon of choice ‘austerity’ as little more than a convenient smokescreen 
to embed economic liberalism  and reduce the size of the state. We call on 
national and local government to act to stop immoral financial malpractice. 

We call on the National Government to: 

Seek international agreement on cross border taxation and the control of 
multinational transfer pricing and support the European Union’s initiatives 
to introduce a financial transactions tax;  

Re- introduce legislation on Usury to prevent the charging of excessive 
rates of interest;  

Introduce effective regulation of the financial services sector, including 
democratic control of the offshore industry and the activities of the City of 
London Corporation; and 

Introduce an effective General Anti-Abuse Rule to prevent tax evasion and 
dysfunctional tax avoidance. 

Sefton Council will: 

Enhance /reaffirm its commitment to ethical business practice to include a 
more robust approach to the assessment of ethical business practice as 
part of the local implementation of social value/procurement legislation.” 

The Mayor indicated that the Motion in its current format, was one to which 
Rule 84 of the Council and Committee Procedure Rules (Motions on 
Expenditure) applied and if carried, it would need to be referred to the 
Cabinet for final consideration of the financial implications in advance of 
any budgetary commitment and prior to any action being taken to 
implement the decision.  If the Motion was amended and there are no 
financial implications arising from the Substantive Motion, it would not 
need to be referred to the Cabinet. 

An amendment was moved by Councillor Papworth, seconded by 
Councillor Dutton that the Motion be amended by deleting the words “and 
support the European Union’s initiatives to introduce a financial 
transactions tax” in the sub-paragraph following the statement headed: 
“we call on the National Government to.” 

On a show of hands, the Mayor declared that the amendment was lost by 
50 votes to 9. 

On a show of hands, the Mayor declared that the original Motion was 
carried by 32 votes to 8 with 18 abstentions and it was 

Agenda Item 3

Page 17



COUNCIL- THURSDAY 22ND NOVEMBER, 2012 
 

55 

RESOLVED: 

The in accordance with Rule 84 of the Council and Committee Procedure 
Rules (Motions on Expenditure), the following Motion be referred to the 
Cabinet for consideration of the financial implications in advance of any 
budgetary commitment and prior to any action being taken to implement 
the decision:  

“Financial Malpractice:  

This Council recognises that taxation is an investment that enables the 
public and private sectors ability to do business and that tax evasion and 
avoidance are dysfunctional for the workings of a healthy economy. We 
condemn unethical business practice such as tax evasion, tax avoidance 
through loopholes, the activities of the offshore secrecy industry and the 
international financial malpractice operated by multinational companies. 
These actions significantly contributed to the banking crisis and continue 
to siphon millions of pounds in flight capital out of the UK economy each 
day. We believe such activities are immoral and little more than economic 
crimes against the citizens of the UK, furthermore, they contribute to the 
growing wealth of the undeserving rich at the expense of and the 
impoverishment of middle and lower income working people. The UK 
deficit could be significantly reduced if such financial malpractice could be 
controlled, this fact exposes the Coalition governments ideologically driven 
weapon of choice ‘austerity’ as little more than a convenient smokescreen 
to embed economic liberalism  and reduce the size of the state. We call on 
national and local government to act to stop immoral financial malpractice. 

We call on the National Government to: 

Seek international agreement on cross border taxation and the control of 
multinational transfer pricing and support the European Union’s initiatives 
to introduce a financial transactions tax;  

Re- introduce legislation on Usury to prevent the charging of excessive 
rates of interest;  

Introduce effective regulation of the financial services sector, including 
democratic control of the offshore industry and the activities of the City of 
London Corporation; and 

Introduce an effective General Anti-Abuse Rule to prevent tax evasion and 
dysfunctional tax avoidance. 

Sefton Council will: 

Enhance /reaffirm its commitment to ethical business practice to include a 
more robust approach to the assessment of ethical business practice as 
part of the local implementation of social value/procurement legislation.” 

 
 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 3

Page 18



COUNCIL- THURSDAY 22ND NOVEMBER, 2012 
 

56 

71. NOTICE OF MOTION SUBMITTED BY COUNCILLOR 
PAPWORTH  

 

It was moved by Councillor Papworth, seconded by Councillor Brodie – 
Browne and unanimously  

RESOLVED: 

The Council is pleased to note that a ‘Military Covenant’ for Sefton was 
signed on 18th May 2012, and that besides being among the first in the 
Country, our covenant successfully covers all the major points mentioned 
in the subsequent Royal British Legion publication  on Best Practice in 
such matters. 

The Council places on record its thanks to those whose efforts produced 
this encouraging start - Sefton Council for Voluntary Service and many 
others in the Voluntary Sector, numerous military officers, and of course, 
Sefton's own officers. 

The Council recognises that the Covenant will always be a ‘work-in-
progress’, needing up-dating to ensure that it meets current needs;  in this 
connection the Council welcomes the Government's recent changes to 
Housing regulations, which will make it easier for demobilised Service 
people to gain priority access to local housing. 

 
72. NOTICE OF MOTION SUBMITTED BY COUNCILLOR S. 

MCGUIRE  
 
It was moved by Councillor S. McGuire, seconded by Councillor Preece: 

“This Council notes the serious and damaging animal welfare and 
economic impact that Bovine TB has on British farming. This Council also 
notes with concern the considerable public and scientific opposition to the 
Government’s proposals to pilot a badger cull. 

The Council welcomes the decision to postpone the cull and urges the 
Government to re-evaluate the options - including vaccination. 

The Council acknowledges scientific research that highlights the short-
comings in the government’s current proposals including a report by the 
Independent Scientific Group that concluded that, ‘badger culling can 
make no meaningful contribution to cattle TB control in Britain.” 
 
Following a brief debate thereon, on a show of hands, the Mayor declared 
that the Motion was carried by 60 votes to 1 and it was 
 
RESOLVED: 

This Council notes the serious and damaging animal welfare and 
economic impact that Bovine TB has on British farming. This Council also 
notes with concern the considerable public and scientific opposition to the 
Government’s proposals to pilot a badger cull. 

The Council welcomes the decision to postpone the cull and urges the 
Government to re-evaluate the options - including vaccination. 

Agenda Item 3

Page 19



COUNCIL- THURSDAY 22ND NOVEMBER, 2012 
 

57 

The Council acknowledges scientific research that highlights the short-
comings in the government’s current proposals including a report by the 
Independent Scientific Group that concluded that, ‘badger culling can 
make no meaningful contribution to cattle TB control in Britain. 
 
73. NOTICE OF MOTION SUBMITTED BY COUNCILLOR BRODIE - 

BROWNE  
 
It was moved by Councillor Brodie-Browne, seconded by Councillor 
Dawson: 
 
“This Council notes 
  
(a) widespread media reports that Starbucks has paid no corporation 

tax  in the UK, in the last three years despite last year having UK 
sales of £398m. Starbucks describe their UK business as 
"profitable" but paid nothing in corporation tax; 

  
(b) in comparison, the British company, Costa Coffee had sales of 

£377m and a corporation tax bill of £15m; 

(c) the widespread practice of multinational companies which minimise 
their exposure to UK taxation by manipulating their payments to   
subsidiaries located in tax havens; and 

(d) that many small, local, independent coffee shops pay their taxes in 
 full. 

The Council expresses support for the many local businesses which make 
full and fair tax payments every year and urges the Government to 
continue to extend its programme of measures designed to make all 
companies pay fair taxation based upon genuine profit levels 

  

The Council urges citizens of the Borough of Sefton to support those 
enterprises which fulfil basic duties of corporate social responsibility and 
pay a proper level of tax.” 

 
Following debate thereon, on a show of hands, the Mayor declared that 
the Motion was carried by 50 votes to 10 with 1 abstention and it was 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
This Council notes 
  
(a) widespread media reports that Starbucks has paid no corporation 

tax  in the UK, in the last three years despite last year having UK 
sales of £398m. Starbucks describe their UK business as 
"profitable" but paid nothing in corporation tax; 

  
(b) in comparison, the British company, Costa Coffee had sales of 

£377m and a corporation tax bill of £15m; 

Agenda Item 3

Page 20



COUNCIL- THURSDAY 22ND NOVEMBER, 2012 
 

58 

(c) the widespread practice of multinational companies which minimise 
their exposure to UK taxation by manipulating their payments to   
subsidiaries located in tax havens; and 

(d) that many small, local, independent coffee shops pay their taxes in 
 full. 

The Council expresses support for the many local businesses which make 
full and fair tax payments every year and urges the Government to 
continue to extend its programme of measures designed to make all 
companies pay fair taxation based upon genuine profit levels 

  

The Council urges citizens of the Borough of Sefton to support those enterprises 

which fulfil basic duties of corporate social responsibility and pay a proper level 

of tax. 

 
74. NOTICE OF MOTION SUBMITTED BY COUNCILLOR 

ROBERTSON  
 
It was moved by Councillor Robertson, seconded by Councillor Keith: 
 
“This Council congratulates Councillor Liam Robinson, Chair of 
Merseytravel, on establishing two Inquiries into concerns raised by Labour 
Party councillors and others about issues of governance at Merseytravel. 
 
The Council notes that one Inquiry report has been published and one is 
about to be published. 
 
The Council urges the Merseyside Integrated Transport Authority to carry 
out all the recommendations in the reports.” 
 
Following debate thereon, on a show of hands, the Mayor declared that 
the Motion was lost by 42 votes to 19. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That no action be taken on the Motion. 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 3

Page 21



Page 22

This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
Report to: Cabinet    Date of Meeting: 13th December 2012 
Report to: Council            24th January 2013 
 
 
Subject:   Local Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2013-2014 and Changes to Council Tax 

Discounts and Exemptions for Unoccupied Properties.  
 
Report of:  Head of Corporate Finance and ICT Wards Affected: All 
 
Is this a Key Decision?        Yes   Is it included in the Forward Plan? Yes 
 
Exempt/Confidential    No  
 
 
Purpose/Summary 
 
This report seeks to – 
 

A. Outline the results of the consultation relating to the Council Tax Reduction Scheme 
including the Equality Analysis Report. 

 
B. Report on the results of consultation relating to the removal of Council Tax 

discounts and exemptions for unoccupied properties, together with an update on 
Government changes to proposed legislation, including the Equality Analysis Report 

 
C. Recommend a Council Tax Reduction Scheme summarised in paragraph 14 and 

set out in Annex F of this report, and also a range of Council Tax discounts and 
exemption changes as set out in Annex B for Council approval on the 24th January 
2013. 

 
D. Update Members on the latest Government announcement regarding transitional 

funding being made available to Local Authorities for the Council Tax Reduction 
scheme, together with the impact of the proposed grant on Sefton MBC.  

 
E. Identify ways in which the Council proposes to help those most financially affected 

by the change through a hardship fund in order to meet its objective of protecting 
the most vulnerable residents of Sefton.  

 
F. Inform Members that the Council Tax Reduction scheme forms a key component of 

the Council Tax Base calculation, and the timescale under statue to report to the 
precepting bodies and the DCLG.  Also the recommendation relating to this 
timescale and the waiving of the “call-in” for the Cabinet decision to be taken on the 
31st January 2013.   

•   
The report contains a number of Annexes listed below for ease of reference: 
 
Annex A:  Council Tax Reduction Scheme options – with financial implications  
Annex B:  Council Tax Technical changes with financial implications  
Annex C: Consultation and Engagement relating to Council Tax Reduction Scheme and  
               Council Tax Technical Changes   
Annex D: Equality Analysis Report  – Council Tax Reduction Scheme  
Annex E: Equality Analysis Report – Council tax Technical changes relating to  
  discount and exemptions for vacant unoccupied properties.  
Annex F: Local Council Tax Reduction Scheme  
 

Agenda Item 7

Page 23



 

 

Recommendation(s) 
1. Council is recommended to approve and adopt the proposed Council Tax Reduction 

Scheme for 2013/14 summarised in paragraph 14 and set out in Annex F of this report, 
to take effect from 1st April 2013. 

2. Council is recommended to approve the changes to discounts and exemptions for 
empty and unoccupied properties to take effect from 1st April 2013 in order to minimise 
the impact for non pensioner claimants, as summarised in paragraph 14, and set out in 
Annex B of this report. 

3. Council is recommended to approve the introduction of an empty homes premium to 
take effect from 1st April 2013, as summarised in paragraph 14, and set out in Annex B 
of this report.  

4. Council is recommended to not accept the Government transitional grant.  
5. It be noted that the Leader of the Council and the Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee (Performance and Corporate Services) have been requested to give their 
consent under Rule 46 of the Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules, for the decision 
to be taken by the Cabinet at its meeting on 31 January 2013 on the Council Tax Base 
to be treated as urgent and not subject to “call in”, because legislation requires local 
authorities to notify the Department for Communities and Local Government and 
precepting bodies of the Council Tax Base by no later than 31st January 2013.  This will 
necessitate the Cabinet decision being actioned on the same day and therefore any 
“call – in” changes could not be actioned.  

 
 
How does the decision contribute to the Council’s Corporate Objectives? 
 

 Corporate Objective Positive 
Impact 

Neutral 
Impact 

Negative 
Impact 

1 Creating a Learning Community  �  

2 Jobs and Prosperity  �  

3 Environmental Sustainability  �  

4 Health and Well-Being   � 

5 Children and Young People   � 

6 Creating Safe Communities  �  

7 Creating Inclusive Communities  �  

8 Improving the Quality of Council 
Services and Strengthening Local 
Democracy 

 �  

 

Reasons for the Recommendation: 

 
The Government is abolishing the current national Council Tax Benefit scheme and requires 
the Council to formally have in place a Local Council Tax Reduction Scheme by the 31st 
January 2013, to take effect from 1st April 2013. The Government is giving Councils greater 
flexibility over discounts and exemptions to be applied locally from 1st April 2013, to help 
towards mitigating the impact on working age claimants.  
 
Council Tax Base – the Council Tax Reduction Scheme forms a key component of the 
Council Tax Base calculations.  The Cabinet will agree the Council Tax base for 2013/14 at the 
meeting on 31st January 2013.  The Local Authority is required under statue to report to the 
precepting bodies and the DCLG the Council Tax base 2013/14 on the 31st January 2013.  
Therefore Council are requested to agree that the Cabinet report of 31st January 2013 is not 
subject to call in.  

 
 
 

Agenda Item 7

Page 24



 

What will it cost and how will it be financed? 
 

(A) Revenue Costs 
If the Council fails to approve a local council tax support scheme before 31 January                 
2013, the Government’s default scheme will automatically apply. In this case there 
will be a shortfall of £3.8m on the Collection Fund in 2013/14, increasing to £4.4m in 
2014/15. 

 
A provision of £0.5m has been included in the Medium Term Financial Plan for 
doubtful debt.  
The changes to the collection systems and the necessary changes to the arvato 
contract are currently being negotiated. A DCLG grant of £84k in 2012/13 will be used 
to fund the setting up costs and the necessary software changes.  All other costs are 
expected to be met by reprioritising the arvato development plan.    

 
(B) Capital Costs 

No capital costs are planned for this change in system.  
 
Implications: 
 
The following implications of this proposal have been considered and where there are specific 
implications, these are set out below: 
 

Legal comments  
Schedule 1A to The Local Government Finance Act 1992 (as amended by the Local Government 
Finance Act 2012) sets out the matters that are to be included in Council Tax Reduction Scheme 
and also requires that “Before making a scheme, the authority must (in the following order) 

(a) Consult any major precepting authority which has power to issue a precept to it, 

(b) Publish a draft scheme in such manner as it thinks fit, and 

(c) Consult such other persons as it considers are likely to have an interest in the operation 
of the scheme”. 

Human Resources  None 

Equality – see paragraph 8 within the main body of the report and the attached Equality Analysis 
report at Annex E 
 
1. No Equality Implication at this time      
2. Equality Implications identified and mitigated 
3. Equality Implication identified and risk remains  

 

What consultations have taken place on the proposals and when?  
 
There has been a twelve week public consultation on the draft proposals.  
Ongoing consultations have taken place with the Strategic Leadership Team, to include the 
wider issues and impact from the Welfare Reform.  The Head of Corporate Finance and ICT 
(FD 1959) and Head of Corporate Legal Services (LD 1276) have been consulted and any 
comments have been incorporated into the report.  
 
All Councils are legally required to consult on their proposals for the council tax reduction 
scheme.  See paragraph 8 and Annex C for further details. 
 

Are there any other options available for consideration? 
 
The Default Scheme and the Government Transitional Grant are detailed within the report. See 
paragraph 2 and Annex A. See Annex A for details and cost implication for the Options.  

 

Y 

 

Agenda Item 7

Page 25



 

 
Contact Officers: 
Margaret Rawding, Head of Corporate Finance and ICT 
Tel: 0151 934 4096 
Email:margaret.rawding@sefton.gov.uk 
Christine Finnigan, Customer and Transactional Service Client Manager 
Tel: 0151 934 4161 
Email: christine.finnigan@sefton.gov.uk 
Sue Holden, Service Manager, Business Intelligence 
Tel: 0151 934 4722 
Email: sue.holden@sefton.gov.uk 

 
Background Papers: 
 
The following are background papers available for inspection: 

 
1. Consultation – Changes to Council tax Benefit in Sefton 
2. Consultation – Changes to Council tax Discounts and Exemptions in Sefton  
3. Telephone Survey Full Report and Summary Report, Opinion Research Services, 

November 2012 
4. Report on the Consultation and Engagement Process for Localising Council Tax 

Support, Sefton MBC, November 2012 
5. Report on the Consultation and Engagement Process for Council Tax Technical 

Reforms – Discounts and Exemptions for Empty Properties and Second Homes, Sefton 
MBC, November 2012.  

 
These documents can be accessed on the Councils website via this link: 
 
http://modgov.sefton.gov.uk/moderngov/ecCatDisplay.aspx?sch=doc&cat=13409&path=13158,13197 

 
Below are the Government documents relating to this report:  
 

1. DCLG Localising Support for Council Tax - A Statement of Intent 
2. DCLG Localising Support for Council Tax Vulnerable People – key local authority duties 
3. DCLG Localising Support for Council Tax -Funding Arrangements consultation 
4. DCLG Localising Support for Council Tax – Taking work incentives into account 
5. DCLG Draft Default Scheme Regulations  
6. DCLG Explanatory note on re-stated default scheme universal credit provisions 
7. DCLG Technical Reforms to Council Tax - summary of responses 
8. DCLG Technical Reforms to Council Tax – empty homes premium 
9. Welfare Reform Act 2012 
10. Local Government Finance Act 2012 
11. The Council Tax Reduction Schemes [Prescribed Requirements][England] Regulations 

2012  [SI 2012 No.2885] .  
 

 These Government documents can be accessed on the following websites: 

 
 http://www.dwp.gov.uk/ 
 
 https://www.gov.uk 
 
 https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/department-for-communities-and-local-government 

 

Agenda Item 7

Page 26



 

Technical Reforms to Council Tax 
 
Definitions 
 
Second Homes – currently, the rules mean that the majority of second homes receive a 
10% discount.   A second home is a furnished property in which no one is considered 
resident for Council tax purposes. These properties include those left furnished in between 
a change of tenants/owners. 
 
Class A – Vacant dwellings requiring/undergoing repair - the current exemption for up 
to 12 months for unoccupied properties where major repair works are required, undergoing 
or recently completed, is a Class A Exemption.  After 12 months the exemption class 
ceases and a full charge is applicable.  
 
Class C – Vacant Dwellings - currently, properties left empty and unfurnished for up to 6 
months are exempt from Council tax under a Class C exemption,  after which time a full 
charge is payable.   This excludes certain other types of empty property such as where the 
owner is in a nursing home, or still in the hands of the estate of a deceased person.  
 
Empty Homes Premium – currently the full Council tax charge is payable on a property 
left empty for over 2 years.  However, an empty homes premium  of 50% is to be 
introduced which means that the total payable for a property left empty for more than 2 
years will be 150% of the full Council Tax charge. 
 
The technical reforms to discount and exemptions on unoccupied properties will allow us 
to keep council tax lower for taxpayers whose liability is unaffected by these changes.  
However, the extra Council tax payable by owners of second homes and empty properties 
affected by the changes will not be means tested according to the income of the owner.  
  

Agenda Item 7

Page 27



 

 
1.  Introduction/Background and what’s changed 
 
1.1  In the Government’s Spending Review 2010 it was announced that the council tax 
  benefit scheme would be abolished and a framework for localised support schemes 
  for council tax would be introduced and operative from Financial Year 2013/14.  It 
  was also announced that Government support would be reduced by 10% of current 
  year spend.   
 
1.2  The Local Government Finance Bill (enacted in November 2012) and the Welfare 

 Reform Act 2012 imposes a duty on Local Authorities to design their own schemes 
to administer council tax support, working within a framework set out in legislation.  
Failure to set its own Scheme would require a Local Authority to adopt the 
Government Default Scheme which requires the Council to fully fund to previous 
council tax benefit levels.  The current council tax benefit scheme will no longer 
exist from April 2013.   

 
1.3  A Statement of Intent published on the 18th May 2012 by Department of   
  Communities and Local Government (DCLG) requires the following framework for 
  the Local Council Tax Reduction Scheme: 
 

• Future Council Tax Reduction to be offered in the form of a means tested 
discount. 

• Billing Authorities must have a Council Tax Reduction Scheme formally in 
place by the 31st January 2013 to begin on 1st April 2013. 

• Pensioners will be protected through a national framework of criteria and 
allowances (with no changes to current levels of award).  

• Guidance from the Secretary of State states that scheme should support 
work incentives and, in particular, avoid disincentives to move into work.  

• Scheme must set out the classes of person who are entitled to a reduction 
and the total amount of reductions that will apply.  

• Local Authority must consult before making a scheme and each year must 
consider whether to revise or replace the scheme.  

• Scheme must state the procedure by which a person may apply. 

• Scheme must state the procedure by which a person can make an appeal. 

• A transitional provision to allow existing Council Tax Benefit claimants to be 
treated as having made an application for Council Tax Reduction. 

 
1.4  The Local Government Finance Act 2012 was given Royal Assent on 1st November 
  2012 and incorporated an amendment from the House of Lords that the Council Tax 
  schemes will be reviewed after 3 years.  

 
1.5  For each financial year, the Council must consider whether to revise its scheme or 

replace it with another scheme.  Any revision to the scheme or any replacement 
scheme must be no later than the 31st January in the financial year.  

 
1.6  On 19th July 2012, Cabinet agreed a public consultation on the draft Council Tax  
  Reduction Scheme and changes to Council Tax exemptions and discounts.  See  
  paragraph 8 on consultation and Annex C for summary of findings.  
 
2.  Government Transition Grant  

 

2.1 On the 16th October 2012, the Department for Communities and Local Government 
  made an unanticipated announcement regarding an additional £100m “transitional 

Agenda Item 7

Page 28



 

  funding” being made available to Local Authorities “to help support them in  
  developing well-designed council tax support schemes and maintain positive  
  incentives to work”. This grant will be available to those Local Authorities “who do 
  the right thing” in the  design of their local scheme. Ministers have become  
  concerned with the schemes  being proposed by Local Authorities and the additional 
  contribution to Council Tax that this means for many local residents.   

2.2  This funding is for one year only and can be claimed where the local authority has 
  agreed a local council tax support scheme which meets the ‘best practice criteria’ 
  set out by the Government. This best practice contains three rules:- 

1. Those who would be on 100% support under current council tax benefit 
arrangements pay between zero and no more than 8.5% of their council tax 
liability. The 8.5% maximum contribution relates mainly (but not exclusively) 
to the level of eligible liability under a local scheme. 

2. The taper rate (i.e. the rate at which support declines as people’s income 
increases) does not increase above 25%; and 

3. There is no sharp reduction in support for those entering work—for 
claimants currently entitled to less than 100%, support, the taper will be 
applied to an amount at least equal to their maximum eligible award (which 
to be eligible for the grant, could not be less than 91.5%) 

2.3  The DCLG anticipate that councils will make applications after 31 January 2013 but 
  before 15th February 2013, and that funding will be paid in March 2013. They have 
  stated the grant will be a simple one, easy to apply for and swiftly paid out. 
 
2.4   Indicative grant payments are shown in the following table: 
 

Authority £ 

Sefton Council 
Police Authority 
Fire Service 

544,164 
64,189 
29,142 

Total 637,495 

 

2.5  The Council has considered the transitional grant together with the set criteria from 
  the Government and below is a table demonstrating a shortfall in funding: 

 

Government funding shortfall £4,400,000 

Additional Council Tax to collect @ 8.5% - £1,350,000 

LESS reduced non-dependant deductions + £75,000 

Government transitional grant - £640,000 

Council Tax technical changes - £1,530,000 

Shortfall in funding £955,000 

 

2.6 The consultation proposal at 20%council tax collection levels realises £3.1m 
income.  The conditions of the grant  reduces the collection down to £1.3m.  The 
loss of income by meeting the grant conditions is £1.8m.  Since the grant covers 
only one third of the cost of the grant conditions the grant option is not 
recommended.    

 
3.  Council Tax Technical update   
 

Agenda Item 7

Page 29



 

3.1  Following the government’s proposals to give councils greater flexibility over  
  discounts and exemptions to be applied locally, Sefton has consulted on 4  
  proposals: 
  

• Reduce the discount from 10% to 0% for second homes and any other 
furnished properties not occupied as a main home. 

 

• Introduce a 50% discount to replace the existing Class C exemption for the 
first 6 months a property is unoccupied and unfurnished. 

 

• Introduce a 50% discount to replace the existing Class A exemption for up to 
12 months when a property is in need of or undergoing major repair or 
structural alteration. 

 

• Charge a premium of 50% on properties unoccupied longer than 2 years 
making a total charge of 150%. 

 
4.   Changes to July 2012 Cabinet proposals 

 
4.1  Since the July 2012 estimates were drawn up, a number of issues have arisen that 

 may impact on those proposals: - 
 

• Class C (Unoccupied empty homes)-The Government has changed its 
intention with regard to Class C and Councils may now allow variable 
periods of discount within the 6 month period.  There is no such change to 
Class A properties (empty homes with major repairs).  

• Through the stakeholder meetings, landlords have raised the issue of 
whether a short period of 100% discount should be allowed between 
changes in tenancies. 

• Recent response by Government following further consultation on 
circumstances in which properties should not be liable to the empty homes 
premium (unoccupied & unfurnished properties for two years or more). 
Whilst the Government has decided not to prescribe any change to exclude 
properties which are genuinely on the market for sale or letting they will now 
prescribe secondary legislation for the following 2 circumstances where the 
property is substantially unfurnished:-  

a) a dwelling which is the sole or main residence of a member of the 
armed forces, who is absent from the property as a result of such 
service. 

b) an annex deemed unoccupied because it is being treated by the 
occupier of the main dwelling, as part of that main dwelling. 

 
Annex B – provides an update on financial implications and proposed change 
following consultation.    

 
5.   Context for Sefton  

 
5.1 The Council currently administers Council Tax and Housing Benefit on behalf of   
  the Government and reclaims a cost of delivering this service (the Administration  
  Grant) and the amount that has been paid out (the Subsidy). 
 
5.2 Table below shows the caseload trend for Council Tax Benefit Claims 

 
YEAR 
 

CLAIMANTS 
THAT ARE 
PENSIONERS 

CLAIMANTS 
THAT ARE  OF  
WORKING AGE 

TOTAL 
COUNCILTAX 
BENEFIT 

Agenda Item 7

Page 30



 

CLAIMANTS 

2009/10 
 

15,814 (51.85%) 14,685 (48.15%) 30,499 

2010/11 15,951 (49.98%) 15,964(50.02%) 31,915 

2011/12 15,823 (47.74%) 
 

17,321 (52.26%) 
 

33,144 

2012/13 
Estimate 
(November 
2012) 

15,566 (46.71%) 
 

17,757 (53.29%) 
 

33,323 

 
5.3 Table below shows number of Benefit claims in Council Tax bands prior to 2012 benefit 

caseload increase   
 

BAND Council Tax Bill before  
discounts and benefits 

Number of 
Properties 

Number of Benefit 
Claimants 

-A £  742.33 -    £   786.76 84 35 

A £   989.77  -  £1,049.01 39,059 18632 

B £1,154.74 -  £1,223.84 26,632 7713 

C £1,319.70 -  £1,398.68 29,921 4714 

D £1,484.66 -  £1,573.51 14,752 1340 

E £1,814.58 -  £1,923.18 8,052 458 

F £2,144.51 -  £2,272.85 3,831 121 

G £2,474.43 -  £2,622.52 2,691 54 

H £2,969.32 -  £3,147.02 220 1 

  
 Observations: 

§ There is a range of liability charges for each band as it takes into account 
the areas which attract the Parish precepts.  Properties in Band –A are 
those that are Band A properties that have been adapted for use by a 
disabled person. 

§ The current number of claimants who receive Housing Benefit and Council 

Tax Benefit is over 33,000.  Most claimants will receive both Council Tax 

and Housing Benefit. 

§ Pensioner claimant numbers appear to be reasonably stable across the last 

years. 

§ There is an increasing volume of working age claimants, due likely to the 

economic downturn. 

§ Most Sefton benefit claimants live in Band A and Band B properties (63% of 

benefit caseload). 

§ Council tax benefit is shown as a credit on the council tax account, with a bill 

being sent out for the balance if claimants are not entitled to maximum 

Council Tax benefit. 

 

6.  Budget Implications  
 
6.1  In May 2012, the Government published indicative council tax support grant 

 allocations of approximately £23.557m to fund the new local council tax reduction 
 scheme from 2013/14. This includes amounts that will be paid directly to the Police 

Agenda Item 7

Page 31



 

 Authority (£2.374m) and Fire Service (£1.061m). These funding allocations are 
 expected to change as more up to date data is made available.  The final 
 allocations will be based on revised forecasts of subsidised council tax benefit 
 expenditure, which will determine the total amount available to distribute, and 
 2011/12 outturn data on subsidised expenditure.  The final allocation will be known 
 late December 2012. 

 
6.2  In October 2012, the Government announced that further funding in the form of a 

 Transitional Grant will be made available (for 2013/14 only) to those authorities that 
 limit the impact of their council tax reduction schemes.  Transitional grant of 
 £0.544m could be claimed by Sefton, with a further £0.064m paid to the Police 
 Authority and £0.029m to the Fire Service, if the Council’s scheme meets 
 prescribed criteria. 

 
6.3  Council tax benefit expenditure totalled £27.3m in 2011/12. The latest forecast of 

 council tax benefit expenditure for 2012/13 is £27.6m. The value of claims is 
 expected to increase in 2013/14 and whilst the level of increase is not known an 
 additional £0.4m has been assumed for planning purposes based on the increase 
 experienced in the current financial year. Previous years have seen much larger 
 increases as a result of the economic downturn, however, growth in the value of 

 claims has slowed in the current financial year. In addition annual uprating of the 

 Government personal allowances used for calculating the reduction in council tax 
 will increase expenditure.  It is estimated that 2013/14 will occur an increase of 
£30k expenditure when all claims have been uprated, this mainly relates to 
claimants on low earnings.  

 
6.4  If the Council fails to approve a local council tax support scheme before 31 January 

 2013, the Government’s default scheme will automatically apply. In this case there 
 will be a shortfall of £3.8m on the Collection Fund in 2013/14 (net of transition 
 grant), increasing to £4.4m in 2014/15. 

 
6.5  The shortfall would affect the council tax base so it will be split between the Council 

 and the Police and Fire Authorities pro-rata to their band D council tax.  The 
 following table illustrates the potential impact on each authority’s budget: 

 
 Sefton 

Council 
Police 

Authority 
Fire 

Service 
Total 

Band D Tax 2012/13  (£) £1,266.68 £150.62 £67.36 £1,484.66 

Reduction in Tax Base -18,830.6 -18,830.6 -18,830.6 -18,830.6 

     

Reduction in Council Tax Income £23.852m £2.836m £1.269m £27.957m 

Council Tax Support Grant -£20.122m -£2.374m -£1.061m -£23.557m 

     

Budget Shortfall 2013/14 
(before Transition Grant) 

£3.730m £0.462m £0.208m £4.400m 

  
6.6  Following approval on the 19th July 2012 a number of potential scheme options 

 were consulted on using 80% liability as their starting point.  This means that the 
first 20% of the bills will not be eligible for reduction and that all residents will pay at 
least 20% of the council tax for their home.  

 
6.7 After consideration of the consultation responses, a preferred scheme has been  

  developed with the aim of meeting the budget short-fall. The detailed elements of 
  the preferred scheme are set out in Annex A and Annex B of this report.  A further 
  alternative option based on meeting the requirements of the transition grant has  
  also been presented in Annex A along with the Government’s default scheme.   

Agenda Item 7

Page 32



 

 
6.8 A summary of the financial implications of the preferred scheme is set out in the  

  table below, along with a comparison with the original consultation proposals, the 
  Government’s default scheme and the transition option: 
 
 
 
 
 

Financial Implications Consultation 
(Option B) 

Preferred 
Option 

Default 
Scheme 

Transition 
Option 

 £m £m £m £m 
Initial Budget Shortfall 4.100 4.400 4.400 4.400 
Transition Grant n/a n/a -0.640 -0.640 
Council Tax Reduction Scheme -3.100 -3.125 n/a -1.275 
Council Tax Technical Reforms -1.200 -1.530 n/a -1.530 

Net Surplus (-) / Shortfall (+) -0.200 -0.255 3.760 0.955 

 
  Option B agreed for consultation in July provided a surplus of approximately £0.2m 
  that could be used to fund non-payment or growth in claims. The preferred option 
  developed following consultation takes account of growth in 2012/13 and provides a 
  similar level of headroom in 2013/14. The Government’s default scheme would  
  leave the Council with a shortfall on the scheme of approximately £3.8m in 2013/14, 
  rising to £4.4m in 2014/15. Taking up the Government’s transition grant would leave 
  the Council with shortfall on the scheme of £0.95m in 2013/14, increasing to £1.6m 
  in 2014/15. 

 
6.9 Each of the options presented requires a charge to be made to low income  

  households, many of whom are not required to pay any council tax under the  
  current council tax benefit arrangements. There is a risk that the incidence of non-
  payment will be much higher than for other groups of tax payer because this group 
  is likely to find it most difficult to pay. This risk needs to be mitigated by increasing 
  the bad debt provision assumed in the tax base calculation. This issue was  
  considered by Cabinet in June 2012 as part of a report on the Medium Term  
  Financial Plan (MTFP). An estimate of £0.5m has been built into the savings  
  requirement forecast in the MTFP. This assumes a non-payment rate of 16.7%.  
  This may prove to be inadequate and non-payment represents a significant risk to 
  the Council’s finances. 

 
7.  Impact on Households - Welfare Reform changes   

 
7.1  In addition to the changes in the localisation of council tax benefit, the Welfare 

 Reform Act 2012, which will be implemented on a phased basis from April 2013, is 
 also introducing the most significant changes to the welfare system since the 
 Beveridge Report of 1942. The  reforms include the following changes, which will be 
 introduced from April 2013:  

• Working-age tenants in receipt of housing benefit will experience a reduction 

in their benefit entitlement if they live in housing that is deemed to be too 

large for their needs. Affected tenants will face a reduction in their Housing 

Benefit entitlement of 14% for one additional (spare) bedroom and 25% 

where there are two or more additional (spare) bedrooms.  

• A ‘benefit cap’ on the total amount of benefit that working-age people and 

households can receive. Benefit levels will be capped at the level of the 

Agenda Item 7

Page 33



 

average working family income after tax, which it is currently forecasted to 

be £500 a week for families and £350 a week for single people.   

• From October 2013, the Government will introduce the ‘Universal Credit’ 
which will replace income based working age benefits such as Income 
Support, Housing Benefit and Tax Credits. The full impact of these changes 
on the health and wellbeing of the population of Sefton cannot yet be fully 
assessed.   

 

• Claimants on Incapacity Benefit (IB) will be required to undergo a Work 

Capability Assessment to encourage more people to move into work related 

activity or seek employment on Job Seekers Allowance. In Sefton, some 

58% of IB claimants are being found immediately fit for work. 

 
7.2  Members should note that the Council does not have resources to financially  

 address the impact of the Welfare Reforms.  The transfer of the Social Fund to 

 Local Authorities will help to support the most vulnerable and could be used to 

 mitigate some of the impact these changes will have on the most vulnerable 

 resident of Sefton.  

 

8.  Consultation and Engagement  
 
8.1  Members will note that the Council undertook a wide ranging consultation and  

 engagement process on both the ‘Local Council Tax Reduction Scheme’ and the 
 ‘Council Tax Technical Reforms – Discounts and Exemptions for Empty Properties 
 and Second Homes’.  A consultation and engagement plan for both changes was 
 agreed by the Council’s Public Engagement and Consultation Panel with the 
 consultation commencing on the 6th  August 2012 and closing on the 29th October 
 2012.  The responses and comments have contributed to the proposed local 
 Council Tax Reduction scheme and the changes to discounts and exemptions for 
 unoccupied properties.  

 
8.2  The consultation and engagement process was undertaken in accordance with the 

 Localising Support for Council Tax - A Statement of Intent published by the 
 Department for Communities and Local Government in May 2012.  This statement 
 of intent outlined the processes for producing a local scheme and the requirements 
 for consulting with all interested parties, including precepting authorities, on the 
 scheme.  The consultation and engagement processes included a range of 
 methods including a letter to all current benefit claimants, a questionnaire (both on-
 line and hard copy in Town Halls, One Stop Shops and Libraries), a telephone help 
 line for benefit claimants,( the council received over 1,000 calls), an impartial 
 telephone survey of non-claimants, meetings and events with groups, stakeholders, 
 landlords, the precepting authorities (Merseyside Fire Service and Merseyside 
 Police) and the voluntary, community and faith sector.  The process was also 
 supported by media releases and posters in One Stop Shops, Libraries and Town 
 Halls.  

 
o Annex C is a summary of the consultation findings relating to Council Tax 

Reduction Scheme and findings relating to council tax technical changes.  
o Background papers are available on the full feedback reports on the 

consultation and engagement process. 
 

Agenda Item 7

Page 34



 

9.  Equality Act 2010 and Equality Analysis Report  
 

9.1  As the Council agrees actions to set a sustainable budget plan for financial  years 
2013/14 and 2014/15  there is a requirement to open and transparent processes 
being adopted, and impact assessments in identifying potential change 
options/savings and major risks, as well as mitigating these as far as possible.  

 
9.2  Work on the Equality Analysis Report for the proposed Council Tax Reduction 

 Scheme commenced in April 2012 and finished November 2012, and is attached at 
 Appendix D.  Analysis of the scheme indicates that the scheme retains strong 
 features around ‘disregards’ and ‘premiums’ and as such offers to mitigate any   
 impact on working families, working age people and those in work who are in 
 receipt of Disability benefits. 

9.3  The report however, identifies some risks in relation to the implementation of the 
local council tax support scheme.  The analysis identified a small number of people 
who are likely to be disproportionately impacted either because they are legally 
exempt from ‘work tests’ or extremely unlikely to be able to work due to having 
severe disabilities. To mitigate this impact a hardship fund will be made available – 
paragraph 13 provides details of the exceptional hardship fund. Members are asked 
to note the Equality Analysis Report and the mitigation to be put in place prior to 
April 2013.  It must be noted that the Council will not have a level of resources that 
could mitigate the financial impact on the residents of Sefton of the Governments 
Welfare Reform.  

§ Equality Analysis Report relating to local Council Tax Reduction Scheme – 
see Annex D 

§ Equality Analysis Report relating to Council Tax Technical changes – see 
Annex E 

 
10. Proposed local Council Tax Reduction Scheme   

 
10.1 The draft scheme which went out to consultation on the 6th August 2012, delivers a 

 Local Council Tax Reduction scheme, for non-pensioners.  The scheme supports 
 the requirement to protect vulnerable people and minimise the impact on incentives 
 to work. The scheme addresses the reduction in funding available and has been 
 formulated to minimise the detrimental effect on the most vulnerable.  

 
10.2 For all non pensioner claimants, the Council could consider the option of continuing 

 the existing national council tax benefit scheme rules and the impact of funding this 
 by finding at least £3.8m additional savings elsewhere within its budget, principally 
 by making cuts to other services, after taking the additional proposed savings from 
 the council tax technical changes.   However, with the budget pressures that the 
 Council are already facing for the next financial year, the proposal is to meet the  
 deficit in Government funding through reductions within the local Council Tax 
 Reduction scheme.   

 
10.3 The proposed scheme is based on the current council tax benefit scheme (to be 

 replaced by the Government prescribed Default scheme from April 2013) for non 
 pensioner claimants with a number of variations – see table below 10.6.  Also 
 summarised in paragraph 14.  Local Council Tax Reduction Scheme is set out in 
 Annex F.  

 
10.4 It is important to note that the scheme will be reviewed and amended if required on 

 an annual basis.  Any review of the scheme for year two and later years will need to 
 take into account under or over achievement of the associated financial impact, 

Agenda Item 7

Page 35



 

 changes to the claimant caseload, the management and numbers of council tax 
 accounts.  The Council will need to consider the impact of the scheme on its total 
 income and expenditure annually in setting the budget for the coming year. 

 
10.5 Following consultation, amendments to the draft council tax reduction scheme have 

 been made. The table below sets out the amendments to the published draft 
 scheme: 
 

 
 
 
Table 10.6  

Ref Draft Council Tax Reduction 
Scheme – consulted on 
06.08.2012- 29.10.2012 

Amended 
proposal  

Difference  Notes  

1 Pensioners There will be no 
change to the amount of help 
pensioners currently receive 
(national scheme). Therefore 
none of the proposals below 
will affect them. 
 

Pensioners 
There will be no 
change – The 
Government will 
make any 
changes to the 
scheme.  

There is no 
change  

This is required 
in order to 
comply with the 
law.  

2 Reduce maximum eligible 
council tax reduction to 80% of 
the Council Tax 
chargeable for non pensioner 
claimants 

Hardship fund 
will be made 
available to most 
vulnerable. 

No change to 
scheme for 
eligible starting 
point when 
calculating the 
reduction.   

All non pensioner 
claimants would 
have to pay 20% 
of their Council 
Tax bill.    
 

3 Do not grant a Council Tax 
Reduction to a non pensioner 
claimant who has capital/ 
savings above £6,000. 

No change to 
proposed draft 
scheme  

There is no 
change 

Capital can be 
used to pay 
council tax 
liability.  

4 Remove entitlement to non 
pensioner claimants to council 
tax second adult rebate 

No change to 
proposed draft 
scheme  

There is no 
change 

This simplifies 
the scheme and 
aligns to rules for 
Universal Credit.  
Claimants can 
apply for the 
Council Tax 
Reduction 
scheme  

5 Withdraw facility to backdate 
award for non pensioner 
claimants.  

This will not 
happen for the 1st 
year of the 
scheme.  This 
will be reviewed 
before the 31st 
January 2014  

Allows non 
pensioner 
claimants to 
request 
backdating 
where they can 
prove ‘good 
cause’ 

Minimises the 
impact on 
vulnerable 
claimants. 
 
 
 
 

6 Remove or reduce deduction for non-dependants – for working age claimants. 
Draft scheme went out with 2 options: 

6a Remove deduction for non-
dependants for non pensioner 
claimants   

This feature has 
been removed 
and changed to 
6b 

There will be a 
reduced non 
dependant 
deduction 
compared to the 

Non dependant 
deductions will 
be simplified and 
the household 
contribution will 

Agenda Item 7

Page 36



 

current council 
tax benefit 
scheme.   

be at a reduced 
rate.   

6b Introduce flat rate deductions 
for non-dependants for working 
age claimants:- 

• £2.00 per week for non- 
working non 
dependants 

• £5.00 per week to apply 
to all working age 
working no dependants. 

(there are no deductions if the 
non dependant is in receipt of 
Income Support, Income -
based Job Seekers Allowance, 
Income Related Employment 
and Support Allowance, or 
Pension Credit 

No change to 
draft proposal  

There is no 
change  

Current 
deductions range 
from £0.00 to 
£9.90 per week 
depending on the 
income of the 
non-dependant.  
Note: There are 
no non- 
dependant 
deductions for 
Council Tax 
Benefit if the 
claimant or 
partner -   
Is blind or has 
recently regained 
their sight or, 
Receives the 
care component 
of disability living 
allowance 
payable at any 
rate or receives 
attendance 
allowance 
payable at any 
rate.   

 
11. Comparison of optional schemes including financial implications   

 
11.1 A comparison of the optional schemes for non pensioner claimants and financial

 implications for the Council are shown in Annex A. It is important to note in order to 
 provide options for consideration the data currently held on the council’s revenues 
 and benefits system (Northgate) has been analysed using specially designed 
 software.  Analysis has provided only a partial ‘snap-shot’ offering some 
 understanding of the impact planned changes and the cost or savings any proposal 
 will generate.  The proposals will continue to be evaluated and monitored to assess 
 financial implications, together with pending Government announcements on 
funding the scheme.  

 
12. Risk Management  

 
12.1 The Council continues to regularly review strategic and operational risks and put in 

  place measures to manage those risks. Some risks, e.g. increasing claimant  
  number cannot be stopped, these risks will be closely monitored and managed.   

 
12.2  The scheme proposals have been risk assessed with mitigating actions identified 

  where possible.  
 
12.3  Cabinet is asked to note the risks and mitigating actions outlined in Annex A for    

  Council Tax Reduction Scheme and Annex B for council technical changes in  
  making its recommendation to Council (recommendation summary- paragraph 14). 

Agenda Item 7

Page 37



 

 
12.4  Officers will continue to monitor risks and issues, escalating significant risks and  

  issues to Cabinet as appropriate.   
 

12.5  Mitigating actions include: 
 

• Provision of an Exceptional Hardship Fund – see paragraph 13.  

• Maintenance of core aspects of the current means tested scheme that 
provides additional assistance where there are dependants, disability and 
caring responsibilities.  

• Close monitoring of the scheme to ensure unanticipated implications and 
effects are reviewed and addressed.  

• Council tax collection – 12 monthly instalment payments will be offered to 
council tax payers.  

• Enforcement action - process is currently being reviewed to mitigate impact 
on the claimants.  For example, encouraging early contact for vulnerable 
claimants.  Also sign posting for debt advice, and review notifications for 
recovery stage. In addition discussions are taking place with Bailiff 
companies.   

 
12.6  Key timescales are detailed below 

 
§ 24th January 2013 - Report for approval to Council – Local Council Tax 

Reduction Scheme 2013-14 to be agreed and changes to discounts and 
exemptions from 1st April 2013 agreed.  

 
§ 31st January 2013 – Local Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2013-14 adopted 

and published.                     
 

§ 1st April 2013 – Implementation of the Local Council Tax Reduction Scheme 
2013-14 and changes to Council Tax discounts and exemptions 

 
13.  Exceptional Hardship Fund 

 
13.1  Criteria 

Part of the proposals to mitigate against potential issues at the introduction of 
Council Tax Scheme is the development of an Exceptional Hardship Fund. Any 
person claiming against the fund will be required to go through a process that will 
not only establish their eligibility for any payment but would allow them to more 
adequately manage their finances in the future. 

 

 

13.2    It is proposed that before making any payments, the Authority will require the  
  claimant to undertake the following;  

 
a. Make a separate application for assistance;  

b. Provide full details of their income and expenditure;  

c. Accept assistance from either the Council or third parties such as the 
CAB or similar organisations to enable them to manage their 
finances more effectively including the termination of non essential 
expenditure;  

d. Identify potential changes in payment methods and arrangements to 
assist the taxpayer;  

e. Assist the council to minimise liability by ensuring that all discounts, 
exemptions and reductions are properly granted.  

Agenda Item 7

Page 38



 

 
13.3  Targeted assistance  

Given that pension age claimants are protected under the Council Tax Reduction 
Scheme (Prescribed Requirements) (England) Regulations 2012, which broadly 
replicate the existing council tax benefit scheme, it is proposed that the exceptional 
hardship fund only be available to non pensioner claimants.  By limiting applications 
to the non pensioner age group, the Council will be able to target additional 
assistance to those most in need. 

 
 

13.4  Long term / short term  
The approach to be taken with the fund is not just to pay additional levels of support 
to taxpayers (thereby enhancing the proposed local Council Tax Reduction 
Scheme) but to aid and assist the most impoverished families/claimant(s). 
A key element of the fund will therefore be that support will only be given to 
taxpayers who qualify, for a short period of time.  It is not intended that the fund will 
be long-term solution to the overall reduction in council tax support.   
Where taxpayers are unable to meet their liabilities in the longer term, they will be 
encouraged to take actions; this may include taking debt advice or reducing their 
council tax liabilities such as by moving to smaller or less expensive premises.  

 
13.5 Priority will be given to those cases, which are identified as particularly vulnerable. 

 

13.6 Funding 

The Council has set aside £143,000 for the exceptional hardship fund, which will be 
monitored to ensure there is no over spend. 

 
14. Summary of proposed recommendations 
 
14.1 Cabinet is asked to recommend that Council approves and adopts the proposed   

Local Council Tax Reduction Scheme for 2013/14(Set out in full @ Annex F) and 
the council tax technical changes, which are summarised in the table below: 

  

 Recommended Scheme Proposals Forecast 
Financial 
Implications 

£ 

   

 Initial Budget Shortfall (Paragraph 6.6 4,400,000 

   

 Council Tax Reduction Scheme  

A1 Restrict Council Tax eligible liability: All non pensioner claimants will 
have to pay 20% of their council tax bill. 

-3,100,000 

A2 Do not grant a council tax reduction to non pensioner claimants  who 
have capital savings above £6K 

-50,000 

A3 Remove entitlement to non pensioner claimants to council tax second 
adult rebate 

-50,000 

A5 Introduce flat rate non- dependant deductions for non- pensioner 
claimants as follows:  
1.  Nil deduction for non dependant in receipt of a qualifying benefit 

(e.g. Income Support, Pension Credit)  
2.  £2.00 per week for non- dependants not in remunerative work. 
3.  £2.00 per week to apply to all non- dependants in remunerative 

work with gross income of less than £183 per week  
4.  £5.00 per week to apply to all non- dependants in remunerative 

75,000 

Agenda Item 7

Page 39



 

work with gross income of £183 or over per week 

 Forecast  Increase in Council Tax Income -3,125,000 

   

 Council Tax Technical Reforms  

B1 Reducing the discount from 10% to 0% for second homes and any 
other furnished properties not occupied as a main home. 

-70,000 

B2 Removing the existing six month Class C exemption for vacant 
properties (unoccupied and substantially unfurnished). Introducing a 
100% discount for one month and reducing the discount to 50% for 
the following five months. 

-780,000 

B3 Introducing an Empty Homes Premium. Charging a premium of 50% 
on properties unoccupied longer than 2 years making a total charge 
of 150%. 

-450,000 

B4 Removing the existing twelve month Class A exemption for properties 
undergoing major structural repair or structural alteration. Introducing 
a 50% discount for up to 12 months when a property is in need of or 
undergoing major repair or structural alteration. 

-230,000 

 Forecast Increase in Council Tax Income -1,530,000 

   

 Forecast Surplus available to mitigate the risk of non-collection  -255,000 

 
15  Council Tax Base 2013/14 
 

     The Council Tax Reduction Scheme forms a key component of the Council Tax Base 
calculations.  The Cabinet will agree the Council Tax base for 2013/14 at the meeting on 
31st January 2013. The Local Authority is required under statue to report to the precepting 
bodies and the DCLG, the Council Tax base 2013/14 on the 31st January 2013.  The 
Leader of the Council and the Chair of Overview and Scrutiny Committee (Performance 
and Corporate Services) will be requested to give their consent under Rule 46 of the 
Overview and Scrutiny procedure Rules for the decision on the Council Tax Base to be 
treated as urgent and not subject to “call in”.  

Agenda Item 7

Page 40



 
Annex A  

Additional Council Tax Income to collect to meet the shortfall in funding  
 

 Facts to consider for Sefton Council’s 
Local Council Tax Reduction Scheme 

Option A 
Draft Council Tax 

Reduction Scheme (Which 
went out to Consultation) 

Option B 
 Government Default 

Scheme 

Option C 
Government 

Transition Grant 

  Scheme based on national 
rules except for the 
following proposals: 

Scheme based on 
current council tax 
benefit rules 

Scheme based on 
national rules except 
for the following 
proposals: 

1.  Restrict Council Tax eligible liability 
 
 
 

All non pensioner claimants 
will have to pay 20% of their 
council tax bill.  

• Band A property – 
claimant will pay on 
average £198 per 
year  

• Band B property – 
claimant will pay on 
average £231 per 
year 

Claimants will retain 
current benefit entitlement 
as assessed under the 
current rules with no 
restriction to council tax 
eligible liability.   

• 12,000 claimants 
will continue to 
receive maximum 
council tax 
reduction against 
bill. 

All non pensioner 
claimants will have to 
pay 8.5% of their council 
tax bill. 

• Band A property 
– claimant will 
pay on average 
on average 
£85.00 per year   

• Band B property 
– claimant will 
pay on average  
£98.00 per year 

 Additional Council Tax to collect £3,100,000 NIL £1,300,000 
 

2.  Do not grant a council tax reduction to 
non pensioner claimants  who have 
capital savings above £6K 

All non pensioner claimants 
who exceed the capital / 
savings limit will no longer 
be entitled to council tax 
reduction.  Currently xxx 
number of claimants  

Claimants will continue to 
qualify within the current 
council tax benefit rules.  

Claimants will continue 
to qualify within the 
current council tax 
benefit rules. 
 
 
 
 

 Additional Council Tax to collect £50,000  NIL NIL 
 

A
g
e
n

d
a
 Ite

m
 7

P
a
g
e
 4

1



 
3.  Remove entitlement to non pensioner 

claimants to council tax second adult 
rebate 

Second adult rebate will no 
longer be a feature of the 
local scheme.  Claimant can 
claim council tax reduction. 
(removing the current better 
by option)  Current number 
of claimants xx    

Claimants will continue to 
qualify within the current 
council tax benefit rules. 

Second adult rebate will 
no longer be a feature of 
the local scheme.  
Claimant can claim 
council tax reduction.  
(removing the current 
better by option)   

 Additional Council Tax to collect £50,000 NIL £50,000 
4.  Withdraw facility to backdate award for 

non pensioner claimants- this feature 
will not happen for the first year 
2013/14. 

This is not available.  Claimants will continue to 
qualify within the current 
council tax benefit rules. 

Claimants will continue 
to qualify within the 
current council tax 
benefit rules. 

 No additional council tax to collect. NIL NIL NIL 
5 Remove or reduce deduction for non-

dependants – for non pensioner age 
claimants. 
Draft scheme 2 options: 

This is a cost to the 
Council to help mitigate 
against the financial 
impact on Claimants and 
wider issues such as 
homelessness.   
 
 
6a option         6b option  

  

 Option (a) 
Remove deduction for 
non-dependants for 
non pensioner 
claimants   

Option (b)  
Introduce flat rate 
deductions for non- 
dependants for non- 
pensioner claimants  

1. Nil deduction 
for non 
dependant in 
receipt of a 
qualifying 
benefit (e.g. 
Income 
Support, 
Pension 
Credit)  

2. £2.00 per 
week for non- 
dependants 

£178,000 to 
fund -  

£75,000 to 
fund 
 
 

n/a n/a 

A
g

e
n

d
a

 Ite
m

 7

P
a

g
e
 4

2



 
not in 
remunerative 
work. 

3. £2.00 per 
week to apply 
to all non- 
dependants in 
remunerative 
work with 
gross income 
of less than 
£183 per week  

4. £5.00 per 
week to apply 
to all non- 
dependants in 
remunerative 
work with 
gross income 
of £183 or 
over per week  

 

 

Total Option 6b is the proposal for scheme  £75,000 cost  Nil  £75,000 cost  

 
 

 
Risks 
 

Option A 
 

Option B 
 

Option C 
 

 Caseload increase – economic activity 
worsens, more people claiming benefit and 
expenditure will increase.  Also increase in 
Pensioner caseload due to awareness of 
scheme and not seen as a benefit 
therefore, removal of stigma to claim.  

Caseload Increase – as in option A Caseload Increase – as in Option A 

 Increased administration – cost of 
collection and for small amounts of council 
tax.  Over 12,000 claimants never asked to 
pay council tax previously as on maximum 
benefit.  

Shortfall will have to be met in full from 
Council Budget. 

Increased administration – as in Option A 

A
g
e
n

d
a
 Ite

m
 7

P
a
g
e
 4

3



 
  No transition funding from Government  No guarantee that Local CTR Scheme will 

meet requirements for Government 
transitional Grant 

 Difficulty in identifying vulnerable claimants 
– claimants transferred from DWP to 
Council and claim maximum council tax 
benefit.  Over 12,000 claimants they we 
cannot accurately find out their status.  

 Difficulty in identifying vulnerable claimants 
– as in Option A 

 Collection rates likely to be low for 12,000 
households who previously did not have to 
pay anything  

 Collection rates likely to be low for 12,000 
households who previously did not have to 
pay anything 

 Increased demand for front line services – 
fluctuations in income will result in more 
queries about eligibility / award levels, 
together with other Welfare Reform 
changes.  

 Increased demand for front line services – 
as in Option A 

 Financial Assessments – reduction in 
benefit award may lead to reduction in 
charge for care.  Reassessments will be 
required.  

 As in Option A 

   Small Council Tax balances to collect in 
region of £85 - £98 per year for average 
Band A and Band B properties.  

 Welfare Reform changes from April 2013 
onwards – reduction in other benefits may 
affect claimant’s ability to pay council tax.    

 As option A  

 
 
 

A
g

e
n

d
a

 Ite
m

 7

P
a

g
e
 4

4



 
Annex B 

Council Tax Technical changes – exemptions and discounts for unoccupied vacant properties  
 

 
 

COUNCIL TAX TECHNICAL REFORMS  Consulted on 
 

Proposed change  
  

Financial implications  

1. Removing Council Tax discount for 
furnished properties not occupied as a main 
home  

Reducing the discount from 
10% to 0% for second homes 
and any other furnished 
properties not occupied as a 
main home. 
 
£72,000 

No change to proposal  
 

Estimated additional 
£70,000 council tax 
revenue to collect  

2. Removing the Council Tax six month 
exemption for vacant properties 
(unoccupied and substantially unfurnished)  

Introducing a 50% discount to 
replace the existing Class C 
exemption for the first 6 
months a property is 
unoccupied and unfurnished. 
 
£456,000 

Introducing a 100% 
discount for one month 
then reduce discount to 
50% for months two to 
six 
 

Estimated additional 
£780,000 council tax 
revenue to collect 

3. Charging an empty homes premium of 50% 
on properties left empty for more than 2 
years. 

Charging a premium of 50% 
on properties unoccupied 
longer than 2 years making a 
total charge of 150%. 
 
£523,000 
 

No change to proposal  
 

Estimated additional 
£450,000 council tax 
revenue to collect 

4. Removing the Council Tax exemption on 
properties undergoing major structural 
repair or structural alteration. 

Introducing a 50% discount to 
replace the existing Class A 
exemption for up to 12 
months when a property is in 
need of or undergoing major 
repair or structural alteration. 
 
£237,000 

No change to proposal  Estimated additional 
£230,000 council tax 
revenue to collect 

Total    £1,530,000 

 
 

A
g
e
n

d
a
 Ite

m
 7

P
a
g
e
 4

5



 
 

 
Council Tax Technical Changes  

Risks Mitigation  

Property base decrease  Property base monitoring in place 

Increased administration and transition costs  Maximising use of internet for enquiries, on- line delivery, electronic 
notifications, text messaging,     

Avoidance tactics increase Robust property inspections and use of analysis tools. Use of 
financial Penalties for incorrect information being supplied. 

Forecasting savings difficult Robust monitoring of database in place. 

Collection of higher level of charges may be difficult. All enforcement options will be pursued. 

Some people may consider it unfair e.g. second home owners who will pay 
more council tax than a property occupied by single adult; those who get a 
50% job related dwelling discount and owners of properties that are unfit to 
live in. 

 

Local economy, adverse effect on housing market and job mobility. 
Property developers and renovators find themselves liable for Council Tax.  

Landlords encouraged to complete refurbishment in shorter 
timescale to bring properties back into use more quickly. 

Increased bad debt provision/write offs Active monitoring of bad debt provision 

A
g

e
n

d
a

 Ite
m

 7

P
a

g
e
 4

6



 

 
Annex C 

Consultation Summary  
Local Council Tax Reduction Scheme – Summary of Findings  
The summary of findings from the consultation and engagement on the Local Council Tax 
Reduction Scheme are as follows: 
 
Summary of Findings from the Consultation with the precepting Authorities – 
Merseyside Police and Merseyside Fire and Rescue Services  
The precepting authorities were consulted both in writing and through the meetings of the 
Merseyside Practitioners Group, Finance Officers & precepting Authorities.  The Council has 
received written feedback from Merseyside Fire and Rescue Service who recognise the 
difficulty the Council faces in terms of the savings to be made, they support the proposed 
scheme as one that minimises the likelihood of additional savings for Merseyside Fire & 
Rescue Authority and wish to engage in a process of joint monitoring with the Council.  
 

Merseyside Police Officer representatives have supported the development of Sefton proposal 
throughout the process.  Formal consideration by the Merseyside Police Commissioner has 
yet to occur.  

 
Summary of Findings on the Principles of the Scheme from the Questionnaire 
Respondents to the questionnaire ranked the Principles in the following order :  

1. Principle 2 - The Council will continue to recognise the additional needs of our most 

vulnerable residents  

2. Principle 3 - The Council will continue to recognise the additional needs of families with 

children  

3. Principle 1 - The Council will continue to support work incentives 

4. Principle 4  - The Council supports households staying together to make better use of 

housing in Sefton and reduce homelessness 

5. Principle 5  - The Council will have due regard to the Armed Forces Covenant   

Members will note from the above feedback that the majority of people ranked Principle Two 
‘The Council will continue to recognise the additional needs of our most vulnerable residents’ 
as the most important to them followed by Principle 3 - The Council will continue to recognise 
the additional needs of families with children. 

Summary of Findings on the Features of the Scheme from the Questionnaire 
A total number of 305 questionnaires were completed.  Of these respondents 204 responded 
that they paid Council Tax in Sefton, 209 were currently in receipt of Council Tax Benefit and a 
further 49 responded that they currently were not in receipt of Council Tax Benefit but had 
received it in the past.  ] 
 

• 40% of people preferred Option A – that no non dependant deduction should be made 

and 47% of people preferred Option B – that  existing non dependant deductions 

should  be replaced by two flat rate amounts of either £2 or £5 and 13 % did not reply  

 

• 31% of people agreed / strongly agreed that all persons claiming under the new 

Scheme and who are not pensioners should pay at least 20% of their Council Tax bill, 

58% disagreed / strongly disagreed, 9% neither agreed nor disagreed and 2 % did not 

reply  

 

Agenda Item 7

Page 47



 

• 37% of people agreed / strongly agreed that the proposed savings or capital limit per 

claim under the new scheme should be £6,000, 29% disagreed / strongly disagreed 

and 29% neither agreed nor disagreed and 5% did not reply  

  

• 29% of people agreed / strongly agreed that for non pensioner claims, the second 

adult rebate scheme should be removed, 42% disagreed / strongly disagreed, 25% 

neither agreed nor disagree and 4% did not reply 

 

• 28% or people agreed / strongly agreed that For Non Pensioner Claims, the facility to 

backdate an award should be withdrawn, 52% disagreed / strongly disagreed, 16% 

neither agreed nor disagreed and 4% did not reply 

Members will note from the above feedback that people preferred Option B – that existing non 
dependant deductions should be replaced by two flat rate amounts of either £2 or £5 and 
agreed that the proposed savings or capital limit per claim under the new scheme should be 
£6,000.  People did not agree with the new scheme removing the back dating facility, the 
second adult rebate and that everyone should pay at least 20%.  Members will note that two 
thirds of the respondents to this survey were currently in receipt of Council Tax Benefit and 
therefore it may be unlikely that they would agree with measures that may reduce the amount 
of benefit they would receive in the future. 
 
Summary of Findings from the Telephone Survey  

In order to ensure impartiality in the consultation and engagement process the Council 
commissioned an independent research company, Opinion Research Services (ORS),  to 
undertake a consultation on the localisation of council tax support using a telephone 
methodology.  The Council had already consulted with affected claimants of council tax 
benefit, by writing to them inviting them to take part in the survey. This consultation therefore 
comprised of a telephone survey of households in Sefton that would be unaffected by the 
proposed changes to council tax benefit.  Unaffected households include those households 
that are either:  
 

• Not in receipt of council tax benefit, or  

• In receipt of council tax benefit, but where the council tax bill payer or their 
partner/spouse is of state pension age.  

 
301 telephone interviews were conducted with random digit dialled residents.  
 
Summary of Findings on the Principles of the Scheme from the Telephone Survey  
Respondents to the telephone survey ranked the Principles in the following order :   

1. Principle 2 - The Council will continue to recognise the additional needs of our most 

vulnerable residents  

2. Principle 3 - The Council will continue to recognise the additional needs of families with 

children  

3. Principle 5  - The Council will have due regard to the Armed Forces Covenant 

4. Principle 1 - The Council will continue to support work incentives 

5. Principle 4  - The Council supports households staying together to make better use of 

housing in Sefton and reduce homelessness 

Members will note from the above feedback that the majority of people interviewed ranked 
Principle Two ‘The Council will continue to recognise the additional needs of our most 
vulnerable residents’ as the most important to them followed by Principle 3 - The Council will 

Agenda Item 7

Page 48



 

continue to recognise the additional needs of families with children . This is consistent with the 
feedback outlined above from the responses to the questionnaire which indicates that these 
are important principles to both benefit and non benefit recipients.    There are differences in 
the rankings of the three remaining Principles between the two surveys.   Respondents to the 
Questionnaire ranked Principle 5 : The Council will have due regard to the Armed Forces 
Covenant as the least important whilst  respondents to the Telephone Survey ranked Principle 
4  - The Council supports households staying together to make better use of housing in Sefton 
and reduce homelessness as the least important.   

Summary of Findings on the Features of the Scheme from the Telephone Survey  

• 32% of people preferred Option A – that no non dependant deduction should be made 

and 68% of people preferred Option B – that  existing non dependant deductions 

should  be replaced by two flat rate amounts of either £2 or £5 

 

• 61% of people agreed / strongly agreed that all persons claiming under the new 

Scheme and who are not pensioners should pay at least 20% of their Council Tax bill, 

28% disagreed / strongly disagreed and 12% neither agreed nor disagreed.    

 

• 46% of people agreed / strongly agreed that the proposed savings or capital limit per 

claim under the new scheme should be £6,000, 51% disagreed / strongly disagreed 

and 3% neither agreed nor disagreed 

  

• 40% of people agreed / strongly agreed that for non pensioner claims, the second 

adult rebate scheme should be removed, 49% disagreed / strongly disagreed and 11% 

neither agreed nor disagreed.    

 

• 32% or people agreed / strongly agreed that For Non Pensioner Claims, the facility to 

backdate an award should be withdrawn, 65% disagreed / strongly disagreed and 3% 

neither agreed nor disagreed.   

 
Members will note from the above feedback that people preferred Option B – that existing non 
dependant deductions should be replaced by two flat rate amounts of either £2 or £5 and 
agreed that all persons claiming under the new Scheme and who are not pensioners should 
pay at least 20% of their Council Tax bill.  With regard to the proposed savings or capital limit 
per claim under the new scheme should be £6,000 whilst the majority agreed there was only a 
5% response difference.  People did not agree with the new scheme removing the back dating 
facility and the second adult rebate.   
 
Members will note that respondents to both consultations preferred Option B that existing non 
dependant deductions should be replaced by two flat rate amounts of either £2 or £5.  
Respondents to both surveys disagreed with the proposals to remove the backdating facility 
and the second adult rebate.  With regard to the proposal that all persons claiming under the 
new Scheme and who are not pensioners should pay at least 20% of their Council Tax bill 
there was a strong positive response to this, with 61% agreeing or strongly agreeing.  This is a 
marked difference between the two consultation processes with 58% of Council Tax Benefit 
recipients disagreeing with the proposal and 61% of non recipients of Council Tax Benefit 
agreeing.   
 
Summary Feedback from Events and meetings with the Voluntary Sector  
In addition to these surveys a range of events with community groups, landlord forums and the 
voluntary sector took place which is detailed within the report.The key themes from these 
events were as follows: 

Agenda Item 7

Page 49



 

• Concerns about impact on people with disabilities, carers and those they care for, 

families with children and lone parents  

• Concerns about the impact on young people and the potential for homelessness to 

increase 

• Concerns about the cumulative impact these changes would have in the context of 

welfare reform 

• Concerns about collection of payments if people have not had to pay previously  

Council Tax Technical Reforms – Discounts and Exemptions for Empty Properties and 
Second Homes  
Consultation on the Council Tax Technical Reforms included events, letter to and meetings 
with landlords, an on-line questionnaire and press releases to encourage participation.  The 
consultation was based around new powers to charge an additional amount of Council Tax on 
properties that have been continuously empty for more than two years, which it is likely will be 
enforced by legislation to start from April 1, 2013.  
 
The changes would allow the Council greater flexibility over certain details of the discounts 
and exemptions that they may apply for unoccupied properties in their local area.  
Respondents to the questionnaire ranked the Proposals in the following order:  

 

1. Proposal 1 - The Council to abolish the second home discount 

2. Proposal 3 - The Council should introduce a premium of 50% for properties empty 

longer than 2 years 

3. Proposal 2 - the Council should introduce a discount of 50% for unoccupied properties 

for a period of 6 months 

4. Proposal 4 - The Council should introduce a discount of 50% for unoccupied properties 

undergoing structural repair for a period of 12 months 

The feedback from the questionnaire is as follows:  
 

• A total number of 29 questionnaires were completed  

 

• 21% agreed / strongly agreed with Proposal 1 : the Council to abolish the second 

home discount, 62% disagreed / strongly disagreed, 10% neither agreed nor disagreed 

and 7% did not reply 

 

• 35% strongly agreed or agreed with Proposal 2 - the Council should introduce a 

discount of 50% for unoccupied properties for a period of 6 months – 21% disagreed/ 

strongly disagreed, 24% neither agreed nor disagreed and 17% did not reply 

   

• 31% agreed / strongly agreed with Proposal 3 - The Council should introduce a 

premium of 50% for properties empty longer than 2 years –31% disagreed/ strongly 

disagreed, 17% neither agreed nor disagreed, and 17% did not reply 

  

• 31% agreed / strongly agreed with Proposal 4 - The Council should introduce a 

discount of 50% for unoccupied properties undergoing structural repair for a period of 

Agenda Item 7

Page 50



 

12 months, 19% disagreed / strongly disagreed, 27% neither agreed nor disagreed, 

and 17% did reply.   

 
Members will note that the feedback indicates agreement for Proposal 2 to introduce a 
discount of 50% for unoccupied properties for a period of 6 months and Proposal 4 to 
introduce a discount of 50% for unoccupied properties undergoing structural repair for a period 
of 12 months With regard to Proposal 3 to introduce a premium of 50% for properties empty 
longer than 2 years 31% agreed and disagreed.   62% disagreed with Proposal 1: for the 
Council to abolish the second home discount.  
 
Additional comments were also received which are summarised as follows, full details can be 
found in background papers:  
 

• The proposed changes are a good idea, if it encourages property owners to renovate 

houses so that they are fit for people to rent at a reasonable price 

 

• Concerns about potential impact on small businesses  

 

• Concerns about first time buyers and developers holding onto empty houses without 

improving them 

 

• Concerns about empty houses on the market awaiting sale  

 

• Agreement that all people should contribute so the Council can maximise its income  

 
Correspondence 
 
During the consultation period, Sefton MBC received 8 letters from individuals in response to 
receiving a letter as in receipt of Benefit, 1 email response, an email report of a telephone 
conversation, 1 report by Citizen’s Advice Bureau outlining its thinking on the proposed 
changes and a letter from Royal British Legion (London).  
 
The main points from the individual letters are corrections to details held on Benefit payments 
and requests of simpler explanation of the changes. The email response was from a staff 
member, who answered the questionnaire (and whose answers have been included in the 
final consultation report). The telephone conversation was noted and its response used to 
inform the consultation process. The Citizen’s Advice Bureau report was formally noted, as 
was the letter from the Royal British Legion (London), and both received formal letters of reply.  
 
Copies of this correspondence are available as background papers.  

Agenda Item 7

Page 51



 

Annex D 
 

 
 

Equality Analysis Report 

 
Sefton’s Local Council Tax Reduction Scheme 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 7

Page 52



 

Background 
The Spending Review 2010 announced that support for Council Tax 
would be localised from April 2013 and funding reduced by 10 per cent 
from the same date. The Government subsequently consulted on 
proposals for the localisation of Council Tax support in England and the 
outcome of that consultation process was published in December 2011. 
The provisions that require local authorities to put in place their own 
localised Council Tax Reduction Scheme from 1 April 2013 are contained 
in the Local Government Finance Act 2012.  
 
Localisation of Council Tax support is part of a wider set of government 
reforms to the welfare system that are aimed at improving the incentives 
to work and ensuring resources are used more effectively, with a view to 
reducing worklessness and ending a culture of benefit dependency.  

The Government legislated that Councils should ensure that pensioners 
are not worse off under any local scheme.  The Government also 
stated1that, in developing local Council Tax Reduction Schemes, 
Council’s should consider protecting other vulnerable groups. The 
Government confirmed that it did not intend to prescribe the protection 
that local authorities should provide for such groups, but legislation that 
Council’s have to be cognisant of includes: 
 

• the public sector Equality Duty (The Equality Act 2010);  

• the duty to mitigate effects of child poverty (The Child Poverty 
Act 2010); and  

• the duty to prevent homelessness (The Housing Act 1996)  
 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

                                            
1 
‘ Localising Support for Council Tax, Vulnerable people – key local authority duties’ paragraph 1.3 May 

2012  Communities and Local Government 

Agenda Item 7

Page 53



 

Section 1 
 
What’s changing?  
The current system:  

People who are out of work and in financial need may be on one of three 
working age benefits – income-based Job Seeker’s Allowance, income-
related Employment and Support Allowance and Income Support. These 
benefits are described as being ‘passported’.  

Under current Council Tax Benefit arrangements, if a claimant is receiving 
a passported benefit all their income and capital up to £16,000 is 
completely disregarded. This results in them receiving up to 100 per cent 
Council Tax Benefit and avoids the need for further means-testing.  

For those who are means-tested for Council Tax Benefit, i.e. those with 
low levels of income but in financial need, there are thresholds and 
disregards for earned and unearned income which determine how much 
Council Tax Benefit is awarded.  
 

The proposed Council Tax Reduction Scheme:  

Sefton Council, in accordance with government guidelines, has designed 
a draft ‘Local Council Tax Reduction Scheme’ which was consulted upon 
between 6th August 2012 and 29th October 2012  

The main features of the Draft Scheme for non pensioners are: 

1. All persons claiming under the new Scheme should pay at least 
20% of their Council Tax bill 

2. £6,000 is the proposed savings or capital limit per claim and above 
this limit there will be no entitlement under the new scheme 

3. the second Adult Rebate Scheme will be removed 

4. the facility to backdate an award will be removed 

5. Non dependant deductions will either be removed or replaced by 
two flat rate deductions 

 

 

 

 

Agenda Item 7

Page 54



 

Means Test 

Currently, Council Tax Benefit recognises the additional financial burden 
of disability through a system of allowances and premiums within the 
means test. The Council’s proposed scheme continues to include these 
features and disregards certain benefits such as Disability Living 
Allowance/ Personal Independence Payments. This in effect is a positive 
move as such benefits are paid to a person to cover additional expenses 
as a consequence of having a disability in a world designed for able 
bodied people and the consequent accompanying barriers. As such it is 
correct not to treat it as a ‘disposable income’.  

In addition , some people with disabilities who are in receipt of 
Employment and Support Allowance are eligible for earnings disregards 
of £20 per week or £97.50 per week if the work they do would help to 
improve their health or stop their health deteriorating.    

People with disabilities are also eligible for a higher earnings disregard 
(so a higher proportion of their earned income will be disregarded from 
the calculation of the amount of Council Tax Reduction payable than for 
people without a disability). This, again, is a positive move for people with 
a disability who are in paid work. However people with a disability who do 
not have an earned income cannot benefit from this.      
 
The Council Tax Benefit means test also recognises the additional 
financial burden faced by families, through a system of allowances and 
premiums for children, couples and lone parents. Child Benefit and some 
childcare costs are also disregarded. 
 
The Council’s proposed Council Tax Reduction Scheme continues to 
include these features and as such the scheme positively recognises the 
need to support those with children. 
 
The current national scheme takes account of the income of a family unit 
(household) and the Council’s proposed scheme will continue to operate 
on the same basis because of the relationship between Council Tax and 
the property the household occupies. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 7

Page 55



 

Section 2 
 
Impact Assessment 
 
The above features only apply to means tested claimants. However, 
people receiving a passported benefit will be expected, under the 
Council’s draft Council Tax Reduction Scheme, to contribute 20% to their 
Council Tax bill.  The assumption being that all on benefits will be 
incentivised to work, even though some people are either exempt from 
looking for work or it is simply beyond expectation. 
 

• Adults in receipt of severe disability premium or enhanced 

disability premium may simply be beyond employment and this 

would be an unrealistic expectation.  

Severe Disability Premium 
One qualifies for severe disability premium if the applicant is in receipt of 
a “qualifying benefit” of:- 

• Attendance Allowance 

• Middle or Higher Rate of the Care Component of 

Disability Living Allowance 

• Constant Attendance Allowance 

• Exceptional Severe Disablement Allowance. 

And 
The person lives alone or only with other people who also 
receive one of the benefits listed above 
And 
No one receives Carers Allowance for looking after them  
 

Enhanced Disability Premium 

• Enhanced Disability Premium is paid to people who receive the 

highest rate of the care component of Disability Living Allowance.  

• Enhanced Disability premium is also paid to adults assessed as 

needing ‘Employment and Support Allowance - Support 

Component’. The Support Component is awarded if you are 

assessed as having “limited capability for work related activity” - 

basically recipients would find it very difficult to work. Claimants who 

are terminally ill, have a specific disease or severe disablement or 

are pregnant are examples. 

Agenda Item 7

Page 56



 

There are also people who are not required to be actively seeking work: 
 

• Lone parents with children under 5 are exempt from looking for work 
as they have particular difficulties in both finding and maintaining 
employment because of their caring responsibilities 

 
It is evident that not everyone claiming welfare benefits and Council Tax 
Benefit is capable of work and many are exempt from work tests.  
Other working age benefit claimants may need consideration due to social 
sensitivities such as war pensioners, in recognition of the sacrifice they or 
their partners have made. However, Sefton Council will continue to have 
due regard to the Armed Forces Covenant and,  for all claimants, will 
continue to ignore War Disablement and War Widow’s pensions in 
calculating council tax reductions, including any Armed Forces 
Compensation payments,  in accordance with the Covenant. 
 
Appendix A lists impact assessments through a range of case studies and 
calculation. 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Agenda Item 7

Page 57



 

 

Section 3  

Data Analysis 

Current data: 

At the time of writing there are 33,372 households in Sefton in receipt of 
Council Tax Benefit. Of these there are 3,390 claims from people already 
in work. Of which 2,546 are female and 844 are male, showing that 
female workers are more likely to claim Council Tax Benefit. 

There are 29,671 claimants not in work and on benefits (12,362 Male, 
17,309 female). There are 311 Second Adult rebate claimants.   

Of the 29,671 claimants there are 15,507 claims from Pension Age 
claimants who will not be affected by the Council Tax Reduction Scheme. 
This leaves a total of 17,863 claimants categorised as ‘working age’ 

In this cohort of 17,863 there are 5,555 claimants classed as ‘lone 
parents’.  Lone parents can be subdivided in to two groups: those with 
children under 5 years of age (and as such exempt from the Department 
for Work and Pensions looking for working tests) and parents with 
children over 5 years of age 

Lone parents with a child or children under 5 years old total 2,075 in 
number, of which 2,027 are female and 48 are male.  

Lone parents with a child or children over 5 years of age total 3,480 in 
number, of which 3,186 are female and 294 are male.  

This clearly demonstrates that lone parents are overwhelmingly female. 

Limitations of the Data 
 
Information on claimants comes to the Council via two routes: 
(1) Individual applications to the Council for Council Tax Benefit; and, 
(2) Confirmation of passported benefit from the Department for Work and 
Pensions.  
 
Passported benefits: 
 
The Department for Work and Pensions when accepting a claim simply 
informs the Council that the claimant is now eligible for a passported 
benefit. However the Department for Work and Pensions does not pass 
on any information as to which other benefits the claimant is now in 

Agenda Item 7

Page 58



 

receipt of – it could range from Child Tax Credits to Attendance 
Allowance. Sefton Council has repeatedly asked for a detailed 
breakdown of the types of benefits claimants are on under the 
Passported scheme from theDepartment for Work and Pensionswho 
have consistently  refused to share such information.2 
 
This means that we cannot calculate the numbers of people who receive 
a passported benefit and a disability related benefit.  Therefore we cannot 
make any accurate prediction of how many will be affected by the Council 
Tax Reduction Scheme, only that there is a high probability that there will 
be such claimants.   
 
We know this because when data is examined on standard claims to the 
Council (not passported by the Department for Work and Pensions) we 
can see the following:  
 

• Carer Premium 

At present Sefton is awarding a Carer Premium to 188 cases.  
(If the Council was to exempt this group from paying any contribution 
toward their Council Tax then the additional cost would be £32,654.26. 
This would ensure these claimants do not suffer any loss of benefit next 
year.) 

• Employment and Support Allowance  

At present Employment and Support Allowance isrecordedin 95 cases (if 
the Council was to exempt this group the additional cost would be 
£15,400.91 in additional Council Tax Reduction Scheme payments). 
 
 

• Severe Disability Premium 

At present Severe Disability Premium is awarded in 166 cases (If the 
Council was to exempt this group then the additional cost would be 
£25,607.72 in additional Council Tax Reduction Scheme payments) 
Claimants in receipt of more than one of the above 

                                            
 
2
The Government is working towards a data sharing solution where local authorities are 

informed of Universal Credit claimants’ circumstances, provided the information was 
relevant to the Universal Credit award. This means that local authorities will be able to see 
which individual elements of Universal Credit make up the maximum amount for each 
claimant, and this can inform their choices around scheme design (.para 4.15) ‘ Localising 
support for Council tax – taking work incentives into account’ May 2012 Communities and 
Local Government  

 

Agenda Item 7

Page 59



 

At face value, the total cost of ensuring that the above claimants do not 
have to make a payment toward their Council Tax would be £73,662.89. 
However, some claimants are in receipt of more than one of the above. 

• 2 claimants are entitled to all 3 premiums 

• 2 claimants get Care Premium and Severe Disability Premium 

• 5 claimants get Care Premium and ESA  

• 20 claimants get ESA and Severe Disability Premium  

(This means the cost of awarding additional Council Tax Reduction 
to all 3 categories would reduce to around £65,000) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

Agenda Item 7

Page 60



 

 

Section 4 

Equality Act 2010  

In order to meet equality legislation the Council has to consider (section 
149): 
 A public authority must, in the exercise of its functions, have due regard 
to the need to –  

(a) eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other 
conduct that is prohibited by or under this Act;  
(b) advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a 
relevant protected characteristic and persons who do not share it; 
(c) foster good relations between persons who share a relevant 
protected characteristic and persons who do not share it.  

Whilst there is a general acceptance of ‘austerity measures’ and ‘we are 
all in it together’ the Government in proposing the scheme says the 
following3 

‘The Government has considered the situation for low income 
pensioners who would currently be eligible for support with 
their council tax bill. Unlike most other groups, pensioners 
cannot be expected to seek paid employment to increase their 
income. The Government therefore proposes that as a 
vulnerable group, low income pensionersshould be protected 
from any reduction in support as a result of this reform.’ 

And that: 

‘...in developing local council tax reduction schemes, 
vulnerable groups should be protected.  Government did not 
intend to prescribe the protection that local authorities should 
provide for other vulnerable groups.’ 

The Government has exempted people of pensionable agefrom local 
schemes (i.e. those who have reached the age when they can qualify for 
pension credit). It has also introduced a rule to help local authorities work 
out whom else can be identified as vulnerable for the purposes of their 
Council Tax Reduction Scheme;namely those, in a strong sense, that 
cannot be expected to seek paid employment  

In analysing the data available, the following has been determined:  

                                            
, 

3
 Communities and Local government, ‘Localising Council Tax  Equality Impact AssessmentJanuary 2012’  section 

1  ISBN: 978-1-4098-3304-8 

Agenda Item 7

Page 61



 

• Lone parents of children under 5 (predominantly female) who are 
benefit dependent will be disproportionally affected by the draft 
Council Tax Reduction scheme, which will impact on child poverty.  

• People claiming disability benefits, in particular those in receipt of 
Severe Disablement Allowance, Carer’s Allowance, and 
Employment Support Allowance  will be disproportionately affected 
by the  draft Council Tax Reduction Scheme 

The scheme will have no disproportionate impacts on issues related to:  

• Religion 

• Sexuality 

• Transgender 

• Race 

• Marital status 

The Equality and Human Rights Commission’s, ‘Using the equality duties 
to make fair financial decisions.  A guide for decision-makers’ 
recommends that there are four possible outcomes of an equality impact 
assessment.   More than one may apply to a single proposal:  
 

• Outcome 1: No major change required when the Equality Impact 
Assessment has not identified any potential for discrimination or 
adverse impact and all opportunities to promote equality have been 
taken. 

 

• Outcome 2: Adjustments to remove barriers identified by the 
Equality Impact Assessment or to better promote equality. Are 
you satisfied that the proposed adjustments will remove the barriers 
identified? 

 

• Outcome 3: Continue despite having identified some potential 
for adverse impact or missed opportunities to promote 
equality. In this case, the justification should be included in the 
Equality Impact Assessment and should be in line with the duty to 
have ‘due regard’. For the most important relevant policies, 
compelling reasons will be needed. You should consider whether 
there are sufficient plans to reduce the negative impact and/or plans 
to monitor the actual impact. 

 

• Outcome 4: Stop and rethink when an Equality Impact 
Assessment shows actual or potential unlawful discrimination 

Agenda Item 7

Page 62



 

 
In relation to this Equality Impact Assessment, the outcomes of which link 
to 2 & 3 above, the Council needs to mitigate with regard to gender and 
disability.  The Council also needs to monitor the implementation of the 
Scheme, should it be adopted, with a view to developing a better 
understandingof the impact on people to inform the preparation of future 
schemes.  

Mitigation:  

It’s clear that the current draft Council Tax Reduction Scheme will have an 
impact on all claimants (as their income reduces whilst seeking work in a 
slow economy) and a disproportionate impact on some (income being 
reduced but with little or no option of employment).  

As such the Council, should the Scheme be adopted, will have to put in 
place mitigating actions.  This could be achieved by workingin partnership 
with the voluntary, community and faith sector on the provision of Food 
banks & Clothing Banks for example.   

In order to ensure compliance with the Equality Duty and to mitigate any 
potential disproportionate impacts, should the Scheme be adopted, the 
Council will put the following in place:   

• A Discretionary Hardship fund for Council Tax Reduction Scheme 
claimants with fair and transparent criteria for awards  

• A review of the procedures for the collection of non payment of 
Council Tax to ensure no disproportionate impact on the most 
vulnerable households.   

• A monitoring and review process to assess impact  

• Work with voluntary sector in developing food banks 

The Government has belatedly recognised the difficulty the scheme 
places on communities and has proposed a ‘transitional fund’. Council 
should examine whether or not it would be beneficial to apply to this fund 

 

 

 

 

 

Agenda Item 7

Page 63



 

Section 5 

Consultation  

A series of consultation events and methods took place and a full report is 
available. However a number of concerns have arisen from the data 
around equality issues such as ‘disability benefits’ and ‘lone parents’ 

Summary of issues related to Postcode: 
 
 The following is a summary of main headings for comments, broken 
down by postcode area. (The quotes are a summary of a number of 
comments provided, however suggestions, where listed, are given 
verbatim). 
 

Postcode Comment 

L10 Concerns for carers and older people. Not able to afford 
Council Tax 

L20 Lone parents will lose income, and low income families and 
unemployed expected to pay more. Suggestion – address 
shortfall by taking monies out of households earning £50k+ 

L21 Unemployed and young parents will be driven towards 
debt. Vulnerable adults will be overly affected 

L22 Risk of increasing homeless figures as 18 year olds may 
need to leave home due to changes. Suggestion – Council 
should better pursue non payment of arrears 

L23 Concern about changes of Welfare Reform, in conjunction 
with Council Tax Scheme, on all household budgets, 
including people with disabilities.  

L29 Very important that each individual case is assessed fairly 
and consistently 

L30 Rising utility bills and changes to Welfare Reform mean 
disabled and vulnerable people will be disproportionally 
affected 

L31 Disabled and low income families will suffer most 

L37 Concerns for single parents, families with children and 
carers. Suggestion – ensure all people on housing lists are 
found accommodation so they too can contribute. 

L38 Those with disabilities and low income families will be 
affected most 

PR4 Concerns on effects on disabled, low income families and 
single unemployed people. Suggestion – Need for 
improvement of collection of Council Tax arrears 
 

PR8 Single parents, people with disabilities and unemployed will 

Agenda Item 7

Page 64



 

be hit most. Self employed are being asked to pay too 
much, and need to be left to create jobs, pay business 
rates, etc 

PR9 Carers and families with children will be affected most. 
Suggestion – need to means test all recipients of benefit, 
including pensioners 

Unassigned Single parents and families will lose money with this 
scheme. Formal disagreement that pensioners should be 
exempt. 

 
Breakdown of respondents by Equality Data 
Respondents were asked to indicate answers against Equality data 
questions, the breakdown of which is: 
Disability 
199 respondents answered affirmatively when considering Learning 
Difficulties – 39.19% (78 in total) indicating a Long Term Illness Affecting 
Daily Activity, followed by 23.11% indicating Mental Health/Distress and a 
further 20.1% indicating a Physical impairment.  97 respondents 
answered affirmatively when considering themselves to be disabled, 
which may include cancer, diabetes or HIV. 
 

Disability (Do you have any of the 
following?) Yes Age Range 

Learning Difficulty 9 Oldest 51 Youngest 30 

Mental Health/Distress 46 Oldest 58 Youngest 23 

Physical Impairment 40 Oldest 84 Youngest 25 

Visual Impairment 10 Oldest 91 Youngest 45 

Hearing Impairment/Deaf 16 Oldest 91 Youngest 36 

Long term illness affecting daily 
activity  

78 
Oldest 

82 
Youngest 

30 

 
Ethnicity/ Religion or Belief 

264 of our of 280 respondents who answered indicated they were “White 
British” or “White English” in terms of ethnicity, with fewer numbers for the 
other classifications. 

Ethnicity - do you identify as… Total 

White British 145 

White English 119 

White Irish 5 

White Scottish 4 

White Welsh 3 

Black African 1 

Black Caribbean 1 

Agenda Item 7

Page 65



 

Mixed Ethnic Background Black Caribbean 
& White 

1 

Other White background 1 

 
Religion / Belief 
159 (92.4%) out of 172 who answered indicated they were Christian, 
2.91% Buddhist, and 0.58% each for Jewish and Muslim.  

Christian 159 

Buddhist 5 

Pagan 2 

Roman Catholic 2 

Muslim 1 

Jewish 1 

Church of 
England 

1 

Wiccan 1 

Sexual Orientation 
On Sexual Orientation, 251 (94.36%) out of 266 respondents  who 
answered indicated they were Heterosexual, 3.0% were Gay, 2.25% 
Bisexual, and 0.37% Lesbian 

Heterosexual 251 

Gay 8 

Lesbian 1 

Bisexual 6 

 
Gender at birth 
100% of the 271 respondents who answered the question indicated that 
they currently live in the gender given to them at birth. 
Telephone survey:  
 
As part of a ‘control group’ to ensure non benefit claimants were included 
in the consultation a telephone survey was conducted, as well as the 
questions in relation to the detail of the scheme they were also asked: 
 
“Do you think there are any groups of people in Sefton who may be more 
affected than others if everyone receiving support for their Council Tax 
(except pensioners) has to pay something towards their Council Tax bill?” 
Base: All Respondents (261)  
 

The results are provided in the following graph where the most frequently 
mentioned ‘Other’ groups included:  

• People and families on a low income  

Agenda Item 7

Page 66



 

• unemployed young people  

• ‘Vulnerable’ people generally  

• People experiencing health and/or mental health issues  

 

 

Both the telephone survey and e-consult shows that the community has 
shared worries about disability and young families within the Council Tax 
Reduction Scheme. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Agenda Item 7

Page 67



 

Section 6 

Conclusion and Recommendations  

The draft Local Council Tax Reduction Scheme closely follows the 
Government’s guidelines and has retained some strong features around 
‘disregards’ and as such softens any impact on working families and 
people who are working but also in receipt of disability benefits. 

However, as it is the Government’s intention to ‘make work pay’ and as 
such reduce the level of benefits available to people ‘able and seeking 
work’, there are a small number of people who will be affected adversely. 
In the main, these are likely to be people who are either legally exempt 
from work tests or extremely unlikely to be able to work due to a severe 
disability. As such, the draft Council Tax Reduction Scheme impacts on 
these groups in a way that they cannot avoid, such that it becomes a 
disproportionate impact.   

In order to meet the public sector equality duty under the Equality Act 
2010 mitigation has to take place. Preference being a discretionary 
hardship fund established before the roll out of the scheme in April 2013. 

The monitoring of the implementation of the Scheme will need to take 
place as outlined above to understand its interaction with the Work 
Programme and other Welfare Reform changes and new areas of 
responsibility such as localisation of community care grants and crisis 
loans. Those areas are all changing too and whilst every effort is being 
made to understand how they can interact positively, it is impossible at 
this stage to know their combined behavioural effect. 
 

As there are a large number of variables still in play, it is imperative that 
this programme is fully monitored and this is also linked to the 
understanding of: 

• Homelessness and Housing benefit changes.  

• Crèche and childcare for under 5s 

• Rate of employment in Sefton 

• Non payment of Council Tax and the costs of recouping such  

o One of the features of universal credit is that benefits will be 
paid in one lump sum to most households, monthly in arrears 
and will include money to cover housing costs. For some 
people, making their own rent payments and having to 

Agenda Item 7

Page 68



 

manage over a longer period of time could be very 
challenging.  

o In addition, benefit capping and the size criteria reduction (in 
Housing Benefit) will mean more tenants will have to top up 
their rent from money previously available for personal and 
household expenses.  Many people living on limited incomes 
are already expert money managers, but for some, particularly 
those who are vulnerable, new tenants, tenants transferring to 
a new home or people experiencing a sudden drop in income 
due to job loss or relationship breakdown will find it 
particularly difficult to make ends meet and pay priority taxes. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Agenda Item 7

Page 69



 

Case studies:  

The following examples are for illustrative purposes only. They are designed to show 
the possible effects of Sefton’s proposed Council Tax Reduction Scheme for different 
non-pensioner households and income categories. Also identified are the outcomes of 
existing Council Tax Benefit and central government’s preferred option of using 91.5 
per cent of liability to calculate a Council Tax Reduction.  
 
Example 1 – Emma 
 

Household attributes 

Emma is a working single parent with an 8 year old daughter. She works 16 hours per 
week and pays child care costs for her daughter to attend after school club. 
 

Property attributes – 3 bedroom One Vision property (Registered Social 
Landlord) 

ü She has lived at the property since she was a child  
ü She succeeded the tenancy from her mother who passed away 3 years ago 
ü Weekly rent £87.50 
ü Weekly Housing Benefit £65.15 
 
Council Tax Attributes 

ü Property is in band A 
ü Emma receives a 25% Council Tax discount as she is the only adult resident 
ü Council Tax bill is £742.33 per year before Council Tax Benefit 
 

The existing Council Tax Benefit calculation – the main factors 

Ø Total weekly income of £268.18  
Ø Weekly Council Tax Benefit  of £7.36 
Ø Yearly Council Tax bill £358.56 
 

Examples of what the Council Tax Reduction Scheme would pay 
If the scheme was based on 91.5% of liability  

Ø Weekly Council Tax Reduction £6.15 
Ø Yearly Council Tax bill £421.65 
Ø Council Tax bill increased by £63.09 from £358.56 to £421.65 (17.6% increase) 
 

If the scheme was based on 80% of liability  

Ø Weekly Council Tax Reduction £4.51 
Ø Yearly Council Tax bill £507.17 
Ø Council Tax bill increased by £148.61 from £358.56 to £507.17 (41.4% increase) 
 

Impact of other Welfare Reform or Localism changes in 2013 

Emma’s Housing Benefit will be cut by £12.25 per week from April 2013 because she 
rents from a Registered Social Landlord and will be classed as under-occupying her 3 
bedroom house (She only needs 2 bedrooms) 

Agenda Item 7

Page 70



 

Example 2 – Jim and Jane 
 
Household attributes 
Jim and Jane are a couple with 3 children aged 12, 10 and 8.  Jane works 21 hours 
per week.  Jim has recently become unemployed.  
 
Property attributes 
They own their home, but the house is up for sale as they are struggling to pay the 
mortgage since Jim lost his job. 
Redundancy monies have been used to pay off outstanding loans and credit card 
debts.  
As they work less than 24 hour per week between them they cannot claim Working 
Tax Credit. Additionally, Jim’s Jobseeker’s Allowance will run out in the next 6 weeks 
as he is only entitled to it for a maximum of 26 weeks. 
 
Council Tax attributes 
ü Property is in Council Tax band D  
ü Annual Council Tax Bill is £1484.66 before Council Tax Benefit 
 
The existing Council Tax Benefit calculation – the main factors 
Ø Total weekly income of £478.70  
Ø Weekly Council Tax Benefit  of £12.86 
Ø Yearly Council Tax bill £814.10 
 
Examples of what the Council Tax Reduction Scheme would pay 
If the scheme was based on 91.5% of liability  
Ø Weekly Council Tax Reduction £10.44 
Ø Yearly Council Tax bill £940.19 
Council Tax bill increased by £126.09 from £814.10 to £940.19 (15.5% increase) 
 
If the scheme was based on 80% of liability  
Ø Weekly Council Tax Reduction £7.17 
Ø Yearly Council Tax bill £1,110.80 
Ø Council Tax bill increased by £296.70 from £814.10 to £1,110.80 (36.4% increase) 
 
Impact of other Welfare Reform or Localism changes in 2013 
As they work less than 24 hours per week between them they can no longer claim 
Working Tax Credit. 
 
Example 3 – Deirdre  
 
Household attributes 
Deirdre is a 53 year old single claimant and has a 20 year old son living with her.  Her 
son works 16 hours per week and earns less than £183 per week, whilst studying part 
time at college.  
 
Property attributes – 2 bedroom privately rented property 
ü Rent is £115.38 per week 
ü Housing Benefit is £58.43 per week 

 
Council Tax attributes 
ü Property is in band B for Council Tax  

Agenda Item 7

Page 71



 

ü Council Tax bill is £1154.74 before Council Tax Benefit 
 
The existing Council Tax Benefit calculation – the main factors 
Ø Total weekly income of £146.00  
Ø Non dependant deduction of £3.30 
Ø Weekly Council Tax Benefit  of £4.85 
Ø Yearly Council Tax bill £901.85 
 
Examples of what the Council Tax Reduction Scheme would pay 
If the scheme was based on 91.5% of liability  
Ø Weekly Council Tax Reduction £1.96 
Ø Yearly Council Tax bill £1,052.54 
Ø Council Tax bill increased by £150.69 from £901.85 to £1,052.54 (16.7% increase) 
 
If the scheme was based on 80% of liability  
Ø Weekly Council Tax Reduction £0.42 
Ø Yearly Council Tax bill £1,132.84 
Ø Council Tax bill increased by £231.80 from £901.85 to £1,133.65 (25.7% increase) 
 
Non Dependant Deductions 
Depending on which of the proposals are adopted, the weekly Council Tax Reduction 
figure cited above will be increased by either £3.30 or £1.30. 
 
Impact of other Welfare Reform or Localism changes in 2013 
Deirdre’s Housing Benefit will be reduced by £5.77 per week as a result of the 
changes to Local Housing Allowance which were introduced from April 2011. 
 
Example 4 – Rod and Jane 
 
Household attributes 
Rod and Jane are a couple with 2 children, who are both under 5. Rod was made 
redundant 14 months ago. They are on Income–based Jobseeker’s Allowance. 
 
Property attributes 
ü Owner occupier – mortgaged 
 
Council Tax Attributes 
 
ü Property is Council Tax band C  
ü Council Tax bill is £1319.70 before Council Tax Benefit 
 
The existing Council Tax Benefit calculation – the main factors 
Ø Total weekly income of £269.65 is disregarded 
Ø Weekly Council Tax Benefit  of £25.38 
Ø Yearly Council Tax bill £0.00 (full entitlement) 
 
Examples of what the Council Tax Reduction Scheme would pay 
If the scheme was based on 91.5% of liability 
Ø Weekly Council Tax Reduction £23.22 
Ø Yearly Council Tax bill £112.26 
Ø Council Tax bill increased from £0.00 to £112.26 (8.5% increase) 
 

Agenda Item 7

Page 72



 

If the scheme was based on 80% of liability 
Ø Weekly Council Tax Reduction £20.30 
Ø Yearly Council Tax bill £264.10 
Ø Council Tax bill increased from £0.00 to £264.10 (20% increase) 
 
Impact of other Welfare Reform or Localism changes in 2013 
None 
 
Example 5 – Geoffrey  
 
Household attributes 
Geoffrey is a 32 year old single man who is unemployed and receiving Income-based 
Jobseeker’s Allowance of £71.00 per week. He was made redundant 2 months ago. 
 
Property attributes - 1 bedroom privately rented property 
ü Rent is £92.31 per week 
ü Housing Benefit is £66.00 per week 
 
Council Tax attributes 
ü Property is in Band A for Council Tax 
ü He receives a single occupier discount  
ü Council Tax bill is £742.33 before Council Tax Benefit 
 
The existing Council Tax Benefit calculation – the main factors 
Ø Total weekly income of £71.00  
Ø Weekly Council Tax Benefit  of £14.24 
Ø Yearly Council Tax bill £nil 
 
Examples of what the Council Tax Reduction Scheme would pay 
If the scheme was based on 91.5% of liability  
Ø Weekly Council Tax Reduction £13.03 
Ø Yearly Council Tax bill £62.91 
Ø Council Tax bill increased from £nil to £62.91 (8.5% increase) 
 
If the scheme was based on 80% of liability  
Ø Weekly Council Tax Reduction £11.39 
Ø Yearly Council Tax bill £148.42 
Ø Council Tax bill increased from £nil to £148.42 (20% increase) 
 
Impact of other Welfare Reform or Localism changes in 2013 
Due to changes in Local Housing Allowance for single claimants who are under 35 
and live alone in privately rented property, Geoffrey has seen his Housing Benefit 
reduce from £87.69 to £66.00 per week.  
 
Example 6 - Stuart 
 
Household attributes 
 Stuart is a 35 year old disabled single man. He lives on his occupational pension and 
disability living allowance. He has £9,000 savings. 
 
Property attributes  
ü Owner Occupier  

Agenda Item 7

Page 73



 

Council Tax attributes 
ü Property is in band C for Council Tax and he receives a sole occupancy Discount.  
ü Council Tax bill is £989.77 before Council Tax Benefit 
 
The existing Council Tax Benefit calculation – the main factors 
Ø Total weekly income of £304.82 
Ø Weekly Council Tax Benefit  of £3.97 
Ø Yearly Council Tax bill £782.76 

 
Examples of what the Council Tax Reduction Scheme would pay 
Because the proposed scheme disallows working age customers with capital 
over £6,000 
Ø Stuart would not qualify for a Council Tax Reduction 
Ø Yearly Council Tax bill £989.77 
Ø Council Tax bill increased by £207.01 from £782.76 to £989.77 (26.4% increase) 
 
Impact of other Welfare Reform or Localism changes in 2013 
None 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
    
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 

Agenda Item 7

Page 74



 

Annex E 
 

Equality Analysis Report    
 Committee paper code: Annex  E                           
Reference: Technical Changes to Council Tax  

 
Details of proposal:  
 
Council Tax: Changes to discounts and exemptions on unoccupied properties.  
 
The Government has set out a range of changes affecting certain current Council 
Tax exemptions and discounts to empty or second homes. The Local Government 
Act 2012 has given power to Council’s to determine further discounts for certain 
dwellings and to set higher amounts for long term empty dwellings, with effect from 
1st April 2013.  
 
These include:- 
 

• Giving Council’s power to levy up to full Council Tax on second homes 

• Abolishing the current exemption for properties left vacant for less than 6 
months (Class C) and allow Council’s to give a discount of between 0% and 
100%. The discount levels can vary within the 6 month period. 

• Empowering Councils to adopt an empty homes premium of up to 50% 
payable on top of the normal Council Tax chargeable in respect of properties 
left empty for two years or more. 

• Abolishing the current exemption for up to 12 months for vacant properties 
that require, or are undergoing, major structural renovation (Class A) and 
allow Council’s to give a discount of between 0% and 100% for up to 12 
months. The discount level cannot be varied within the 12 month period. 

 
 The proposed local changes from 1st April 2013 are:  
 

• Proposal 1 - The Council will abolish the second home discount (this includes 
properties left furnished and unoccupied i.e. in between lets). 

• Proposal 2 - The Council will introduce a discount of 100% for one month and 
reduce the discount to 50% for the following five months for vacant properties.  

• Proposal 3 - The Council will introduce a premium of 50% for properties 
empty longer than 2 years.  

• Proposal 4 - The Council will introduce a 50% discount for up to twelve 
months for vacant properties requiring, or undergoing, major structural repair. 

 
The Key Aims of using these new freedoms in Sefton are:- 
 
Ø To help keep down the overall level of Council Tax for our residents by 

increasing the Tax base that is available. 
Ø To make best use of housing stock by encouraging owners to bring empty 

properties into use more quickly. This will interact with the Council’s initiatives 
to reduce homelessness.  

Ø To give property owners and landlords a reasonable time (i.e. a “grace 
period”) within which to bring their properties into occupation.  

Agenda Item 7

Page 75



 

Ø To encourage owners to make improvements to their properties.   
Ø To raise additional income to help maintain services and mitigate the financial 

impact for vulnerable working age residents in the Borough. 
 
Formal approval for the changes to discounts and exemptions to take effect from 1st 
April 2013 will be sought from full Council in January 2013.  
 
The following table shows further unoccupied property related exemptions which we 
do not have the discretion to alter. 
 
Council Tax Unoccupied Property Exemptions list (for information only)   
  
Class B  Belongs to a charity; up to 6 months exemption  
Class D  Was previously the sole or main residence of someone in prison or 
detention  
Class E  Was previously the sole or main residence of someone in a hospital, 
nursing or residential care home, or certain hostels  
Class F A property where the Council Tax payer has died and probate has not 
been granted. Exemption continues for up to 6 months following grant of probate, 
whether the property remains furnished or not. 
Class G  Occupation is prohibited by law  
Class H  A property being kept for the occupation of a minister of religion  
Class I  Was previously the sole or main residence of someone who is 
receiving care in a place other than a hospital or care home  
Class J  A property owned by, and was previously the sole or main residence of 
someone who is residing elsewhere providing personal care  
Class K  A property that was previously the sole or main residence of a student 
who is resident elsewhere or a person who will become a student within 6 weeks of 
vacating  
Class L  A property where the mortgagee is in possession. 
Class Q A property left empty by a bankrupt 
Class T  An unoccupied annexe to an occupied property. 

 

Ramifications of Proposal:  
  
Give details:  
Is there a consequence to ‘Threshold’:  Yes 
Is there a consequence to ‘Capacity’:  No 
 
If ‘Yes’ give details.  
 
The new proposals are changing the thresholds in order to recoup more Council Tax 
and give less discount and exemptions.  As such changing both the amount of 
discount (from 100% to 50%) and the length of time the discount applies. 
 
 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 7

Page 76



 

Are there any protected characteristics that will be disproportionally affected 
in comparison to others?  
 
No  :  
 
The thrust of the changes affect landlords and home owners,  as such there is no 
discernible protected characteristic at play or affected. 
 
There may be individual circumstances, such as a vulnerable person inheriting a 
property after probate and then will be liable for the second property’s Council Tax. 
However these are instances of chance (rather than trend) and are not inherent 
design aspects of the policy.  
 
There may be instances of women affected by domestic violence leaving a property 
empty and having to meet a charge earlier than before. (see mitigation) 
 
The policy will be applied and managed in accordance with the Equality Act 2012 
 

Consultation 
 A full report on Consultation is available.  
 
Results of ‘e-consult’ are:  
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Proposal 1 - The Council will abolish the second home discount – 29 responses. Of 
these responses, 62% strongly disagreed or disagreed, 21% strongly agreed or 
agreed, 10% neither agreed nor disagreed, 7% not completed returns. 13 
respondents ranked this most important to them 
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Proposal 2 - The Council will introduce a discount of 50% for unoccupied properties 
for a period of 6 months – 29 responses. Of these responses, 35% strongly agreed 
or agreed, 21% strongly disagreed or disagreed, 24% neither agree nor disagree, 
17% not completed returns. 4 respondents ranked this most important to them 
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Proposal 3 - The Council will introduce a premium of 50% for properties empty 
longer than 2 years – 29 responses. Of these responses, 31% strongly disagreed 
or disagreed, 31% strongly agreed or agreed, 17% neither agreed nor disagreed, 
17% not completed returns. 10 respondents ranked this most important to them. 
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Proposal 4 - The Council will introduce a discount of 50% for unoccupied properties 
undergoing structural repair for a period of 12 months – 29 responses. Of these 
responses, 31% strongly agreed or agreed, 27% neither agreed nor disagreed, 
19% strongly disagreed or disagreed, 17% not completed returns. 2 respondents 
ranked this most important to them 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 
In terms of the 29 respondents to the eConsult Questionnaire, 22 completed this 
question and the following age ranges were submitted, cross matched against 
gender. 
 
 

Agenda Item 7

Page 77



 

Age Ranges 

  Female Male Total 

18-25 0 0 0 

26-40 1 2 3 

41-55 0 6 6 

55+ 5 8 13 

Youngest 38 29 

Oldest 73 67   

N.B. Whilst a number of comments were made, none reflected any concerns in 
relation to discrimination or unfairness within protected characteristics.  
 
As part of the consultation process the Council engaged with key stakeholders so 
that they could have a say on what the changes would mean for them. A newsletter 
about the proposed changes was sent to private and registered social landlords who 
receive payment of Housing Benefit. In excess of 30 private and registered social 
landlords attended events during this process and feedback has been included in the 
Consultation report. 
 

Is there evidence that the Public Sector Equality Duties will continue to be 
met? 

  
Yes:  
 
The policy is not designed to directly or indirectly discriminate against any particular 
protected characteristic. However, we note that the victims of domestic violence may 
be affected. As such, we will mitigate against this by ensuring that persons within this 
category will be dealt with sympathetically and not incur undue financial penalties 
due to the policy. 
 

What actions will follow if proposal accepted by cabinet & Council? 
 

1. We will inform owners and landlords of change – for example by mailshot, 
notifications on bills etc.  

2. We will make public the new rules – for example by press releases, 
website etc.   

3. We will develop mitigation process for victims of domestic violence. 
4. We will monitor progress.  

 
 

Administration Only:  
 
When was this Analysis started:  
When was it finished:  
Who was responsible for its completion and sign off: 
 

 
 
 

 

Agenda Item 7

Page 78



 

Annex F 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

LOCAL COUNCIL TAX REDUCTION SCHEME 2013-2014 
 
 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 7

Page 79



 

Contents  
Glossary of Terms         Page 3 
1.0 Introduction         Page 4 
2.0 Prescribed Requirements       Page 4 
 
Pension Age Claimants  
3.0 Classes of persons who are entitled to a reduction under the scheme Page 6 
4.0 Reduction to which persons in a class are entitled   Page 7 
5.0 Calculation of Capital       Page 10 
6.0 Extended Reductions       Page 11 
7.0 Applications         Page 12 
8.0 Entitlement         Page 13 
9.0 Decisions         Page 13 
10.0 Changes of Circumstances      Page 14 
11.0 Time and manner of granting relief and recoveries / over-payments Page 14 
12.0 DWP Changes to State Pension Credit Age    Page 14 
13.0 Appeals         Page 15 
14.0 Procedure for Applying for a Reduction Under Section 13A (1) (b) Page 15 

 
Persons who are not Pensioners 
15.0 Introduction and classes entitled to a reduction    Page 16 
16.0 Reductions attracted by classes      Page 17 
17.0 Calculation of Income and Capital      Page 19 
18.0 Calculation of Reductions       Page 21 
19.0 Extended Reductions       Page 21 
20.0 Entitlement         Page 22 
21.0 Decisions         Page 23 
22.0 Changes of Circumstances      Page 23 
23.0 Time and manner of granting relief and recoveries/ over-payments Page 23 
24.0 Wider Welfare Changes – Universal Credit and PIP’s   Page 23 
25.0 Annual Updates        Page 24 
26.0 Other Prescribed Requirements - Working Age    Page 24 
27.0 DWP Changes to State Pension Credit Age    Page 24 
28.0 Procedure for Applying for a Reduction under a Scheme  Page 24 
29.0 Appeals         Page 25 
30.0 Procedure for Applying for a Reduction Under Section 13A (1) (b) Page 26 
 
How to Contact Sefton        Page 27 
 

Agenda Item 7

Page 80



 

Glossary of Terms  

Applicable Amount  
Means the combination of allowances and premiums used to determine a claimant’s basic 
living needs and against which their income is compared for the purposes of the means test 
performed.  

 
Couple 

Means 

(a) a man and a woman who are married to each other and are members of the same 
household; 

(b) a man and a woman who are not married to each other but are living together as 
husband and wife; 

(c) two people of the same sex who are civil partners of each other and are members 
of the same household; or 

(d) two people of the same sex who are not civil partners of each other but are living 
together as if they were civil partners, 

and for the purposes of paragraph (d), two people of the same sex are to be regarded 
as living together as if they were civil partners if, but only if, they would be regarded as 
living together as husband and wife were they instead two people of the opposite sex 
 
CTB  
Means Council Tax Benefit, (i.e. the existing national scheme)  

 
CTR  
Means Council Tax Reduction, (i.e. the Council’s proposed local scheme)  

 
Excess Income  
Means the amount by which a claimant’s weekly income exceeds their applicable amount.  

 
Non-Dependant  
A non-dependant is a person who is living with the claimant but who is not dependent upon 
them, and not living in their home on a commercial basis, (i.e. as a joint tenant or sub tenant). 
Non-dependants generally include an adult son or daughter, a mother or father, friend, etc of 
the claimant. 

 
Pensioner 
A pensioner is a person who has attained the qualifying age for State Pension Credit 

 
Regulations 
The original statutory instruments, schedules and regulations referred to in this document are: 

The Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) Regulations 2012, 
Statutory Instrument 2012 No.2885 (This is referred to throughout this document as Statutory 
Instrument 2012 / 2885 and can be accessed at: 

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/2885/contents/madehttp://www.legislation.gov.uk/uk
si/2006/215/contents/made) 

The Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Default Scheme) (England) Regulations 2012, 
Statutory Instrument 2012 No.2886 (This is referred to throughout this document as Statutory 
Instrument 2012 / 2886 and can be accessed at: 
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/2886/contents/made) 

Agenda Item 7

Page 81



 

1.0 Introduction  
 
In April 2013, Council Tax Benefit, the current means of helping people on low incomes meet 
their Council Tax obligations, will be replaced by Sefton Council’s Local Council Tax 
Reduction Scheme 2013-2014 (hereafter referred to as the Local Scheme 2013-2014). 
 
Statutory Instrument 2012 / 2885 prescribes that a person who has attained the qualifying age 
for state pension credit is excluded from the effects of the Local Scheme 2013-2014, as they 
are subject to a national framework of rules and eligibility. Persons who have not attained the 
qualifying age for state pension credit are not, however, covered by this national framework 
and are therefore subject to the provisions of the Local Scheme 2013-2014.  
 
This document sets out the provisions of the Local Scheme 2013-2014 and should be read in 
conjunction with Statutory Instrument 2012 / 2885 and Statutory Instrument 2012 / 2886.  
 
The Local Scheme 2013 - 2014 takes into account the results of the Council’s consultation 
exercise conducted between 6 August and 29 October 2012 and must be approved by the 
Council no later than 31 January 2013. After that date, the Local Scheme 2013 - 2014 applies 
for the whole of the following financial year and can only be changed in response to statutory 
provisions that have precedence over it.  
 
The Council is required to publish details of the Local Scheme 2013 - 2014 and some of the 
contents of this document are unavoidably technical in detail. A Glossary of Terms has 
therefore been included on page three and examples of how the proposals may affect 
entitlement in comparison to the existing Council Tax Benefit scheme are provided on our web 

site: www.sefton.gov.uk/counciltax.  
 
2.0 Prescribed Requirements Regulations 
 
Statutory Instrument 2012 / 2885 outline the matters that the Local Scheme 2013 -14 must 

include. There are two elements to these requirements: those that will affect all claimants; 
and, those that apply only to pensioners. 
 
In the main, the provisions that apply exclusively to pensioners fall under Regulation 14(2) and 
are set out in Schedules 1 to 6. Provisions for all applicants fall under Regulation 15(1) and 
are set out in Schedules 7 and 8.4 Where these matters appear in the main body of this 
document they are mandatory elements.  

 
2.1 Persons from Abroad 
 
Regulations 12 and 13 prescribe those persons to be treated as not being in Great Britain and 
therefore excluded from receiving a Local Council Tax Reduction as: 

• Foreign nationals with limited immigration status 

• Individuals subject to immigration control as defined by Section 115 of the Immigration and 
Asylum Act 1999  

• Non economically active European Economic Area (EEA) individuals who are not 
exercising EU treaty rights   

• EEA nationals, who fall into the categories, set out in Regulation 12(4). 

 
 
 
 

                                            
4
 The exception to this rule is paragraph 6 in Schedule 8 which applies to pensioners alone. 

Agenda Item 7

Page 82



 

2.2 Refugees 
 
As long as their status has not been revoked, the following persons will be exempt from the 
habitual residence test and therefore entitled to apply for a Council Tax Reduction because 
they have been granted: 

• recognised refugee status  

• humanitarian protection  

• discretionary or exceptional leave to remain in the country outside of the  
   immigration rules   

 

 

Agenda Item 7

Page 83



 

Pension Age Claimants  

3.0 Classes of persons who are entitled to a reduction under the scheme 
 
Statutory Instrument 2012/ 2885, Schedule 1, paragraphs 2 to 4 describe the three main 
classes of pensioners entitled to a reduction under the Local Scheme 2013 - 2014. In all 
classes, individuals must not be prescribed as excluded from the Local Scheme 2013 - 2014 
within Regulations 12 and 13, such as those persons outlined in the “prescribed requirements” 
section above. The following are the classes identified in Schedule 1:  
 
Class A  

The individual must:  

Ø have attained the qualifying age for state pension credit, 
Ø be liable to pay Council Tax in respect of a dwelling in which they are resident  
Ø be somebody in respect of whom a maximum Council Tax Reduction amount can be 

calculated 
Ø be a person in respect of whom a day in which s/he is liable to pay Council Tax falls within 

a week in respect of which the person’s income does not exceed their applicable amount 
(as defined in Statutory Instrument 2012 / 2885 Schedule 1, paragraph 6 and Schedule 2),  

Ø have applied for the scheme.  
 
The individual must not be someone with a partner of working age in receipt of Income 
Support, income-based Jobseeker’s Allowance or income-related Employment and Support 
Allowance. 
 
The individual or couple must not have capital or savings above £16,000. 
 
Class B  

The individual must:  

Ø have attained the qualifying age for state pension credit,  
Ø be liable to pay Council Tax in respect of a dwelling in which they are resident  
Ø be somebody in respect of whom a maximum Council Tax Reduction amount can be 

calculated,  
Ø be a person in respect of whom a day in which s/he is liable to pay Council Tax falls within 

a week in respect of which the person’s income is greater than their applicable amount (as 
defined in Statutory Instrument 2012 / 2885 Schedule 1, paragraph 6 and Schedule 2),  

Ø have applied for the scheme,  
Ø be a person for whom amount X exceeds amount Y, where amount X is the appropriate 

maximum Council Tax liability in their case and amount Y is a prescribed percentage 
(20%) of the difference between their income in respect of the week in which the day falls 
and the appropriate applicable amount (Living needs) in their case.  

 
The individual must not be someone with a partner of working age in receipt of Income 
Support, income-based Jobseeker’s Allowance or income-related Employment and Support 
Allowance. 
 
The individual or couple must not have capital or savings above £16,000. 
 
Class C  

The individual must:  

Ø have attained the qualifying age for state pension credit,  
Ø be liable to pay Council Tax in respect of a dwelling in which they are resident  
Ø be somebody in respect of whom a maximum Council Tax Reduction amount can be 

calculated,  

Agenda Item 7

Page 84



 

Ø have applied for a scheme,  
Ø be somebody who has at least one second adult living with them who is not their partner, 

not somebody who pays rent, and who is on a prescribed low wage and / or prescribed 
benefit, as set out in Statutory Instrument 2012/ 2885, Schedule 3.  

 
The individual must not be someone with a partner of working age in receipt of Income 
Support, income-based Jobseeker’s Allowance or income-related Employment and Support 
Allowance. 

 
4.0 The reduction to which persons in each class are to be entitled  
 
4.1 Class A Reduction 

If an individual matches the criteria in Class A, including that income is less than their 
applicable amount (Living needs) in their case, that person qualifies for 100% reduction on 
their Council Tax liability, less any non-dependant deductions (see paragraph 4.4 below). 
 
Statutory Instrument 2012/ 2885 Schedule 1, paragraph 13 requires that an individual in 
receipt of state pension credit guarantee credit will have their income and capital 
disregarded. This means that the individual’s income will automatically be less than their 
applicable amount (Living needs) and they will qualify for a 100% Council Tax Reduction, 
less any non-dependant deductions. 
 
Where a person has been awarded only the savings credit element of state pension credit, 
Statutory Instrument 2012/ 2885 Schedule 1, paragraph 14 define the way in which this is to 
be treated for the purposes of the Local Scheme 2013 - 2014.  
 
4.2 Class B Reduction 

If an individual matches the criteria in Class B, it will mean that their income is greater 
than their applicable amount (Living needs). They will receive a 100% Council Tax 
Reduction on their Council Tax liability less any non-dependant deductions and a 
deduction of 20% of the difference between their weekly income and applicable amount.  
 
4.3 Class C Reduction 

The Class C reduction is known as the alternative maximum Council Tax reduction or 
second adult rebate. This may be awarded in respect of a second adult sharing the 
household who would normally be expected to contribute towards the Council Tax bill but 
who cannot afford to do so, based on their low income as indicated by prescribed low 
wages bands or prescribed working-age benefit indicators.  
 
This reduction will be awarded at 25%, 15%, 7.5% or 100% of the Council Tax liability, 
depending upon individual circumstances as identified in Statutory Instrument 2012/ 2885 

Schedule 3.  
 
4.4 Non-Dependant Deductions 
 
A reduction amount is arrived at after a downward adjustment has been made to take into 
account non-dependant adults that normally reside in the dwelling and who would be 
expected to make a contribution toward Council Tax liability. Deductions for such non-
dependant adults will be calculated and applied in accordance with Statutory Instrument 
2012/ 2885 Schedule 1, paragraph 8.    
 
 
 

Agenda Item 7

Page 85



 

4.5 Determination of Class and Award 
 
Determination of the class an individual is put into and the reduction they will receive will 
be determined in two ways:  
 
1. In respect of Class A and Class B, through means testing according to the rules and 
criteria prescribed by Statutory Instrument 2012/ 2885, Regulation 14(2). 

 

2. Through application of the rules for the calculation of Class C under Statutory Instrument 

2012/ 2885, Schedule 3.  
 
4.6 Means Test for Class A and Class B 
 
The means test is defined within Statutory Instrument 2012/ 2885 and is based on a 
comparison of income and a living allowance (applicable amount). The way in which these 
elements are defined and evaluated for the pension credit age scheme is set out below. 
 
4.7 Living Allowance (Applicable Amount) 
 
The individual’s living allowance or applicable amount will be made up of four elements. 
These will be:  
 
1. A personal allowance in respect of the applicant,  

2. An amount in respect of any child or young person who is part of their family,  

3. A family premium element (where the applicant is part of a family of which at least one 
member is a child or young person), and  

4. Any premium amount (set out in regulations) that is applicable to the individual.  
 
The elements and method of calculation for the applicable amount (Living needs) are set 
out in Statutory Instrument 2012/ 2885 Schedule 1, paragraph 6 and Schedule 2. 
 
4.8 Calculation of Income and Capital 
 
Income and capital will be calculated for a person who has reached the qualifying age for 
state pension credit in line with the provisions of Statutory Instrument 2012/ 2885, Schedule 

1, paragraphs 11 to 37. The income and capital of a claimant’s partner or partners in the 
case of a polygamous marriage will be treated as income of the claimant.  
 
Income or capital of any child or young person will not be treated as income or capital of 
the claimant. The regulations allow the Council to treat the income or capital of a non-
dependant as if it were the income or capital of the applicant in a case where it appears to 
the Council that the two have entered into arrangements to take advantage of the scheme; 
with the exception of those on Income Support, income-based Jobseeker’s Allowance and 
income-related Employment and Support Allowance.  
 
4.9 Income and capital for those on state pension credit 

There is special treatment of income and capital for those in receipt of state pension 
credit.  
 
For those in receipt of the guarantee credit element of state pension credit, the whole of 
their income and capital will be disregarded meaning that they will automatically qualify 

Agenda Item 7

Page 86



 

under Class A for a 100% Council Tax Reduction on their Council Tax liability less any 
non-dependant deductions. 
 
For those in receipt of the savings credit element of state pension credit, the Council will 
use the Secretary of Sate’s assessment of the income and capital of the individual, and 
adjust this to take into account income from this benefit and any other relevant 
requirements (as set out in Statutory Instrument 2012/ 2885 Schedule 1, paragraph 14).  
 
4.10 Calculation of income where a person is not in receipt of state pension credit 

For those who have reached the qualifying age for state pension credit, but are not in 
receipt of this benefit themselves, provisions relating to income, its calculation on a weekly 
basis, what is to be regarded as income and what is to be disregarded as income are 
prescribed by Statutory Instrument 2012/ 2885 Schedule 1, paragraphs 15 to 37. In 
particular, earnings of employed earners and earnings of self-employed earners will be 
taken into account as set out in these paragraphs.  
 
Statutory Instrument 2012/ 2885 also list a number of elements and amounts which should 
not be taken into account in the calculation of earnings.  
 
Amounts to be disregarded from the weekly earnings of a claimant who has attained the 
eligible age for state pension credit are set out in Statutory Instrument 2012/ 2885 Schedule 

4.  
 
Amounts to be disregarded in terms of income other than earnings for those who have 
reached the eligible age for state pension-credit are set out in Statutory Instrument 2012/ 

2885 Schedule 5. Treatment of other income (in relation to which the applicant has a right) 
will be calculated according to the rules prescribed by Statutory Instrument 2012/ 2885 
Schedule 1, paragraphs 22 and 23. 
 
Statutory Instrument 2012/ 2885, Schedule 5, paragraph 1, allows for £10 to be disregarded 
from weekly war widow’s pension, war widower’s pension, war disablement pension and 
certain other guaranteed income payments including, for example, those madder under 
the Armed Forces and Reserve Forces Compensation Scheme.  
 
The Local Scheme 2013 - 2014 continues previous local arrangements whereby the 
remainder of any weekly war widow’s pension, war widower’s or war disablement pension 
are disregarded in full in the assessment of a claimant’s income.  
 
4.11 Income and wider welfare changes 

In relation to income, wider welfare changes mean that new benefits will be introduced in 
place of those received by persons who are not pensioners.  
 
Despite these changes being mainly to benefits for non-pensioners, they may have 
relevance for individuals living with a person of pension credit age and consequently, it 
may be taken into consideration in the assessment of a Council Tax Reduction. 
 
New applicants will be migrated onto these new benefits over time, so both benefits will 
co-exist for a number of years (for example, the Universal Credit migration will take place 
over four years). The Local Scheme 2013 - 2014 will therefore abide by the prescriptions 
outlined in Statutory Instrument 2012/ 2885 or other statutory provisions that take 

precedence.  
 

Agenda Item 7

Page 87



 

5.0 Calculation of capital 

5.1 Calculation of capital where a person is not in receipt of state pension credit 

Provisions relating to capital – for example: 
Ø the capital savings limit of £16,000 (after which individuals will not be eligible for 

Council Tax reductions); 
Ø what is to be regarded as capital;  
Ø what is to be disregarded as capital; and, 
Ø other capital calculations. 
will operate in accordance with Statutory Instrument 2012/ 2885, Schedule 1, paragraphs 31 
to 37. Amounts to be disregarded as capital are set out under Statutory Instrument 2012/ 

2885, Schedule 6.  
 
5.2 Notional capital 

Individuals may be treated as possessing capital of which they have deprived themselves 
for the purposes of securing Council Tax reductions. This notional capital (of which the 
individual is treated as being in possession) will be reduced over time to reflect payment of 
additional Council Tax liabilities incurred.  
 
Notional capital excludes the value of any holding in a company where the applicant is the 
sole owner or partner (or where they hold an analogous position), but will include an 
amount of capital equal to the value (or their share of the value) of the capital of such a 
company. This notional capital (which the individual is treated as possessing) will be 
reduced over time to reflect payment of additional Council Tax liabilities incurred.  
 
5.3 Tariff income on capital  

Once an amount of capital is calculated, net of any amounts to be disregarded, this will be 
treated as if it is an income of £1 for every £500 (or part of £500) in excess of £10,000 but 
not exceeding £16,000. This amount of tariff income will be added to the initial income 
calculation to give a total income amount.  
 
5.4 Calculation of Reduction 

Once the total income amount has been calculated, it will be compared with the living 
allowance / applicable amount, to determine whether the individual falls into Class A 
(income does not exceed applicable amount) or Class B (income greater than applicable 
amount).  
Persons in Class A will receive 100% Council Tax Reduction against their Council Tax 
liability, net of any Council Tax discounts under the Local Government Finance Act 1992) 
and less non-dependant deductions under Statutory Instrument 2012/ 2885 Schedule 1, 

paragraph 8. 
 
Persons in Class B will receive 100% Council Tax Reduction against their Council Tax 
liability, net of any Council Tax discounts, less non-dependant deductions and less 20% of 
the difference between their income and applicable amount. 
 
Where a person of pension credit age is not jointly liable for Council Tax with a second 
adult (or adults), but lives with a second adult (or adults) who is not their partner and does 
not pay rent in respect of the dwelling, they may fall under Class C, if conditions set out in 
Statutory Instrument 2012/ 2885, Schedule 3 are met.  
 
The following table sets out the reductions that, according to individual circumstances, 
may be applied to maximum daily Council Tax liability (after discounts). The alternative 

Agenda Item 7

Page 88



 

maximum Council Tax Reduction is calculated in relation to the income and circumstances 
of the second adult – the applicant’s income and capital is not taken into account.  
 

 
Second adult 

Alternative maximum Council Tax 
Reduction (net of discounts) due in 
respect of a day 

a) The second adult (or all second adults) 
are in receipt of Income Support, income-
related Employment and Support 
Allowance, state pension credit or income-
based Jobseeker’s Allowance.  

25% 

b) Where the gross income or aggregate 
gross income of any second adult(s) – 
disregarding benefits mentioned above - is:  
(i) less than £180.00 per week;  
(ii) not less than £180.00 but less than 
£235.00 per week. 

(i) 15%  
(ii) 7.5% 

c) If the dwelling is occupied by a full-time 
student(s) and a second adult/adults on 
state pension credit, income-based 
Jobseeker’s Allowance, income-related 
Employment and Support Allowance or 
Income Support. 

100% 

 
If it appears to the Council that the claimant is entitled to a Class C reduction at the same 
time as means tested Class A or Class B Council Tax Reduction, a comparison of the two 
reductions will be made. The claimant will then be awarded the greater reduction of the 
two.  
 
6.0 Extended reductions 
 
Statutory Instrument 2012/ 2885, Schedule 1, paragraph 43 prescribes that an individual who 
is:  

(i) approaching pension credit eligible age, and who is  
(ii) in receipt of a local Council Tax Reduction and not in receipt of working age benefits 
(Income Support, income-basedJobseeker’s Allowance, income-related Employment and 
Support Allowance), or  
(iii) whose partner has claimed state pension credit, will continue to receive an extended 
reduction of their localised Council Tax Reduction for a prescribed period of four weeks, 
whilst they or their partner apply for the state pension credit eligible age scheme.  
 
From the point at which the person already in receipt of a Council Tax Reduction reaches 
the eligible age for pension credit they will, for the prescribed extended reduction period of 
four weeks, be entitled to whatever award is greater – the Local Scheme 2013 – 2014 
reduction for working age claimants or the reduction under the national framework of rules 

and eligibility for those of state pension credit eligible age. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 7

Page 89



 

6.1 Extended reductions – qualifying contributory benefits – i.e. severe disablement 
allowance; incapacity benefit; or contributory employment and support allowance  
 
Statutory Instrument 2012/ 2885, Schedule 1, paragraphs 38 to 42 set out that a person in 
receipt of one of the above benefits, who ceases to receive that benefit because they have 
returned to work, increased their earnings or increased their hours (and where that 
improvement in their situation is expected to last five weeks or more), will continue to 
receive a Council Tax Reduction calculated as if they were still in receipt of these benefits 
for four weeks (where the resulting reduction amount is greater than the reduction amount 
taking into account their loss of these benefits).  
 
If a pension credit age person moves from Sefton to the area of a new Local Authority, in 
the period from the Monday following the move to the point where entitlement to the 
qualifying benefit ceases (when the extended reduction rule applies), Sefton will pay the 
second billing authority or the individual their reduction amount for the extended period. 
 
If the person applies for a Council Tax Reduction in the second Local Authority, the 
second authority will net off the reduction amount received from Sefton. Any balance of 
reduction award will be paid to the claimant (and the full amount will be paid to the 
claimant if there is no Council Tax liability in the second local authority). After the 
extended reduction period ends, Sefton’s liability in relation to extended reductions will 
cease and the new authority’s reduction will apply.  

 
7.0 Applications 
 
Statutory Instrument 2012/ 2885, Schedule 7, paragraphs 1 to 7 prescribe the procedure by 

which a person may apply for Council Tax Reduction: 
 
A person may apply in writing using the Council’s application form for that purpose and 
sending it to the address designated by the Council for that purpose. (See Contact Details 
on page 27) 
 
A person may complete an application form for Council Tax Reduction online via the 
Council’s website. 
 
A person may complete an application form for Council Tax Reduction by telephone. An 
appointment to do this can be obtained by telephoning 0845 140 0845.  
 
A person may apply for Council Tax Reduction by visiting a local One Stop Shop and 
completing an application online with a customer services advisor.  
 
Any application form must be signed by the claimant and may also be signed by their 
partner if applicable and shall be supported by such information or evidence as is 
reasonably required to enable entitlement to be determined.  
 
The Council shall not determine entitlement for an incomplete claim including one that is 
not signed until the relevant information, signature or both as appropriate is received.  At 
all times, this should be provided within a period of one month from the date of the Council 
request or such longer period as may be reasonable in the circumstances.  
 
A person who is in receipt of Council Tax Benefit immediately before 1 April 2013 is to be 
treated as having made an application for a reduction under the Local Scheme 2013 - 
2014.  

Agenda Item 7

Page 90



 

Where an individual has, prior to 1 April 2013, made an application for Council Tax Benefit 
which has not been determined by 1 April 2013, that individual is to be treated as having 
made an application for a reduction under the Local Scheme 2013 - 2014.  
A claim for Council Tax Reduction may be amended or withdrawn in writing by the 
claimant at any time prior to the Council making a decision regarding entitlement.  
 
The Council shall accept the withdrawal of an application where it has not yet made a 
decision concerning entitlement. This shall have effect on the same day that the 
notification was received by the Council.  
 
8.0 Entitlement 

 
Statutory Instrument 2012/ 2885, Schedule 8, paragraph 6 prescribes that people of pension-
credit eligible age will be able to backdate their applications by up to three months, 
provided they were entitled to pension-credit age reduction for all of the backdated period.  
 
In all other cases, the start of entitlement to Council Tax Reduction for pensioners is 
covered by Statutory Instrument 2012/ 2885, Schedule 1 paragraph 45 and Statutory 
Instrument 2012/ 2885, Schedule 8, paragraph 5 governs the date on which a claim is to be 
treated as made.  
 

If a claimant notifies the Council of an intention to claim Council Tax Reduction and 
submits their application form using one of the specified methods within one month of it 
being issued (or such longer period as may be reasonable in the circumstances), for 
example, the date of the claim shall be the date they notified their intention to claim. Any 
entitlement to Council Tax Reduction would then be awarded from the Monday following 
that date.  
 
If a claimant applies for Council Tax Reduction within one month of the death or 
separation from their partner and the partner was in receipt of Council Tax Reduction at 
the time of their death or separation, the date of claim shall be the date of the death or 
separation in question and any entitlement to Council Tax Reduction shall be awarded 
from the Monday following the date of their claim. 
 
A person treated as being in Great Britain can apply for Council Tax Reduction up to 13 
weeks prior to an event that would entitle them to Council Tax Reduction.  
 
A person treated as being in Great Britain can apply for Council Tax Reduction up to 8 
weeks prior to becoming liable for Council Tax at their home.  
 
Entitlement to a Council Tax Reduction may change or cease if there is a change of 
circumstances or be terminated if the claimant fails to respond to a request for information 
or evidence within one month or such longer period as may be considered reasonable in 
the circumstances. 
 
9.0 Decisions  
 
Statutory Instrument 2012/ 2885, Schedule 8, paragraphs 11 and 12 require the Council to 
notify the applicant in writing of its decision within 14 days from the date that all relevant 
information and evidence relating to the application has been received, or as soon as 
reasonably practicable thereafter. The written notification will include information on how 
an appeal can be made by the applicant. 
 
 

Agenda Item 7

Page 91



 

10.0 Changes of circumstance 
 
Statutory Instrument 2012/ 2885, Schedule 1, paragraph 46 sets out the dates from which 
various changes of circumstance are to take effect. In addition, paragraph 47 prescribes 
the dates from which changes of circumstance in relation to awards of state pension credit 
will be taken into account. 
  
Statutory Instrument 2012/ 2885, Schedule 8, paragraph 9 prescribes that a relevant change 
of circumstances should be notified within a period of 21 days (including the day on which 
the change occurs).  
 
11.0 Time and manner of granting relief and recoveries / over-payments 
 
Matters relating to the payment of a reduction are prescribed by Statutory Instrument 2012/ 
2885, Schedule 8, Paragraph 14 and those relating to overpayments by the Council Tax 
(Administration and Enforcement) Regulations 1992 (Statutory Instrument 1992/ 613). 

 
Matters relating to the time and manner of granting reduction and dealing with under-
payments will be as provided for in the prescribed scheme. 
 
This will include payments to next of kin where a person in receipt of a Council Tax 
Reduction dies, allowing the billing authority to make payment of the reduction amount to 
their personal representative or next of kin. 
 
Where the Council Tax Payer is entitled to an increase or decrease in their reductions 
following a reported change of circumstance, the Council can issue an amended Council 
Tax bill taking into account the increase or decrease in liability. 
 
12.0 Department for Work and Pensions changes to State Pension Credit Age 
 
The Department for Work and Pensions is intending to make changes to the way in which 
new applicants comprising couples of mixed age (i.e. where one member of the couple 
has attained state pension credit qualifying age and one has not) are treated for new 
applications. Currently, such couples would generally be treated under pension credit age 
regulations apart from a few exceptions. 
 
It is anticipated that this new measure to be implemented by the Department for Work and 
Pensions at some point in the next two years will apply to new pension credit applications 
only. It is likely to mean that in future (from the point of change and for new applicants 
only) that it will not be possible for a couple to claim pension credit until both members 
have reached the qualifying age. It is anticipated that such couples will have access to 
Universal Credit, however, if they meet all the other eligibility criteria. 
 
The Government proposes to align this change for new applicants to local Council Tax 
Reduction schemes on the same basis once it takes effect, so that Councils do not find 
themselves defining an individual in a mixed age couple differently from the way they are 
defined by the Department for Work and Pensions. It is the Government’s intention that 
mixed age couples already applying for or receiving a pension-credit age Council Tax 
Reduction at the point of change (whether or not they are also receiving pension credit), 
will retain pension-credit age Council Tax Reduction whilst their entitlement continues.  
 
 
 

Agenda Item 7

Page 92



 

13.0 Procedure by which a person can an appeal any decision of the authority which 
affects (a) the person’s entitlement to a reduction under the Local Scheme 2013 - 2014 

or (b), the amount of any reduction to which the person is entitled. 
 
A claimant or a person acting on their behalf may appeal against the Council’s decision 
concerning entitlement to a reduction under the Local Scheme 2013 - 2014 or the amount 
of a reduction by writing to the Council at its designated office specifying the nature of the 
appeal and the grounds on which the appeal is made.  
 
The Council will consider the appeal and notify the applicant in writing of the outcome of 
their appeal and the reasons for the decision.  
 
Where the Council has considered the appeal and notified the applicant of the outcome in 
writing but they remain dissatisfied, or a response has not been given within a period of 
two months from the date of the written appeal, the applicant may further appeal to a 
Valuation Tribunal under section 16 of the 1992 Local Government Finance Act.  
 
Where a response is not provided by the Council within two months of the appeal being 
made, any subsequent appeal to a Valuation Tribunal shall be made within four months of 
the date that the original appeal was sent to the Council.  
 
The following specific matters shall not be the subject of an appeal under these 
provisions:  

Ø The local CTR scheme provisions as set by the Council  

Ø Any discretion applied to recover an overpayment of Council Tax Reduction  

Ø Who to recover an overpayment of Council Tax Reduction from  

Ø Suspending or restoring Council Tax Reduction  

Ø Any decision to refuse the grant of a reduction under Section 13A(1)(c) of the Local 
Government Finance Act 1992  

 
A claimant may also at any time in writing request the Council to review their entitlement 
to CTR or the amount of any reduction outside of the provisions for appeals detailed 
above. 
 
14.0 Procedure by which a person can apply to the authority for a reduction under 
section 13A (1) (c). 
 
A Council Tax Payer may apply for a reduction under Section 13A(1)(c)(a) of the Local 
Government Finance Act 1992. Such an application shall be made in writing to the Council 
at its designated office or by means of electronic communication and must give such 
details as are reasonable and necessary to enable the Council to properly consider the 
application. Such details should include but not be limited to the reason for the application, 
the circumstances and context in which the application is made and the period for which 
the application is made. 

Agenda Item 7

Page 93



 

Local Council Tax Reduction Scheme for persons who are not pensioners 

15.0 Introduction 
 
The amount of support will be based upon individual circumstances and changes of 
circumstances will also be taken into account.  
 
As well as the three classes of entitled persons that are covered by Statutory Instrument 
2012 / 2885, there will be two classes for persons who are not pensioners and for each 
there will be a number of qualifying criteria.  
 
In all cases, individuals must not be of a prescribed class exempted from support, such as 
a person from abroad with limited leave to remain as outlined previously in this document 
(paragraph 2.1, page 4).  
 
In classes D and E below, the amount of a claimant’s maximum Council Tax Reduction in 
respect of a day for which they are liable to pay Council Tax, shall be 80 per cent of the 
amount Q divided by R, less any deductions in respect of non-dependants, where:  

 

• Q = the amount set by the Council as the Council Tax for the relevant financial year 
in respect of the dwelling in which they are a resident and for which they are liable, 
after any discount which may be appropriate to that dwelling under the Local 
Government Finance 1992 Act; and,  

• R = the number of days in that financial year,  

 
In calculating a person’s maximum Council Tax Reduction any decrease in the amount 
that person is liable to pay as a consequence of any enactment made by or under the 
Local Government Finance Act 1992 such as Disabled Person’s Relief, for example, shall 
also be taken into account.  
 
Where a claimant is jointly and severally liable for Council Tax in respect of their home 
with one or more other persons but excepting any person residing with the claimant who is 
a student excluded from entitlement to local Council Tax Reduction, in determining the 
maximum Council Tax Reduction in their case, the amount Q shall be divided by the 
number of persons who are jointly and severally liable for that tax.  
 
Where a claimant is jointly and severally liable for Council Tax in respect of a dwelling with 
only their partner, the paragraph immediately above shall not apply. 
 
In any case where an extended reduction or an extended reduction (severe disablement 
allowance and incapacity benefit) has been allowed to a claimant, their entitlement shall 
be adjusted in such circumstances and by such an amount as defined within the Local 
Scheme 2013 - 2014.  
 
Within the Local Scheme 2013 – 2014 set out below, a reference is made in Class E to a 
prescribed percentage of 20% where a claimant’s weekly income exceeds their weekly 
applicable amount (Living needs). 
 
Council Tax Reduction entitlement shall be calculated based upon a daily Council Tax 
liability. In line with Statutory Instrument 2012 / 2886, Paragraph 17, the prescribed 
percentage referred to within Sefton’s scheme, particularly for Class E shall be 2 6 ⁄ 7 per 
cent (which equates to 20% in weekly terms and is referred to within our proposed 
scheme).  

Agenda Item 7

Page 94



 

 
15.1 Classes of persons who are entitled to a reduction under the scheme  
 
Class D 

The individual must:  

Ø be a person who has not yet attained the qualifying age for state pension credit,  

Ø be liable to pay Council Tax in respect of a dwelling in which they are resident,  

Ø be somebody in respect of whom a maximum Council Tax Reduction amount can be 
calculated;   

Ø have applied for the scheme;  

Ø be a person in respect of whom a day in which they are liable to pay Council Tax falls 
within a week in respect of which the person’s income does not exceed their applicable 
amount (Living needs).  

 
The individual or couple must not have capital or savings above £6,000. 
 
Class E 

The individual must:  

Ø be a person who has not yet attained the qualifying age for state pension credit,  

Ø be liable to pay Council Tax in respect of a dwelling in which they are resident,  

Ø be somebody in respect of whom a maximum Council Tax Reduction amount can be 
calculated,  

Ø have applied for the scheme; 

Ø be a person in respect of whom a day in which s/he is liable to pay Council Tax falls 
within a week in respect of which the person’s income is greater than their applicable 
amount (Living needs as defined in Statutory Instrument 2012 / 2886, paragraphs 26 
to 28), 

Ø be a person for whom Class D is not fulfilled, but amount X exceeds amount Y, where 
amount X equals the appropriate maximum Council Tax liability in their case and 
amount Y equals a prescribed percentage (20%) of the difference between their 
income in respect of the week in which the day falls and the appropriate applicable 
amount in their case. 

The individual or couple must not have capital or savings above £6,000. 
 
The Local Scheme 2013 – 2014 does not include an alternative maximum Council Tax 
Reduction for persons who are not pensioners (called Class C on page 7).  
 
16.0 Reductions attracted by classes: awards for persons who are not pensioners 
 
16.1 Class D Reduction 
 
If an individual matches the criteria in Class D, including that their income does not 
exceed their applicable amount (Living needs), that person qualifies for a maximum 
Council Tax Reduction entitlement equivalent to a maximum 80% of their weekly Council 
Tax liability (i.e. after discounts and any other relevant deductions) and after any relevant 
non-dependant deductions as described in 17.3 below.  
An individual in receipt of Income Support, income-related Jobseeker’s Allowance or 
income-related Employment and Support Allowance will have income and earnings 
counted as zero. The same shall apply to capital held that totals less than £6,000. This 

Agenda Item 7

Page 95



 

means that the individual’s income will automatically be less than their applicable amount 
(Living needs), and they will qualify for a maximum Council Tax Reduction entitlement 
equivalent to a maximum 80% of their weekly Council Tax liability (i.e. after discounts and 
any other relevant deductions) and after any relevant non-dependant deductions as 
described in 17.3 below. 
 
With the introduction of Universal Credit, which will start to replace income-related benefits 
for new applicants over a period of years from October 2013, the income and capital of 
people who receive Universal Credit will be treated in accordance with Statutory 
Instrument 2012 / 2886 paragraph 37.  
 
16.2 Class E Reduction 
 
If an individual matches the criteria in Class E, it will mean that the individual’s income is 
greater than their applicable amount (Living needs).  The maximum Council Tax 
Reduction for that person will be equivalent to a maximum 80% of their weekly Council 
Tax liability (i.e. after discounts and any other relevant deductions) and after any relevant 
non-dependant deductions, less 20% of the difference between their weekly income and 
applicable amount. 
 
The Local Scheme 2013 - 2014 does not include an alternative maximum Council Tax 
Reduction for persons who are not pensioners.  
 
16.3 Non-dependant deductions 
 
Once a reduction amount is calculated, it is subject to a downward adjustment to take into 
account non-dependant adults that normally reside in the dwelling and who would be 
expected to contribute toward Council Tax liability.  
 
Subject to the exceptions stated under Statutory Instrument 2012/ 2886, Paragraph 30 the 
weekly amounts of deductions to be applied in the Local Scheme 2013 – 2014 are: 
 

 
Description of Deduction 

Amount of 
Deduction 

Non-dependant in receipt of Income Support, Income-based 
Jobseeker’s Allowance, income-related Employment and Support 
Allowance, or Pension Credit 

 
Nil 

Non-dependant not in remunerative work £2.00 

Non-dependant in remunerative work with a gross income of less 
than £183 per week 

£2.00 

Non-dependant in remunerative work with a gross income of £183 
per week or over 

£5.00 

 
16.4 Determination of class and award 
Determination of the class the individual is put into, and the reduction they will receive, 
shall be determined in respect of Classes D and E through means testing.  

 
 
 

Agenda Item 7

Page 96



 

16.5 Means-test for Classes D and E 
 
The means test compares income and a living allowance (known as the applicable 
amount). The way in which these elements will be defined and evaluated is explained in 
greater detail below. 
 
16.6 Living allowance – the applicable amount 
 
The individual’s living allowance or applicable amount will be made up of four elements. 
These will be:  
 
1. A personal allowance in respect of the applicant,  

2. An amount in respect of any child or young person who is part of their family,  

3. A family premium element (where the applicant is part of a family of which at least one 
member is a child or young person), and  

4. Any premium amount (set out in regulations) that is applicable to the individual.  
 
The elements and calculation method for the applicable amount (Living needs) will be as 
set out in Statutory Instrument 2012 / 2886, paragraphs 26 to 28. 
 
17.0 Calculation of Income and capital 
 
Income and capital will be calculated for a person who has not attained the qualifying age 
for state pension credit in line with existing provisions for Council Tax Benefit under 
Statutory Instrument 2012 / 2886 paragraphs 47 to 70 (excepting paragraph 68). The 
income and capital of a claimant’s partner or partners in the case of a polygamous 
marriage will continue to be treated as that of the applicant.  
 
Income or capital of any child or young person will not be treated as income or capital of 
the claimant. 
 
The Council shall be permitted to treat the income or capital of a non-dependant as if it 
were the income or capital of the applicant in a case where it appears to the Council that 
the two have entered into arrangements to take advantage of the scheme.  
 
Those on Income Support, income-based Jobseeker’s Allowance and income-related 
Employment and Support Allowance are exempt from this rule. 
 
There will be special treatment of income for those in receipt of Income Support, income-
based Jobseeker’s Allowance and income-related Employment and Support Allowance. 
 
For those in receipt of these benefits, the whole of their income will be disregarded. 
Provided that capital held is less than £6,000, this shall also be disregarded. This will 
mean that they automatically qualify, under Class D, for a maximum 80% Council Tax 
Reduction on their Council Tax liability less any non-dependant deductions. 
 
The income and capital of people who receive Universal Credit will be treated in 
accordance with Statutory Instrument 2012 / 2886 paragraph 37.  
17.1 Calculation of income (including Earnings and Benefits) 
 
War Pensions 

Statutory Instrument 2012/ 2886, Schedule 8, paragraph 20, allows for £10 to be disregarded 
from weekly war widow’s pension, war widower’s pension, war disablement pension and 

Agenda Item 7

Page 97



 

certain other guaranteed income payments including, for example, those madder under 
the Armed Forces and Reserve Forces Compensation Scheme.  
 
The Local Scheme 2013 - 2014 continues previous local arrangements whereby the 
remainder of any weekly war widow’s pension, war widower’s or war disablement pension 
are disregarded in full in the assessment of a claimant’s income.  
 
In General 

Other provisions relating to income, its calculation on a weekly basis, what is to be 
regarded as income and what is to be disregarded as income will operate in line with 
Statutory Instrument 2012 / 2886, paragraphs 47 to 62. In particular, earnings of employed 
earners and earnings of self-employed earners (both net of tax and National Insurance 
contributions) will be taken into account as set out in the aforementioned paragraphs. 
 
Amounts to be disregarded from an applicant’s weekly earnings are set out in Statutory 
Instrument 2012 / 2886 Schedule 7.  
 
Amounts to be disregarded in terms of income other than earnings are set out in Statutory 
Instrument 2012 / 2886 Schedule 8.  
 
Treatment of other income (in relation to which the applicant has deprived themselves of) 
will be calculated according to Statutory Instrument 2012/ 2886, Paragraph 56. 
 
17.2 Students 

Statutory Instrument 2012 / 2886, paragraphs 73 to 86 describe the way in which students 
are to be treated under the Local Scheme 2013 - 2014. This will generally mean that full-
time students and students who are not treated as being in Great Britain will be excluded 
from entitlement to Council Tax Reduction unless they meet one of the conditions 
specified within these paragraphs.  
 
17.3 Calculation of capital where this is not disregarded 

Other than the revised £6,000 capital and savings limit above which people will not qualify 
for CTR, the provisions relating to capital – including for example, what is to be regarded 
as capital and what is to be disregarded - will generally operate in line with Statutory 
Instrument 2012 / 2886, paragraphs 63 to 70 (excluding paragraph 68). 
 
Amounts to be disregarded as capital in the Local Scheme 2013 - 2014 are defined in 
Statutory Instrument 2012 / 2886 Schedule 10. 
 
There is also provision for certain elements of income to be treated as capital (for 
example, in relation to certain lump sum payments or tax arrears).  
 
17.4 Notional capital 

Individuals may be treated as possessing capital of which they have deprived themselves 
for the purposes of securing Council Tax reductions. This notional capital (of which the 
individual is treated as being in possession) will be reduced over time to reflect payment of 
additional Council Tax liabilities incurred.  
 
Notional capital excludes the value of any holding in a company where the applicant is the 
sole owner or partner (or where they hold an analogous position), but will include an 
amount of capital equal to the value (or their share of the value of) the capital of such a 

Agenda Item 7

Page 98



 

company. This notional capital (which the individual is treated as possessing) will be 
reduced over time to reflect payment of additional Council Tax liabilities incurred 
 
17.5 Tariff income 
 
Tariff income for capital held does not apply to working age claims under the Local 
Scheme 2013 - 2014.  
 
18.0 Calculation of Reductions 
 
Once the total income amount has been calculated, it will be compared with the applicable 
amount (Living needs) to determine whether the individual falls into Class D (income does 
not exceed applicable amount) or Class E (income greater than applicable amount). 
 
18.1 Calculation of Class D 
 
Persons in Class D will receive a maximum 80% Council Tax Reduction for their Council 
Tax liability (net of any Council Tax discounts and reductions made by or under the Local 
Government Finance Act 1992) less any non-dependant deductions made as set out 
within the Local Scheme 2013 - 2014.  
 
18.2 Calculation of Class E 
 
Persons in Class E will receive a maximum 80% Council Tax Reduction entitlement for 
their Council Tax liability (net of any Council Tax discounts and reductions made by or 
under the Local Government Finance Act 1992) less any non-dependant deductions made 
as set out within the Local Scheme 2013 - 2014, less a deduction of 20% of the difference 
between their weekly income (net of any disregarded income) and applicable amount 
(Living needs).  
 
19.0 Extended Reductions 
 
Provisions concerning extended reductions for working age claimants Classes D and E 
are set out within Statutory Instrument 2012 / 2886, paragraphs 95 to 104:  
 
19.1 Income Related Benefits 

An applicant (or their partner) in receipt of: 
Ø Employment and Support Allowance (Income-Related),  
Ø Job Seeker’s Allowance (Income-Based),  
Ø Job Seeker’s Allowance (Contribution-Based); or, 
Ø Income Support  
continuously for at least 26 weeks and who ceases to receive any of these benefits (other 
than Job Seeker’s Allowance (Contribution-Based) because they have returned to work, 
increased their earnings or increased their hours (and where that improvement in their 
situation is expected to last five weeks or more), will continue to receive a Council Tax 
Reduction.  
19.2 Qualifying Contributory Benefits 
 
An applicant (or their partner) in receipt of 
Ø Employment and Support Allowance (Contribution-Based); 
Ø Incapacity Benefit;  
Ø Severe Disablement Allowance; or, 
Ø any combination of these 

Agenda Item 7

Page 99



 

continuously for at least 26 weeks, who ceases to receive that benefit because they have 
returned to work, increased their earnings or increased their hours (and where that 
improvement in their situation is expected to last five weeks or more), will continue to 
receive a Council Tax Reduction. 
 
In both 20.1 and 20.2 above, the extended reduction will be calculated as if they were still 
in receipt of these benefits for four weeks where the resulting reduction amount is greater 
than the reduction amount would be if it were re-calculated to take into account their loss 
of these benefits.  
 
In both 20.1 and 20.2 above, if a person moves from Sefton to the area of a new Local 
Authority in the period from the Monday following the move to the point where entitlement 
to the qualifying benefit ceases (when the extended reduction rule applies), Sefton will pay 
the second billing authority or the individual their reduction amount for the extended 
period. 
 
If the person applies for a Council Tax Reduction in the second Local Authority, the 
second authority will net off the reduction amount received from Sefton. Any balance of 
reduction award will be paid to the claimant (and the full amount will be paid to the 
claimant if there is no Council Tax liability in the second local authority). 
  
After the extended reduction period, Sefton Council shall have no liability in respect of the 
claimant and the new Council’s Council Tax Reduction scheme shall apply as appropriate.  
 
20.0 Entitlement 
 
Any entitlement to Council Tax Reduction for persons who are not pensioners shall 
normally be awarded from the Monday following the date of receipt of a claim. This follows 
Statutory Instrument 2012/ 2885, Schedule 8 paragraph 5 which governs the date on which a 
claim is to be treated as made.  
 

If a claimant notifies the Council of an intention to claim Council Tax Reduction and 
submits their application form using one of the specified methods within one month of it 
being issued (or such longer period as may be reasonable in the circumstances), for 
example, the date of the claim shall be the date they notified their intention to claim. Any 
entitlement to Council Tax Reduction would then be awarded from the Monday following 
that date.  
 
If a claimant applies for Council Tax Reduction within one month of the death or 
separation from their partner and the partner was in receipt of Council Tax Reduction at 
the time of their death or separation, the date of claim shall be the date of the death or 
separation in question and any entitlement to Council Tax Reduction shall be awarded 
from the Monday following the date of their claim. 
A person treated as being in Great Britain can apply for Council Tax Reduction up to 13 
weeks prior to an event that would entitle them to Council Tax Reduction.  
 
A person treated as being in Great Britain can apply for Council Tax Reduction up to 8 
weeks prior to becoming liable for Council Tax at their home.  
 
Entitlement to a Council Tax Reduction may change or cease if there is a change of 
circumstances or be terminated if the claimant fails to respond to a request for information 
or evidence within one month or such longer period as may be considered reasonable in 
the circumstances. 
 

Agenda Item 7

Page 100



 

21.0 Decisions 
 
 Statutory Instrument 2012/ 2885, Schedule 8, paragraphs 11 and 12 require the Council to 
notify the applicant in writing of its decision within 14 days from the date that all relevant 
information and evidence relating to the application has been received, or as soon as 
reasonably practicable thereafter. The written notification will include information on how 
an appeal can be made by the applicant. 
 
22.0 Changes of circumstance 
 
Statutory Instrument 2012/ 2886, paragraph 107 sets out how various changes of 
circumstance are to be dealt with. 
 

Statutory Instrument 2012/ 2885, Schedule 8, paragraph 9 prescribes that a relevant change 
of circumstances should be notified within a period of 21 days (including the day on which 
the change occurs). 
 
23.0 Time and manner of granting reduction and recoveries / over-payments 

Matters relating to the payment of a reduction are prescribed by Statutory Instrument 2012/ 
2885, Schedule 8 Paragraph 14 and those relating to overpayments by the Council Tax 
(Administration and Enforcement) Regulations 1992 (Statutory Instrument 1992/ 613).. 

 
Matters relating to the time and manner of granting reduction and dealing with under-
payments will be as provided for in the prescribed scheme. 
 
This will include payments to next of kin where a person in receipt of a Council Tax 
Reduction dies, allowing the billing authority to make payment of the reduction amount to 
their personal representative or next of kin. 
 
Where the Council Tax Payer is entitled to an increase or decrease in their reductions 
following a reported change of circumstance, the Council can issue an amended Council 
Tax bill taking into account the increase or decrease in liability. 
 
24.0 Wider welfare changes to benefits – Universal Credit and Personal 
Independence Payments 

The Government intends to reflect any relevant changes to the welfare and benefits 
system in regulations. In particular, it is intended that Universal Credit will be introduced 
for some new and existing claimants from October 2013 and migration will take place over 
four years.  
 
A number of benefits and tax credits (Income Support, income-based Jobseeker’s 
Allowance, income-related Employment and Support Allowance, housing benefit, working 
tax credit and child tax credit and others mentioned in mentioned in Statutory Instrument 
2012 / 2885 and 2886) are expected to be incorporated within Universal Credit. 
The Local Scheme 2013-2014 will therefore calculate the income and capital of persons 
who are not pensioners and who receive Universal Credit in accordance with Statutory 
Instrument 2012 / 2886, Paragraph 37.  
  
25.0 Annual Updates 
 

The Local Government Finance Act 2012 stipulates that a local authority must, each 
financial year, ‘consider whether to revise its scheme or replace it with another 
scheme’. Any updates to the scheme as it relates to persons who are not pensioners 

Agenda Item 7

Page 101



 

may therefore be considered no later than 31 January in the financial year preceding 
that for which the revision or replacement scheme is to have effect.  
 
26.0 Other Requirements Reflected in the Scheme for Persons who are not 
Pensioners   
 
Unless stated otherwise in this document, it is intended that other aspects of 
administration that may impact on the Council Tax Reduction award (particularly for the 
scheme for persons who are not pensioners) will continue.  
 
This includes provision for backdating for persons who are not pensioners in line with 
Statutory Instrument 2012 / 2886, Paragraph 112.       
 
27.0 Department for Work and Pensions changes to State Pension Credit Age 
 
The Department for Work and Pensions is intending to make changes to the way in which 
new applicants comprising couples of mixed age (i.e. where one member of the couple 
has attained state pension credit qualifying age and one has not) are treated for new 
applications. Currently, such couples would generally be treated under pension credit age 
regulations, apart from a few exceptions.  
 
It is anticipated that in future (from the point of change and for new pension credit 
applicants only) that it will not be possible for a couple to claim pension credit until both 
members have reached the qualifying age. It is anticipated that such couples will have 
access to Universal Credit, however, if they meet all the other eligibility criteria. 
 
The Government proposes to align this change for new applicants to local Council Tax 
Reduction schemes on the same basis once it takes effect, so that Councils do not find 
themselves defining an individual in a mixed age couple differently from the way they are 
defined by the Department for Work and Pensions.  
 
It is the Government’s intention that mixed age couples already applying for or receiving a 
pension-credit age Council Tax Reduction at the point of change (whether or not they are 
also receiving pension credit), will retain pension credit age Council Tax Reduction whilst 
their entitlement continues.  
 
28.0 Procedure by which a person may apply for a reduction under the Local 
Scheme 2013 - 2014 

Statutory Instrument 2012/ 2885, Schedule 7, paragraphs 1 to 7 prescribe the procedure by 

which a person may apply for Council Tax Reduction: 
 
A person may apply in writing using the Council’s application form for that purpose and 
sending it to the address designated by the Council for that purpose. (See Contact Details 
on page 27) 
 
A person may complete an application form for Council Tax Reduction online via the 
Council’s website. 
 
A person may complete an application form for Council Tax Reduction by telephone. An 
appointment to do this can be obtained by telephoning 0845 140 0845.  
 
A person may apply for Council Tax Reduction by visiting a local One Stop Shop and 
completing an application online with a customer services advisor.  

Agenda Item 7

Page 102



 

 
Any application form must be signed by the claimant and may also be signed by their 
partner if applicable and shall be supported by such information or evidence as is 
reasonably required to enable entitlement to be determined.  
 
The Council shall not determine entitlement for an incomplete claim including one that is 
not signed until the relevant information, signature or both as appropriate is received.  At 
all times, this should be provided within a period of one month from the date of the Council 
request or such longer period as may be reasonable in the circumstances.  
 
A person who is in receipt of Council Tax Benefit immediately before 1 April 2013 is to be 
treated as having made an application for a reduction under the Local Scheme 2013 - 
2014.  
 
Where an individual has, prior to 1 April 2013, made an application for Council Tax Benefit 
which has not been determined by 1 April 2013, that individual is to be treated as having 
made an application for a reduction under the Local Scheme 2013 - 2014.  
 
A claim for Council Tax Reduction may be amended or withdrawn in writing by the 
claimant at any time prior to the Council making a decision regarding entitlement.  
 
The Council shall accept the withdrawal of an application where it has not yet made a 
decision concerning entitlement. This shall have effect on the same day that the 
notification was received by the Council.  
 
29.0 Procedure by which a person can an appeal any decision of the authority which 
affects (a) the person’s entitlement to a reduction under the Local Scheme 2013 - 2014 

or (b), the amount of any reduction to which the person is entitled. 
 
A claimant or a person acting on their behalf may appeal against the Council’s decision 
concerning entitlement to a reduction under the Local Scheme 2013 - 2014 or the amount 
of a reduction by writing to the Council at its designated office specifying the nature of the 
appeal and the grounds on which the appeal is made.  
 
The Council will consider the appeal and notify the applicant in writing of the outcome of 
their appeal and the reasons for the decision.  
 
Where the Council has considered the appeal and notified the applicant of the outcome in 
writing but they remain dissatisfied, or a response has not been given within a period of 
two months from the date of the written appeal, the applicant may further appeal to a 
Valuation Tribunal under section 16 of the 1992 Local Government Finance Act.  
Where a response is not provided by the Council within two months of the appeal being 
made, any subsequent appeal to a Valuation Tribunal shall be made within four months of 
the date that the original appeal was sent to the Council.  
 
The following specific matters shall not be the subject of an appeal under these 
provisions:  

Ø The local CTR scheme provisions as set by the Council  

Ø Any discretion applied to recover an overpayment of Council Tax Reduction  

Ø Who to recover an overpayment of Council Tax Reduction from  

Ø Suspending or restoring Council Tax Reduction  

Agenda Item 7

Page 103



 

Ø Any decision to refuse the grant of a reduction under Section 13A(1)(c) of the Local 
Government Finance Act 1992  

 
A claimant may also at any time in writing request the Council to review their entitlement 
to CTR or the amount of any reduction outside of the provisions for appeals detailed 
above. 
 
30.0 Procedure by which a person can apply to the authority for a reduction under 
section 13A (1) (c). 
 
A Council Tax Payer may apply for a reduction under Section 13A(1)(c)(a) of the Local 
Government Finance Act 1992. Such an application shall be made in writing to the Council 
at its designated office or by means of electronic communication and must give such 
details as are reasonable and necessary to enable the Council to properly consider the 
application. Such details should include but not be limited to the reason for the application, 
the circumstances and context in which the application is made and the period for which 
the application is made. 

Agenda Item 7

Page 104



 

How to Contact Sefton 
You can write to us at: Sefton MBC, Benefits Section, PO Box 21, Bootle, L20 3US. 
 
You can phone: 0845 140 0845. Lines are open Monday to Friday 8am to 6pm. 
 
You can visit: 

our website at www.sefton.gov.uk/counciltax 
 
Bootle one stop shop 
324-342 Stanley Road 
Bootle 
Liverpool 
L20 3ET 
 
Southport one stop shop 
Cambridge Arcade 
Southport 
PR9 1DA 

Office Opening times are Monday to Friday, 9am to 5pm 
 
Sefton libraries 

Ainsdale Library, Liverpool Avenue, Ainsdale, Southport, PR8 3NE 01704 
577345 

Aintree Library, Altway, Aintree, L10 6LF     0151 526 
8503  

Birkdale Library, 240-244 Liverpool Road, Birkdale, Southport, PR8 4PD 01704 
567380 

Bootle Library, 220 Stanley Road, Bootle, L20 3EN   0151 934 5781 

Churchtown Library, Mill Lane, Churchtown, Southport PR9 7PL  01704 
228678 

College Road (Carnegie) Library, College Road, Great Crosby, L23 3DP0151 924 
5287 

Crosby Library, Crosby Road North, Waterloo, Liverpool, L22 0LQ 0151 257 6400 

Formby Library, Duke Street, Formby, Liverpool, L37 4AN   01704 
874177 

Litherland Library, Linacre Road, Litherland, L21 6NR   0151 928 
1357 

Meadows (Maghull) Library, Hall Lane, Maghull, Liverpool, L31 7BB 0151 228 
6727 

Netherton Library, Glovers Lane, Netherton, Liverpool, L30 3TL  0151 525 
0607 

Orrell Library, Linacre Lane, Orrell, L20 6ES    0151 922 3843 

Southport Library, Lord Street, Southport, PR8 1DJ   0151 934 2118 

Each Library has different opening times. Please phone your preferred library for 
details. 
 

Agenda Item 7

Page 105



Page 106

This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

Report to: Cabinet 
Council  

Date of 
Meeting: 

13 December 2012 
24 January 2013 

 
Subject: Capital Maintenance Grant 2012/13 - Additional Schemes    

 
 
Report of: Director of Young People & 

Families 
Wards Affected: Blundellsands, 

Litherland, Manor, 
Park, Ravenmeols & 
St Oswald 

 
Is this a Key Decision? No Is it included in the Forward Plan? No 
 
Exempt/Confidential? No 
 

 
Purpose/Summary 
 

The purpose of this report is to seek approval to the increase in Children’s Services 
Capital funding provision in order to proceed with the schemes detailed in this report. 
 
 
Recommendation(s) 
 
Cabinet is recommended to:- 
 

• Approve the allocation of £536,250 to the proposed schemes to be funded from 
Capital Maintenance Grant 2012/13; 

 

• Authorise the Director of Young People and Families to progress the projects in 
conjunction with Capita Symonds; 

 

• Recommend Council to approve the addition of the identified schemes totalling 
£536,250 into the Capital Programme. 

 
Council is recommended to:- 
 

• Agree to the Cabinet recommendation to include the schemes identified in this 
report, at a cost of £536,250, into the 2012/13 Capital Programme. 

 

Agenda Item 8

Page 107



 

How does the decision contribute to the Council’s Corporate Objectives? 
 

 Corporate Objective Positive 
Impact 

Neutral 
Impact 

Negative 
Impact 

1 Creating a Learning Community ü   

2 Jobs and Prosperity ü   

3 Environmental Sustainability ü   

4 Health and Well-Being ü   

5 Children and Young People ü   

6 Creating Safe Communities  ü  

7 Creating Inclusive Communities  ü  

8 Improving the Quality of Council 
Services and Strengthening Local 
Democracy 

ü   

 
 
Reasons for the Recommendation: 
The recommendation is made in accordance with the Authority’s constitution. 
 
What will it cost and how will it be financed? 
 
(A) Revenue Costs 
There are no revenue implications. 
 
(B) Capital Costs 
All funding for the proposed schemes is from the Capital Maintenance Grant and 
consists of the remaining unallocated balance of funding from the 2012/13 
Department for Education Capital allocation. 
 
Implications: 
 
The following implications of the proposals have been considered and where there 
are specific implications, these are set out below: 
 

Legal  
Final approval for new projects within the Capital Programme is required from 
Cabinet and Full Council under Paragraph 31 of Chapter 11 of the Constitution. 

 
Human Resources 
N/A 

 
Equality 
1. No Equality Implication      

2. Equality Implications identified and mitigated 

3. Equality Implication identified and risk remains  

ü 

 

 

Agenda Item 8

Page 108



 

 
Impact on Service Delivery: 
 
It is not anticipated that the additional works will lead to any impact upon services. 
 
 
What consultations have taken place on the proposals and when? 
 
The Head of Corporate Finance & ICT Strategy (FD 1948/12) has been consulted 
and would confirm the balance of unallocated Capital allocations is as stated in the 
report (£536,250). 
 
The Head of Corporate Legal Services (LD 1265/12) has been consulted and has 
incorporated changes to Legal implications. 
 
 
Are there any other options available for consideration? 
Not applicable. 
 
 
Implementation Date for the Decision 
Following the expiry of the “call-in” period for the Minutes of the Cabinet Member 
Meeting. 
 
 
Contact Officer: Ivan Guy 
Tel: 0151 934 3429 
Email: Ivan.Guy@sefton.gov.uk 
 
 
Background Papers: 
There are no background papers available for inspection. 
 

Agenda Item 8

Page 109



 

Capital Maintenance Grant 2012-13: Additional Schemes 
 

 

1. Introduction/Background 
  
1.1 A Government Capital Grant allocation totalling £3,198,000 was received in 

2012/13 in respect of Children’s Services. This comprised Basic Need Grant 
(£781,000) and Capital Maintenance Grant (£2,417,000). 

  
1.2 Subsequently Cabinet and Full Council, at the meetings held on 24 May 2012 

and 5 July 2012 respectively, considered a report of the Head of Corporate 
Finance and ICT and approved an interim allocation of £2,661,750 to meet 
Children’s Services existing commitments and urgent requirements. 

  
1.3 The £536,250 funding balance remains available and Members are asked to 

consider the recommendations within this report and approve the allocation of 
the funding balance in order to meet Children’s Services outstanding priority 
requirements. 

  
  
2.0 Proposals 
  
2.1 Lydiate Primary School 

The heating pipework at this school is in poor condition and is prone to leaks.  
When a leak occurs repairs can not be remedied quickly due to the presence of 
asbestos within the ducts. It is therefore necessary to adopt a planned approach 
fro the removal of the asbestos and replacement of the heating pipework. 

  
2.2 Funding of £57,000 was provided within the 2012/13 approved new starts 

programme to carry out the most urgent elements of these planned works. 
However, during these works and following the recent commencement of the 
heating season, it has become apparent that elsewhere pipework has 
deteriorated further than anticipated. Temporary measures have been put in 
place to extend the life of the pipework but works to affect a permanent solution 
are now urgent. 

  
2.3 It is proposed that a further phase of planned asbestos removal and pipework 

replacement work be progressed as soon as possible. The estimated cost of 
these works is £150,000. 

  
2.4 Crosby High School 

Phase 1 of the additional accommodation required at Crosby High School was 
reported for inclusion in the Capital Programme 5 July 2012.  This additional 
accommodation was required at the school as a result of the cancellation of the 
BSF programme, which was to resolve 3 classrooms/45 pupils being educated 
off site.  Phase 1 has been completed September 2012. 

  
2.5 Phase 2 will address issues of sufficiency, suitability and Health & Safety with 

regard to the hall.  The school has only one hall which serves as the dining hall, 
sports hall and link corridor.  The impact of this one space being utilised for all 
three functions impacts on the management of the school and lessons for the 
pupils, which are limited in time and constant interruptions by staff and pupils 

Agenda Item 8

Page 110



 

needing to pass through. 
  
2.6 The school has a purpose built hydrotherapy pool which is not utilised by pupils 

but is maintained at a high cost to the school for a limited amount of external 
organisations.  The school now consider this a financial burden and are 
considering closing the facility as alternative provision is available in the area. 

  
2.7 Phase 3 is to provide an external link corridor between two main corridors thus 

by-passing the hall.  All areas of the school can be linked without disturbing the 
activities in the hall.   

  
2.8 Included in Phase 3 is the alterations to the existing heating plant to 

Hydrotherapy pool to include the new Sports Hall. 
  
2.9 Create an additional corridor to aid circulation around the school. 
  
2.10 Roof Works - Various Schools 

The annual condition review of school premises has identified roofing problems 
to a number of schools throughout the borough.  

  
2.11 The schools where the works are of the highest priority, and where failure to 

address the condition now could result in serious failure, are Grange Primary, 
Netherton; Linacre Primary, Bootle; Redgate Primary, Formby; Valewood 
Primary, Crosby and Netherton Moss Primary, Netherton. 

  
2.12 The proposed additional works, together with their estimated costs, are set out 

in Annexe 1 to this report. 
  
  
3. Financial Implications 
  
3.1 A report identifying a number of proposed schemes to be included in the 

Children’s Services 2012/13 Capital Programme was reported to Cabinet and 
Council in May 2012, which resulted in a partial allocation of Capital 
Maintenance Grant, leaving an unallocated balance of £536,250. 

  
3.2 The estimated costs of the schemes in this report have been provided by the 

Council’s consultant, Capita Symonds and are inclusive of all fees and 
contingencies where appropriate. 

  
3.3 There are no financial implications for the Council as the schemes, if approved, 

will be funded from the remaining Capital Maintenance Grant of £536,250, 
resulting in a full allocation of the Grant. 

  
3.4 The Head of Corporate Finance and ICT (FD 1948/12) comments that all the 

proposed schemes outlined in this report can be fully funded from specific 
resources. 

  
 

Agenda Item 8

Page 111



 

Annex 1 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Table of Additional Condition Works 
 

 

Scheme School Project  Estimated 
Cost  

Lydiate Primary Lydiate Primary Ducts & 
Asbestos 

£150,000  

Crosby High Crosby High Heating Plant 
Alterations 

£140,000 

 Crosby High Link Corridor £85,000 

Various Schools Grange Primary Roof Works £40,000 

 Linacre Primary Roof Works £18,000 

 Redgate Primary Roof Works £40,000 

 Valewood Primary Roof Works £11,250 

 Netherton Moss Primary Roof Works £52,000 

 Total  £536,250 
 

Agenda Item 8

Page 112



 

 

Report to: Audit and Governance Committee   Date of Meeting: 12 December 2012 
  Council                                                                   24 January 2013 
   
Subject: Neighbourhood Planning Scheme of Delegation 
 
Report of: Director of Built Environment  Wards Affected: All 
 
Is this a Key Decision?   Yes Is it included in the Forward Plan? Yes 
 
Exempt/Confidential        No  
 

 
Purpose/Summary 
 
To seek approval to matters relating to delegation and financial matters on this new area 
of planning introduced by the Localism Act 2011 in order to provide certainty to the 
proposed Neighbourhood Plan-making and decision-making process, by setting out 
Member and officer responsibilities so that the actions the Council has to take are taken 
in a consistent and timely manner. 
 
These will need to be included in the Council’s constitution. The constitution therefore 
needs to be amended to clarify the role of Ward Councillors, Area Committees, Planning 
Committee, Cabinet Members, Cabinet and Council and any delegation to the senior 
officers. Not only is this good practice and ensures transparency about the process, but it 
will also ensure that the roles of the different committees etc are agreed before any 
application to form a Neighbourhood Forum or designate a Neighbourhood Plan area is 
received. 
 
Recommendations  
 
That the Council be recommended to give approval to the inclusion of following issues in 
the Council Constitution: 
 
(1) that all Ward Councillors, together with Members of any ward whose boundary 

abuts or is likely to be affected by proposals in a proposed Neighbourhood Plan 
area, should be notified in writing when an application to establish a 
Neighbourhood Plan area or a Neighbourhood Forum is submitted to the Local 
Planning Authority; 

 
(2) that all relevant Members be notified when key stages of the Neighbourhood Plan-

making process is reached by email and at the first available Area Committee 
meeting; 

 
(3) the Planning Committee being asked if they have any views on a proposal to 

designate a Neighbourhood Plan area, or to designate a Neighbourhood Plan 
area as a ‘Business’ Neighbourhood Plan area; 

 
(4) the Cabinet Member – Regeneration and Tourism be given delegated authority to 

determine applications relating to the area to be covered by a proposed 
Neighbourhood Plan when it is not likely to impact on a significant number of 

Agenda Item 9

Page 113



 

people in two or more wards; and the Cabinet to be given delegated authority to 
determine applications relating to neighbourhood planning applications relating to 
the extent of the area to be covered by a proposed Neighbourhood Plan when it is 
likely to impact on a significant number of people in two or more wards (i.e. is 
likely to be a Key Decision); 

 
(5) that the Cabinet Member – Communities and Environment be given delegated 

authority to determine whether a proposed Neighbourhood Forum adequately 
represents the local community and that they are properly constituted; 

 
(6) that the Planning Committee be given delegated authority to determine whether 

the appropriate legal requirements have been met i.e. that the Neighbourhood 
Plan is in general conformity with the Development Plan; and the requirements of 
the Habitats Regulations and the Environmental Impact Assessment Regulations 
have been met; 

 
(7) that the Head of Planning Services be given delegated authority to identify and 

appoint an appropriate person to examine the Neighbourhood Plan.  Such an 
appointment to be made in conjunction with the Neighbourhood Forum or Parish 
Council who submitted the plan, and the decision being reported to the Planning 
Committee and the Cabinet Member – Regeneration and Tourism; 

 
(8) that the Cabinet should determine the area(s) within which the referendum/a on a 

proposed Neighbourhood Plan should be held, taking into account the views of 
the Planning Committee and the Cabinet Member – Regeneration and Tourism; 

 
(9) that the same scheme of delegation should apply to decisions relating to the 

making of Neighbourhood Development Orders and Community Right to Build 
Orders as to Neighbourhood Plans i.e. that these decisions are delegated to the 
Cabinet taking into account the views of the Cabinet Member – Regeneration and 
Tourism and the Planning Committee; 

 
(10) that any decision relating to the modification or revocation of a Neighbourhood 

Plan, Neighbourhood Development Order or Community Right to Build Order 
should be made by the Cabinet, except where the change is being made to 
correct an error, in which case the decision should be delegated to the Head of 
Planning Services; and 

 
(11) that any decision relating to the de-designation of a Neighbourhood Plan Forum 

should be delegated to the Cabinet. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 9

Page 114



 

 
How does the decision contribute to the Council’s Corporate Objectives? 
 

 Corporate Objective Positive 
Impact 

Neutral 
Impact 

Negative 
Impact 

1 Creating a Learning Community  √  

2 Jobs and Prosperity  √  

3 Environmental Sustainability  √  

4 Health and Well-Being  √  

5 Children and Young People  √  

6 Creating Safe Communities  √  

7 Creating Inclusive Communities  √  

8 Improving the Quality of Council 
Services and Strengthening Local 
Democracy 

√   

 
Reasons for the Recommendation: 
 
This is a statutory function which was introduced by the Localism Act 2011, and which is 
not covered by the existing constitution. 
 
What will it cost and how will it be financed? 
 
(A) Revenue Costs 
 
There will be no cost and resource implications for the Council arising directly from this 
report. However, preparing a Neighbourhood Plan will have resource implications both 
for the Council and for any group considering preparing a Neighbourhood Plan. The 
costs will vary from plan to plan depending on the size of the area covered and the 
number and complexity of the issues included in it. These were described in detail in the 
report to Planning Committee on 25th July (Minute 39 refers). 
 
There are currently no specific budgets identified towards the support for such plans and 
Members would need to be kept informed of any future proposals to consider how 
resources might be found. 
 
A report on the financial aspects will be considered to the Cabinet Member: Corporate 
Services and Performance in January 2013.  
 
(B) Capital Costs: None 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 9

Page 115



 

Implications: 
 
The following implications of this proposal have been considered and where there are 
specific implications, these are set out below: 
 
Legal 
Neighbourhood Plans are part of the local planning Statutory Development Plan. Local 
Planning Authorities must provide support and make necessary decisions at key stages. 
 

Human Resources 
As indicated above, the Council is required to support local neighbourhoods produce 
their Neighbourhood Plan. Depending on the resources that the local community has, 
this could be quite resource intensive, and in the short term may deflect staff resources 
which would otherwise be employed on producing Sefton’s Local Plan. 
 
 
Equality 
1. No Equality Implication      

2. Equality Implications identified and mitigated 

3. Equality Implication identified and risk remains  

 
Impact on Service Delivery: 
 
Whilst it is a statutory requirement that the LPA supports local communities to prepare a 
Neighbourhood Plan if they want to, it is essential that the time spent by officers is not 
deflected from the time needed to prepare the Sefton Local Plan. 
 
What consultations have taken place on the proposals and when? 
 
The Head of Corporate Finance (FD1982) and Head of Corporate Legal Services 
(LD1299/12) have been consulted and any comments have been incorporated into the 
report. 
 
Are there any other options available for consideration? 
 
No, the preparation of Neighbourhood Plans forms part of the statutory Development 
Plan system. The Local Planning Authority is duty-bound to help any local community 
wishing to prepare a Neighbourhood Plan prepare one for their area. 
 
Implementation Date for the Decision 
 
Following the expiry of the “call-in” period for the Minutes of the Council 
 
Contact Officer: Ingrid Berry  
Tel: 0151 934 3556 
Email: Ingrid.berry@sefton.gov.uk 
 
 

NONE 

 

 

Agenda Item 9

Page 116



 

Background Papers: 
 
The following papers are available for inspection on the Council website: 
www.sefton.gov.uk/neighbourhoodplanning 
 
• Schedule 9, The Localism Act 2011 
• The National Planning Policy Framework (The Framework)  
• The Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012  
• The Neighbourhood Planning (Referendums) Regulations 2012  
• Letter to Local Planning Authorities, ‘Funding to support neighbourhood planning 

in 2012/13’, 29th August, 2012 
• ‘Neighbourhood Planning: a simple guide for ward councillors’, Local Government 

Association, June 2012  
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Agenda Item 9

Page 117



 

1. Introduction – What is Neighbourhood Planning and who does it? 
 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to brief Members about Neighbourhood Planning, 

including additions that will be needed to the Council’s constitution that are 
required  in order to create certainty to the plan-making and decision-making 
processes, and enable decisions to be taken in a timely manner.  

 
1.2 Neighbourhood Planning is a new tier of statutory planning that was introduced by 

the Localism Act 2011. It sits below the Local Plan (formerly the Core Strategy) in 
the Local Development Framework. It is currently not included within the Council’s 
constitution. It was introduced as a way of enabling communities to have a bigger 
and formal say in what local planning policies operate in their areas.   
 

1.3 The report sets out a proposed scheme of delegation in order to provide certainty 
to the proposed Neighbourhood Plan-making process, so that the actions the 
Council has to take are taken in a consistent and timely manner should any 
communities decide they wish to prepare a Neighbourhood Plan. Not only is this 
good practice and it will ensure transparency about the process if the roles of the 
different committees etc are agreed before any application to form a 
Neighbourhood Forum or designate a Neighbourhood Plan area is received. 

 
1.4 The constitution needs to be amended to clarify the role of Ward Councillors, Area 

Committees, Planning Committee, Cabinet Members, Cabinet and Council and 
any delegation to the senior officers. Not only is this good practice and ensures 
transparency about the process, but it would also ensure that the roles of the 
different committees etc are agreed before any application to form a 
Neighbourhood Forum or designate a Neighbourhood Plan area is received. 
 

1.5 Presentations on these new proposals have been given to Planning Committee, to 
all Area Committees, and the matter has been considered by the Cabinet 
Member: Regeneration and Housing. 

 
2. Neighbourhood Planning: Proposed scheme of delegation 
 
2.1 In accordance with the Local Authorities' Functions and Responsibilities 

Regulations 2000, the scheme of delegation relating to Neighbourhood 
Plan preparation will be approved by Council on 24th January, 2013 so that 
the arrangements are in place before any proposal is submitted. 

 
2.2 As this is a new process, it may be necessary to make amendments to the 

scheme of delegation as a result of emerging best practice or legal 
challenges etc. These are likely to be minor in nature. 

 
3. The role of ward members and Area Committees 
 
3.1 Good practice recommends that Ward Councillors and Area Committees should 

be encouraged to take on an advisory role, helping and supporting any Forum or 
Parish Council wishing to prepare a Neighbourhood Plan which encompasses 
land in their ward. The Planning Advisory Service has produced ‘Neighbourhood 
Planning: a simple guide for ward councillors’ which can be down-loaded at 
http://www.pas.gov.uk/pas/core/page.do?pageId=1175309. Presentations have 

Agenda Item 9

Page 118



 

been given to all Area Committees which outlined this new role and identified the 
importance of involvement of local ward members in the process. 

 
3.2 It is proposed that relevant Members will be informed as soon as an application to 

establish a Neighbourhood Plan area or create a Neighbourhood Forum is 
received, so that their comments can be considered by the body that decides on 
the application (see Recommendations 3 - 5). Members will also be kept up to 
date with regular updates when each stage of the Neighbourhood Plan 
preparation is reached, either individually, and / or via updates to Area Committee 
meetings. However, the latter could mean that there may be a time delay between 
when a stage is reached and the first available Area Committee meeting. 

 
3.3 The Neighbourhood Plan may cover a small area which could be centrally located 

within a ward, it could be close to a ward boundary, or it could encompass an area 
encompassing more than one ward. 

 
3.4 It is therefore proposed that the following should be notified when an application to 

establish a Neighbourhood Plan area or a Neighbourhood Forum is submitted: 
• All ward councillors whose area covers the proposed Neighbourhood Plan 
area; and 
• All Members of an adjoining ward whose ward abuts the proposed 
Neighbourhood Plan area, or whose area is likely to be affected by any proposals 
emerging in a nearby Neighbourhood Plan. 

 
3.5 It is not proposed that Ward and Area Committee Members would be involved in 

the formal decision-making process, but any comments they have will be taken 
into account by the person or body (Cabinet Member, Cabinet or Council) making 
the decision at each stage.  

 
3.6 These proposals are set out in Recommendations 1 and 2 above. 
 
4. Approval of Neighbourhood Plan areas 
 
4.1 The area to be covered by a Neighbourhood Plan, once it has been approved, will 

be directly linked to the statutory Development Plan as the Neighbourhood Plan 
will be used for determining planning applications in the Neighbourhood Plan area 
on the topics it covers. A Neighbourhood Plan may extend from a small area 
centrally located within one ward or on the boundary of a number of wards, or 
could extend to several wards or parishes. This could affect whether the 
Recommendation is a Key Decision or not. The Local Planning Authority (LPA) 
can decide to exclude parts of a proposed Neighbourhood Plan area (if justified) 
but cannot increase the area that will be covered. This decision could be subject 
to legal challenge such as judicial review. 

 
4.2 As the Neighbourhood Plan will ultimately be used in determining planning 

applications, it is proposed that, although the decision will be taken by Cabinet, 
Planning Committee should be asked for their views in deciding whether the area 
proposed for making a Neighbourhood Plan is appropriate or not. This is similar to 
their current role and responsibility in agreeing proposals for the Local Plan or 
Area Action Plans and other documents that could form part of the Development 
Plan. 

 

Agenda Item 9

Page 119



 

4.3 This decision would need to be ratified by Cabinet, especially if approval of the 
Neighbourhood Plan is likely to be a key decision because it is likely to have a 
significant impact on a significant number of people living or working in two or 
more Wards. However, a case could be argued that Neighbourhood Plans that are 
likely to have only a limited impact on a small number of people, and would not 
result in a key decision which should be taken by Cabinet, should be delegated to 
the Cabinet Member: Regeneration and Housing. 

 
4.4 Whilst it is unlikely, it is possible for a Neighbourhood Plan area to cover more 

than one Council's administrative area. It is proposed that the same 
considerations should apply as to a proposal for the designation of a 
Neighbourhood Plan area wholly in Sefton. 

 
'Business' Neighbourhood Plan areas 

 
4.5 If the LPA considers the area to be 'wholly or predominantly business in nature', it 

can designate a Neighbourhood Plan area as a 'business area'. This is important 
because if a Neighbourhood Plan is prepared for such an area, there has to be 
two referenda, one for residents and one for businesses. The implications of both 
referenda reaching different decisions are considered below. 

 
4.6 Like the previous decision, it is proposed that Planning Committee should be 

involved in this decision. It is suggested that areas where this may be a 
consideration would include areas designated in the UDP or proposed in the 
emerging Local Plan as predominantly a town, centre or local shopping centre, or 
as an existing or proposed Strategic Employment Site or a Commerce or Business 
Park, a Primarily Industrial Area, or within the Port and Maritime Zone, together 
with any adjacent hinterland, and where the proposed Neighbourhood Plan is 
intending to focus on land uses in the business area thus identified. 

 
4.7 Again, the scale of the proposals and the location of the proposed Neighbourhood 

Plan area will determine whether the Neighbourhood Plan is likely to have a 
significant impact on a significant number of people in two or more wards, and 
therefore be its approval will be a key decision. In the latter case, it is 
recommended that the decision should be taken by Cabinet. 

 
4.8 These proposals are set out in Recommendation 3 and 4 above. 
 
5. Involvement of Cabinet Member: Communities and Environment 
 
5.1 It is suggested that the Cabinet Member: Communities and Environment should 

determine whether the proposed Neighbourhood Forum adequately represents all 
interests and all parts of the proposed Neighbourhood Plan area. This decision 
could also be subject to judicial review. 

 
5.2 The question as to whether the Neighbourhood Forum is properly constituted, 

including a clause covering the preparation of a Neighbourhood Plan, is a 
technical requirement which is governed by the Neighbourhood Planning 
(General) Regulations 2012. The decision-maker would therefore be advised by 
the Head of Planning Services, in conjunction with the Head of Legal Services, as 
to whether the constitution meets the legal requirements.  

 

Agenda Item 9

Page 120



 

5.3 Once approved, the Neighbourhood Forum will exist for 5 years. They can apply 
for an extension, or, if no progress on the Neighbourhood Plan is being made, the 
Council can decide to decide to de-designate the Neighbourhood Forum (see 
section 9 below). 

 
5.4 These proposals are set out in Recommendation 5 above. 
 
6. Policy and Legal Requirements  
 
6.1 All Neighbourhood Plans have to comply with the Development Plan (currently 

RSS and the UDP unless these are out of date) and the National Planning Policy 
Framework where the Development Plan is out of date or silent. Once Sefton’s 
Local Plan is adopted that will be the key document.  

 
6.2 Whilst Neighbourhood Plans should not be prepared ahead of the Local Plan, 

because they need to be in general conformity with the strategic issues set out in 
the Local Plan, they could be prepared in parallel with it, with the referendum 
taking place soon after the Local Plan is adopted. This would enable local 
communities views about the future of their areas to be incorporated in the Local 
Plan and provide more local detail than would otherwise be the case. This also 
means that Neighbourhood Plans can help determine which sites should be 
allocated for development, and could even mean they could promote more 
development than the Local Plan. They cannot promote less development. 

 
6.3 Any policies in an approved Neighbourhood Plan will take precedence over 

policies in our adopted Local Plan when determining planning applications in the 
area covered by the Neighbourhood Plan. Neighbourhood Plans do not have to 
cover all the same topics or policy areas, but should focus on what is important to 
or different about their neighbourhood. This could mean that different policies 
apply in different parts of Sefton. 

 
6.4 Once a Neighbourhood Plan has been submitted prior to examination, it will be 

checked for general compliance with the planning framework. In addition, 
Neighbourhood Plans must be compliant with the requirements of the Habitats 
Regulations (which applies to any plan that is likely to have a significant effect on 
any 'European site'), the Environmental Impact Assessment Regulations where 
appropriate, and human rights obligations. The LPA is also required to check that 
all the correct documents have been submitted, including a consultation 
statement.  

 
6.5 It is recommended that Planning Committee should decide whether these 

requirements have been met.  
 
6.6 These proposals are set out in Recommendation 6 above. 
 
6.7 The relevant Neighbourhood Forum or Parish Council will be informed of these 

decisions, and therefore whether the Neighbourhood Plan can proceed to formal 
examination. 

 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 9

Page 121



 

7. Examination 
 
7.1 Having received a draft Neighbourhood Plan, the LPA has to appoint a suitably 

qualified person (the 'Examiner') to examine the submitted plan, in conjunction 
with the Neighbourhood Forum or Parish Council. This should be someone with a 
knowledge of planning and could include retired chartered Town planners, 
Planning Inspectors or a professor or senior person from one of the local 
universities. It is recommended that the appointment of the Examiner is delegated 
to the Head of Planning Services, who will inform Planning Committee and the 
Cabinet Member: Regeneration and Housing of the decision. 

 
7.2 The Regulations say that, as soon as possible after the appointment of the the 

Examiner, the LPA has to send the Neighbourhood Plan, a number of other 
documents and a copy of any representations received as a result of the Plan 
having been suitably publicised, to them. The costs associated with the 
examination will vary from plan to plan, depending on the complexity, area and 
number of issues to which the Neighbourhood Plan relates. CLG have estimated 
that this would typically cost £5,000 - £8,000 per Plan. The cost of the examination 
and associated publicity is paid for by the Council. 

 
7.3 These proposals are set out in Recommendation 7 above. 
 
8. Following receipt of the Examiner's report 
 
8.1 Following examination and receipt of the Examiner's report, the Parish Council or 

Neighbourhood Forum who prepared the Neighbourhood Plan decide whether 
they do or do not want to take the plan forward to a referendum, depending on 
whether they agree or disagree with the proposed Modifications suggested by the 
Examiner. If they disagree, they can decide to withdraw their Plan. 

 
8.2 The LPA has to arrange and pay for a referendum to be held.  
 
9. Holding a referendum 
 
9.1 The LPA has to decide who should be notified of the referendum. This may be a 
larger area than the plan area depending on the proposals and their wider impact. 
 
9.2 As indicated above, if the LPA decides that a Neighbourhood Plan area should be 
designated as a 'business area', it will be necessary to hold two referenda, one for 
residents and one for businesses. These may cover different areas. For example, a 
Neighbourhood Plan for an industrial area or town or village centre may only cover a 
small area, but the impact of any proposals will affect a broader residential hinterland. 
 
9.3 It is therefore recommended that this decision should be taken by Cabinet, taking 
into account the views of Planning Committee and the Cabinet Member: Regeneration 
and Housing. This would apply whether one or two referenda were required. 
 
9.4 These proposals are set out in Recommendation 8 above. 
 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 9

Page 122



 

10. Neighbourhood Development Orders and Community Right to Build Orders 
 
10.1 As well as preparing Neighbourhood Plans, local communities can also decide to 

make Neighbourhood Development Orders and Community Right to Build Orders. 
A Neighbourhood Development Order (NDO) is an Order that grants planning 
permission for specific development in any particular neighbourhood. A 
Community Right to Build Order is a type of NDO which gives groups of local 
people the power to deliver the development that their local community want. This 
could cover anything from building new homes or new community amenities, or 
approving changes of use of vacant properties to housing. Providing the 
Neighbourhood Forum or Parish Council can demonstrate overwhelming local 
support, the community will be given the power to carry out the specified 
developments without a formal application for planning permission. 

 
10.2 It is proposed that the same scheme of delegation should apply to decisions 

relating to the making of Neighbourhood Development Orders and Community 
Right to Build Orders as to Neighbourhood Plans.  

 
10.3 These proposals are set out in Recommendation 9 above. 
 
11. Revocations and modifications of Neighbourhood Plans, Neighbourhood 

Development Orders or Community Right to Build Orders  
 
11.1 Once a Neighbourhood Plan, a Neighbourhood Development Order or Community 

Right to Build Order is made, it is possible for the Secretary of State (SoS) or the 
LPA, with the SOS's consent, to revoke the Plan or Order. It is also possible for 
the LPA to replace an NDO to correct errors, having gained the consent of the 
organisation who made the NDO, if they still exist. This may require having an 
examination of the proposed modification and could also be subject to judicial 
review. 

 
11.2 The revocation of a Plan or Order is more likely to be required in the case of a 

significant change. It would therefore seem logical that Cabinet is responsible for 
making the Plan or Order is also responsible for modifying or revoking them. 

 
11.3 If, however, the change was being made simply to correct errors, it is proposed 

that this should be delegated to the Planning Committee. 
 
11.4 These proposals are set out in Recommendation 10 above. 
 
12. De-designation of  Neighbourhood Forum  
 
12.1 If the Neighbourhood Forum no longer fulfils its function e.g. it is not producing a 

Neighbourhood Plan or Neighbourhood Development Order in accordance with its 
business plan, and another group wishes to become designated so they can 
prepare one, the Council can decide to de-designate the existing Neighbourhood 
Forum. This is potentially important because a designated Neighbourhood Forum 
will exist for 5 years, and only one Neighbourhood Forum can exist in any 
Neighbourhood Plan area.  

 
12.2 As this is not a Recommendation that should be made lightly, and could be 

subject to Judicial Review, it is recommended that the decision should be made by 

Agenda Item 9

Page 123



 

Cabinet, having previously been considered by the Cabinet Member: Communities 
and Environment and the Cabinet Member: Regeneration and Housing. 

 
12.3 These proposals are set out in Recommendation 11 above. 

Agenda Item 9

Page 124



 

Report to: Audit & Governance Committee Date of Meeting:  12 December 2012 
Council        24 January 2012 

 
Subject: Review of Standards Regime 
 
Report of: Directors of Corporate Commissioning    Wards Affected: All  
                     & Corporate Support Services 
 
 
Is this a Key Decision?   No   Is it included in the Forward Plan? 

No 
 
Exempt/Confidential       No  
 

 
Purpose/Summary 
 
To consider the recommendations of the Member Working Group on the contents of the 
Code of Conduct and to obtain any feedback and/or approval on the amendments made. 
   
Recommendations to Audit and Governance Committee:  
 
1. That the revised Member Code of Conduct (Appendix A) as amended for the  
            reasons outlined in the report be recommended for consideration to Council. 
 
2. To note the dispensation criteria contained in Section 33 of the Localism Act 2011. 
 
3.        To agree that the consideration of any dispensation applications be considered by     

a group of three members drawn from the three political groups Audit and 
Governance Committee as per paragraph 5 of the report and to report back the 
outcomes of such applications to the Audit and Governance Committee following 
such meetings. 

 
Recommendation to Council: 
 
That the revised Member Code of Conduct set out in Appendix A to this report be 
adopted. 

How does the decision contribute to the Council’s Corporate Objectives? 
 

 Corporate Objective Positive 
Impact 

Neutral 
Impact 

Negative 
Impact 

1 Creating a Learning Community  ü  

2 Jobs and Prosperity  ü  

3 Environmental Sustainability  ü  

4 Health and Well-Being  ü  

5 Children and Young People  ü  

Agenda Item 10

Page 125



6 Creating Safe Communities  ü  

7 Creating Inclusive Communities  ü  

8 Improving the Quality of Council 
Services and Strengthening Local 
Democracy 

 ü  

 
 
Reasons for the Recommendation: 
 
To ensure that the Council commitment made at the meeting in July 2012 is fulfilled with 
respect to the review of the Standards arrangements for the Council. 
 
What will it cost and how will it be financed? 
 
(A) Revenue Costs 
 
 Nil 
 
(B) Capital Costs 
 
 Nil 
 
Implications: 
 
The following implications of this proposal have been considered and where there are 
specific implications, these are set out below: 
 

Legal  - Legal implications are contained in the contents of the report where appropriate 
 

Human Resources Nil 
 

Equality 
1. No Equality Implication      

2. Equality Implications identified and mitigated 

3. Equality Implication identified and risk remains  

 

 
Impact on Service Delivery: 
 
To improve good governance of the Council’s business through a twice yearly review of 
the Council’s constitution.  
 
What consultations have taken place on the proposals and when? 
 
The Head of Corporate Finance and ICT Strategy (FD 1823/2012) has been consulted and 
has no comments on this report because the contents have no financial implications.    
 

ü 

 

 

Agenda Item 10

Page 126



Are there any other options available for consideration? 
 
To not review the standards regime as outlined in the report.  
 
Implementation Date for the Decision 
 
Immediately following the Council meeting on 24 January 2012.  
 
 
Contact Officers: Jill Coule, Head of Corporate Legal Services  
Tel: 0151 934 2031 
Email: jill.coule@sefton.gov.uk 
 
Andrea Watts, Head of Governance and Civic Services 
Tel:0151 934 2030 
Email: andrea.watts@sefton.gov.uk 
 
 
Background Papers: 
 
There are no background papers available for inspection. 
 

Agenda Item 10

Page 127



1. Introduction/Background 
 
1.1 The Localism Act 2011 has introduced a number of legislative changes to the 

standards regime at the Council. Members will recall that following the two reports 
to Council in April and July 2012 which set out these changes, it was agreed that:  
 

• a further review of the administration of the Standards in Sefton would be 
undertaken within six months of its introduction; and 
 

•  that a working group would be drawn from the Audit and Governance 
Committee for the purposes of such a review.    

 
1.2 In particular, the working group was to consider the contents of the Members’ 

Code of Conduct adopted by the Council on 5 July 2012 and undertake a 
comparative exercise with other Councils’ Codes of Conduct. The purpose of such 
an exercise was to determine the advantages and disadvantages of each code 
with a view of adopting those provisions offering a better practice than those set 
out in Sefton’s Code of Conduct.   It was also to consider if further uniformity could 
be achieved in the contents of the Codes across Merseyside. 
 

1.3 A meeting of the working group, which included a Parish Councillor, took place on 
10 October 2012. A number of changes to the Code were debated and the 
amendments set out below were recommended.   
 

1.4 On 20 November 2012, the amended Code of Conduct was presented to 10 
Parish Councils and this result in a further amendment being suggested.  
 

2. Recommendations of the Working Group  
 
2.1 The Working Group has recommended the following amendments to the Code of 

Conduct:- 
 

• Paragrah 5 of the Interests Section of the Code, namely:-  
 
“5. There will be no requirements for you to declare or register any gifts and 
hospitality, but DO NOT accept any gifts in excess of £50 (fifty pounds)” 
 
be replaced with the that adopted by Knowsley Council namely:-  
 
“Should a gift or hospitality over the value of £25 or frequent gifts of lesser 
values from the same person/ organisation be accepted, you must within 
28 days of receiving the gift or hospitality provide written notification to the 
Monitoring Officer of the existence and nature of that gift or hospitality.” 
 

• The front page of the Sefton Code of Conduct indictates who the Code 
applies to.  
 

• The following sentence be included in the introduction of Sefton’s Code of 
Conduct:  

 

Agenda Item 10

Page 128



“The Code of Conduct does not apply to what the Mayor, Members and co-
opted Members do in their purely private and personal lives”.  

 

• The words “other interests” be removed from the first line of paragraph 4 of 
the Code. 
 

• That it be inserted in the Code that it is a matter of individual choice 
whether a Member declares a personal interest at a meeting.  

 
 

3. Recommendations of the Head of Legal Services 
 
3.1  The Head of Legal Services also recommends the insertion of a section on the 

 consequences of members not complying with the Code into its Introduction. This 
 section reads as follows:-  

 
“4. Any failure to observe the Code may result in:-  
 
a) a complaint against you which would be dealt with in accordance with the 

Council’s standards framework and could result in the application of a 
sanction; and  

 
b) a criminal conviction and a fine of up to £5,000 and/or disqualification from 

office for a period of up to 5 years in the event of a failure to take appropriate 
action in respect of any disclosable pecuniary interest (see paragraphs 11 and 
12 of this Code).”   

 
 

3.2  The working group committee was given to the close of business of Friday 30 
 November to suggest any further revisions to the Code, including to this section. 
 No further comments were received.  

 
4 Recommendation of the Parish Councils  

 
4.1  Ince Blundell Parish Council has observed that according to paragraph 1 of the 

 amended Code of Conduct, the Code only applies to “members of this authority”, 
 i.e. Sefton Council, and does not encompass the Parish Councils.  

 
4.2  Pursuant to section 8 of the Localism Act, Parish Council’s are to be referred to as 

 “a relevant authority”. It has therefore been suggested that the following wording 
 in paragraph 1 of the Code:-  

 
“1. This Code applies to you as a Member of this Authority…” 
 
be replaced with:-  
 
“This Code applies to you as a Member of the Authority…”.  

 
4.3  Furthermore, a definition of “the Authority” is to be inserted into the Interpretation 

 section (Paragraph 6 of the amended Code of Conduct) which is to state as 
 follows:-  

 

Agenda Item 10

Page 129



“The Authority” is defined to include:-  
 
(a) Sefton Council  
(b) A “relevant authority” within the meaning of section 8 of the Localism Act.  

 
4.4  This is an issue that has not been before the working group and needs to be 

 addressed.  
 
 

5 Use of Dispensations re Councillors Interests 
 
Closer examination of other Codes from elsewhere in Merseyside and the country 
has revealed that provisions are included in their Codes with respect to 
dispensations. 
 
In light of the fact that the general rule for members contained in Section 31(4) of 
the Act is that the member or co-opted member may not: 
  
(a) participate, or participate further, in any discussion of the matter at the 
meeting, or 
 
(b) participate in any vote, or further vote, taken on the matter at the meeting, 

   
In other words if you have a pecuniary interest on your register you must not do a 
or b above. 
 
There remains in place a mechanism for members to obtain a dispensation for 
certain interests.  The responsibility to grant such dispensations falls within the 
remit of the Audit and Governance Committee.   The grounds now contained 
within the Localism Act 2011 for obtaining a dispensation are set out in Section 33 
of the Act as follows: 
 
33 Dispensations from section 31(4) 

 
(1) A relevant authority may, on a written request made to the proper officer of the 
authority by a member or co-opted member of the authority, grant a dispensation 
relieving the member or co-opted member from either or both of the restrictions in 
section 31(4) in cases described in the dispensation. 
 
(2) A relevant authority may grant a dispensation under this section only if, after 
having had regard to all relevant circumstances, the authority— 
(a) considers that without the dispensation the number of persons prohibited by 
section 31(4) from participating in any particular business would be so great a 
proportion of the body transacting the business as to impede the transaction of the 
business, 
(b) considers that without the dispensation the representation of different political 
groups on the body transacting any particular business would be so upset as to 
alter the likely outcome of any vote relating to the business, 
(c) considers that granting the dispensation is in the interests of persons living in 
the authority's area, 
(d) if it is an authority to which Part 1A of the Local Government Act 2000 applies 
and is operating executive arrangements, considers that without the dispensation 

Agenda Item 10

Page 130



each member of the authority's executive would be prohibited by section 31(4) 
from participating in any particular business to be transacted by the authority's 
executive, or 
(e) considers that it is otherwise appropriate to grant a dispensation. 
 
(3) A dispensation under this section must specify the period for which it has 
effect, and the period specified may not exceed four years. 
 
(4) Section 31(4) does not apply in relation to anything done for the purpose of 
deciding whether to grant a dispensation under this section. 

 
In light of the wide ranging nature of the transformation programme, it is 
envisaged that members will be contacted shortly to ensure that all members are 
aware of this option and to see if they require any dispensations.  If this is the 
case, then there will need to be a meeting of the Audit and Governance committee 
convened to consider any such applications.   
 
In these circumstances, it is suggested that whilst the responsibility rests with the 
whole committee to consider dispensations, that the Audit and Governance 
Committee determine that a politically balanced group of 3 members be drawn 
from the Audit and Governance membership to consider any such applications. 

 
6  Conclusion  

 
6.1  A number of amendments have been made to the current Code of Conduct as 

 part of the six month review of the administration of standards in Sefton.  
 

6.2  A comparative exercise has been undertaken of the Council’s current Code of 
 Conduct with Codes adopted by other Local Authorities so that best practices can 
 be identified and adopted.     

 
6.3  The amended Code of Conduct provides a Code more suitable to Sefton and its 

 Members.   
 

6.4  The amended Code clearly applies to the Parish Councils and improves the good 
 governance of the Council’s business.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 10

Page 131



 
 
 
 
 
 

This page is intentionally left blank 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 10

Page 132



Appendix A  
 

Amended Members’ Code of Conduct  
 

CHAPTER 2 - MEMBERS 

A CODE OF CONDUCT 

INTRODUCTION 

WHO THIS CODE APPLIES TO 

1 This Code applies to you as a Member of the Authority when you act in your role as a 

Member and it is your responsibility to comply with the provisions of this Code. 

2 The Code of Conduct does not apply to what the Mayor, Members and co-opted 

Members do in their purely private and personal lives.   

3 You are a representative of this Authority and the public will view you as such and 

therefore your actions impact on how the Authority as a whole is viewed and your 

actions can have both positive and negative impacts on the Authority. 

4 Any failure to observe the Code may result in:-  

a) a complaint against you which would be dealt with in accordance with the 

Council’s standards framework and could result in the application of a sanction; 

and  

b) a criminal conviction and a fine of up to £5,000 and/or disqualification from office 

for a period of up to 5 years in the event of a failure to take appropriate action in 

respect of any disclosable pecuniary interest (see paragraphs 11 and 12 of this 

Code).  

5 This Code is based upon the “Nolan Principles - the seven principles of public life” 

which are set out at Appendix 1 of this Code. 

INTERPRETATION 

6 In this Code:- 

7 “The Authority” is defined to include:-  

(a) Sefton Council  
(b) A “relevant authority” within the meaning of section 8 of the Localism Act.  

 

8  “Meeting” means any meeting of: 

(a) the Authority; 

(b) the executive of the Authority; 

Agenda Item 10

Page 133



(c) any of the Authority’s or its executive’s committees, sub-committees, 

joint committees or area committees; 

whether or not the press and public are excluded from the meeting in question by 
virtue of a resolution of Members. 

9 “Member” includes a co-opted Member and an appointed Member. 

GENERAL OBLIGATIONS 

10 When acting in your role as a Member of the Authority: 

a) DO treat others with respect; 

b) DO NOT conduct yourself in a manner which is contrary to the Authority’s duty to 

promote and maintain high standards of conduct of Members; 

c) DO NOT disclose information given to you in confidence by anyone, or information 

acquired by you which you believe, or ought reasonably to be aware, is of a 

confidential nature, except where:- 

(i) you have the consent of a person authorised to give it; 

(ii) you are required by law to do so; 

(iii) the disclosure is made to a third party for the purpose of obtaining 

professional legal advice, provided that the third party agrees not to 

disclose the information to any other person; or 

(iv) the disclosure is:- 

a. reasonable and in the public interest; and 

b. made in good faith and in compliance with the reasonable   

requirements of the Authority; and 

c. you have consulted the Monitoring Officer prior to its release;  

d) DO NOT prevent another person from gaining access to information to which that 

person is entitled by law. 

11 When using or authorising the use by others of the resources of the Authority: 

a) DO act in accordance with the Authority’s reasonable requirements, including the 

requirements of the Authority’s ICT policy and the policies (attached to or included 

in the Authority’s Constitution), copies of which have been provided to you and 

which you are deemed to have read; 

b) DO make sure that such resources are not used improperly for political purposes 

(including party political purposes); and 

Agenda Item 10

Page 134



c) DO have regard to any applicable Local Authority Code of Publicity made under 

the Local Government Act 1986. 

INTERESTS 

12 As a public figure, your public role may, at times, overlap with your personal and/or 

professional life and interests.  However, when performing your public role as a 

Member, DO act solely in terms of the public interest and DO NOT act in a manner to 

gain financial or other material benefits for yourself, your family, your friends, your 

employer or in relation to your business interests.  The definition of pecuniary 

interests is now set out in Appendix 3 of the Code of Conduct. 

13 You are required to register “pecuniary interests”.  Failure to declare or register a 

pecuniary interest will be a criminal offence if this is done without a reasonable 

excuse.  If you knowingly or recklessly provide false or misleading information about 

a pecuniary interest, this will also be a criminal offence. 

14 Should a gift or hospitality over the value of £25 or frequent gifts of lesser values from 

the same person/organisation be accepted, you must within 28 days of receiving the 

gift or hospitality provide written notification to the Monitoring Officer of the existence 

and nature of that gift or hospitality.  

15 It is a matter of individual choice whether a Member declares an “other interest” at a 

meeting.  

DISCLOSURE AND PARTICIPATION 

16 At a meeting where such issues arise, DO declare any interests relating to your public 

duties and DO take steps to resolve any conflicts arising in a way that protects the 

public interest. 

17 Certain types of decisions, including those relating to a permission, licence, consent 

or registration for yourself, your friends, your family Members, your employer or your 

business interests, may be so closely tied to your personal and/or professional life 

that your ability to contribute to a decision in an impartial manner in your role as a 

Member may be called into question and in turn raise issues about the validity of the 

decision of the Authority.  DO NOT become involved in these decisions any more 

than a member of the public in the same personal and/or professional position as 

yourself is able to and DO NOT vote in relation to such matters. (See also Appendix 

2.)  In addition: 

a) Members must update their register of interests within 28 days of the date that a 
change occurs; 

b) where a Member discloses a Discloseable Pecuniary Interest, he/she must 
withdraw from the meeting room, including from the public gallery, during the 
whole consideration of any item of business in which he/she has an interest, 
except where he/she is permitted to remain as a result of a grant of a dispensation 

Agenda Item 10

Page 135



18 DO NOT improperly use knowledge gained solely as a result of your role as a 

Member for the advancement of yourself, your friends, your family Members, your 

employer or your business interests. 

PRE-DETERMINATION OR BIAS 

19 Where you have been involved in campaigning in your political role on an issue which 

does not impact on your personal and/or professional life, you should not be 

prohibited from participating in a decision in your political role as a Member.  

However, DO NOT place yourself under any financial or other obligation to outside 

individuals or organisations that might seek to influence you in the performance of 

your official duties. 

20 When making a decision, DO consider the matter with an open mind and on the facts 

made available to you in order for the decision to be taken. 

INTERESTS ARISING IN RELATION TO OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 

COMMITTEES  

21 In relation to any business before an overview and scrutiny committee of the Authority 

(or of a sub-committee of such a committee) where: 

a) that business relates to a decision made (whether implemented or not), 

or action taken by your Authority’s executive or another of your 

Authority’s committees, sub-committees, joint committees or joint sub-

committees; and 

b) at the time the decision was made or action was taken, you were a 

Member of the executive, committee, sub-committee, joint committee or 

joint sub-committee mentioned in paragraph 11.1 and you were present 

when that decision was made or action was taken; or 

c) that business relates to a decision made (whether implemented or not), 

or action taken by you (whether by virtue of the Authority’s Constitution 

or under delegated authority from the Leader): 

d) you may attend a meeting of the overview and scrutiny committee of 

your Authority or of a sub-committee of such a committee, but only for 

the purpose of making representations, answering questions or giving 

evidence relating to the business, provided that the public are also 

allowed to attend the meeting for the same purposes, whether under a 

statutory right or otherwise. 

DISPENSATIONS 
 

21. A member or voting co-opted member may request in writing to be granted a 
dispensation relieving them from the restriction of not participating in, or voting 
upon, any matter in which they have a disclosable pecuniary interest. Such a 
dispensation will only be granted in accordance with the provisions set out in 

Agenda Item 10

Page 136



Section 33 of the Localism At 2011 and arrangements agreed by Council. 

Agenda Item 10

Page 137



APPENDIX 1 TO THE CODE OF CONDUCT 
 

THE SEVEN PRINCIPLES OF PUBLIC LIFE 
SELFLESSNESS 

Holders of the public office should act solely in terms of the public interest.  They should 

not do so in order to gain financial or other material benefits for themselves, their family 

or their friends. 

INTEGRITY 

Holders of the public office should not place themselves under any financial or other 

obligation to outside individuals or organisations that might seek to influence them in the 

performance of their official duties. 

OBJECTIVITY 

In carrying out public business, including making public appointments, awarding 

contracts, or recommending individuals for rewards and benefits, holders of public office 

should make choices on merit. 

ACCOUNTABILITY 

Holders of public office are accountable for their decisions and actions to the public and 

must submit themselves to whatever scrutiny is appropriate to their office. 

OPENNESS 

Holders of public office should be as open as possible about all the decisions and actions 

that they take.  They should give reasons for their decisions and restrict information only 

when the wider public interest clearly demands. 

HONESTY 

Holders of public office have a duty to declare any private interests relating to their public 

duties and to take steps to resolve any conflicts arising in a way that protects the public 

interest. 

LEADERSHIP 

Holders of public office should promote and support these principles by leadership and 

example. 

 

Agenda Item 10

Page 138



 

APPENDIX 2 TO THE CODE OF CONDUCT 

Where the decision referred to in Clause 7 of the Code relates to one of the functions of 

the Authority set out below, and the condition which follows that function does not apply 

to you when making that decision, you may participate in the decision: 

a) housing, where you are a tenant of your Authority unless the decision 

relates particularly to your tenancy or lease; 

b) school meals or school transport and travelling expenses, where you 

are a parent or guardian of a child in full time education, or a parent 

governor of a school unless the decision relates particularly to the 

school concerned; 

c) statutory sick pay under Part XI of the Social Security Contributions and 

Benefits Act 1992, where you are in receipt of, or are entitled to the 

receipt of such pay; 

d) an allowance, payment or indemnity given to Members; 

e) any ceremonial honour given to Members; and 

f) setting Council Tax or a precept under the Local Government Finance 

Act 1992. 

Agenda Item 10

Page 139



APPENDIX 3 TO THE CODE OF CONDUCT 
 

Subject Prescribed description 
 

Employment, office, trade, 
profession or vocation 

Any employment, office, trade, profession or 
vocation carried on for profit or gain. 

Sponsorship Any payment or provision of any other 
financial benefit (other than from the relevant 
authority) made or provided within the 
relevant period in respect of any expenses 
incurred by a Member of a relevant authority 
in carrying out duties as a Member, or 
towards the election expenses of a/the 
Member of the relevant authority. 
This includes any payment or financial 
benefit from a trade union within the meaning 
of the Trade Union and Labour Relations 
(Consolidation) Act 1992 
 

Contracts Any contract which is made between the 
relevant person (or a body in which the 
relevant person has a beneficial interest*) 
and the relevant authority— 
under which goods or services are to be 
provided or works are to be executed; and 
which has not been fully discharged. 
 
*this means a firm in which the relevant 
person is a partner or a body coporate of 
which the relevant person is a director, or in 
the securities of which the relevant person 
has a beneficial interest 
 

Land Any beneficial interest in land which is within 
the area of the relevant authority*. 
 
*land excludes an easement, servitude, 
interest or right in or over land which does 
not carry with it a right for the relevant 
person (alone or jointly with another) to 
occupy the land or to receive income. 
 

Licences Any licence (alone or jointly with others) to 
occupy land in the area of the relevant 
authority for a month or longer. 
 

Corporate tenancies Any tenancy where (to the relevant 
Member’s knowledge)— 
the landlord is the relevant authority; and 
the tenant is a body in which the relevant 
person has a beneficial interest. 
 

Agenda Item 10

Page 140



Securities Any beneficial interest in securities* of a 
body where— 
that body (to the relevant Member’s 
knowledge) has a place of business or land 
in the area of the relevant authority; and 
either— 
the total nominal value of the securities 
exceeds £25,000 or one hundredth of the 
total issued share capital of that body; or 
if the share capital of that body is of more 
than one class, the total nominal value of the 
shares of any one class in which the relevant 
person has a beneficial interest exceeds one 
hundredth of the total issued share capital of 
that class. 
 
*securities means shares, debentures, 
debenture stock, loan stock, bonds, units of 
a collective investment scheme within the 
meaning of the Financial Services and 
Markets Act 2000 and other securities of any 
description, other than money deposited with 
a building society. 

 

 
 

Agenda Item 10

Page 141



Page 142

This page is intentionally left blank



COUNCIL-24-1-2013 

COUNCIL – 24 JANUARY 2013 
 

REPORT OF THE LEADER OF THE COUNCIL 
 

COUNCIL CONSTITUTION – URGENCY AND CALL-IN PROVISIONS 
 

I wish to report that the Chair of the relevant Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee gave his consent, under Rule 46 of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Procedure Rules set out in the Council Constitution to the following issues 
being dealt with, on the basis that the decisions could not be reasonably 
deferred, and not subject to call-in. 
 
CABINET MEMBER – REGENERATION AND TOURISM – 29 NOVEMBER 
2012 
 
Extension of Home Improvement Agency Contract with Mears Limited 
 
Purpose: 
 
To seek approval to further extend the current contract with Mears Ltd, to 
provide Home Improvement Agency Services. 
 
Decision: 
 
(1) The current contract to provide Major and Minor Adaptation services 

with Mears Ltd be extended by a further 4 months, until 31 March 
2013, or such earlier date as may be agreed to enable the services to 
be brought in-house; and 

 
(2) it be noted that the Leader of the Council and the Chair of the Overview 

and Scrutiny Committee (Regeneration and Environmental Services) 
had given their consent under Rule 46 of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Procedure Rules for this decision to be treated as urgent and not 
subject to “call in” on the basis that it cannot be reasonably deferred 
because the current contract expires on 30 November 2012, and 
written instruction relating to the contract needs to be issued by this 
date, or else the Council’s ability to deliver it’s statutory services will be 
seriously prejudiced. 

 
Reason for the decision: 
 
Officers do not have the authority to extend the existing contract with Mears 
Limited. 
 
Alternative Options Considered and Rejected: 
 
Due to current budgetary restrictions there are no further cost effective 
options to provide these services. 

Agenda Item 12

Page 143



COUNCIL-24-1-2013 

CABINET MEMBER – COMMUNITIES AND ENVIRONMENT – 4 DECEMER 
2012 
 
Weekly Collections Support Scheme – Offer of Funding 
 
Purpose: 
 
To seek approval to accept a formal offer of funding from the Department for 
Communities and Local Government (DCLG) ‘weekly collection support 
scheme’. 
 
Decision: 
 
(1) the formal offer from DCLG for funding via the ‘weekly collection 

support scheme’ to provide partial funding of Sefton’s bid for 
‘Enhanced Weekly Recycling Collections to All Areas’ be accepted; 

 
(2) authority be delegated to the Director of Street Scene and Head of 

Legal Services to vary the contract with Palm Recycling collection 
service in accordance with the proposals for which this funding is 
offered; and 

 
(3) It be noted that the Leader of the Council and the Chair of the 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee (Regeneration and Environmental) 
have given their consent under Rule 46 of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Procedure Rules for this decision to be treated as urgent and not 
subject to “call in” on the basis that it cannot be reasonably deferred 
due to the date by which a response to accept or decline the offer of 
WCSS funding must be provided. 

 
 
CABINET MEMBER – TRANSPORTATION - 21 DECEMBER 2012 
 
Easedale Drive Footbridge Refurbishment – Acceptance of Tender 
 
Purpose: 
 
To seek approval to the award of the contract for the refurbishment of the 
Easedale Drive Footbridge 
 
Decisions Made 
 
That 
 
(1) the tender process for the refurbishment of Easedale Drive Footbridge, 

Ainsdale be noted; 
 
(2) the award of the contract to North Midland Construction, Warrington, in 

the sum of £196,862.34, as detailed in the report, be approved; and 
 

Agenda Item 12

Page 144



COUNCIL-24-1-2013 

(3) it be noted that the Leader of the Council and the Chair of Overview 
and Scrutiny (Regeneration and Environmental Services) had given 
their consent under Rule 46 of the Overview and Scrutiny Procedure 
Rules for the decision to be treated as urgent and not subject to “call 
in” on the basis that it cannot be reasonably because the extended call 
in period owing to the Christmas shutdown would delay the 
issuing/signing of the contract until the 9 January 2013.  The contractor 
is required to commence works on Monday 7 January 2013 in order to 
carry out preparatory works in advance of a series of overnight 
weekend track possessions arranged with Network Rail, scheduled to 
commence on Saturday 12 January 2013.  These are scheduled to 
coincide with Scottish Power switching off adjacent overhead power 
cables and are required to remove the bridge for refurbishment.  
Cancellation will require a minimum of 8 weeks notice to rearrange with 
Network Rail, and also be subject to the availability of Scottish Power 
and incur additional costs. 

 
Reason for Decision 
 
To allow for the essential refurbishment of the Easedale Drive Footbridge to 
be undertaken. 
 
Alternative Options Considered and Rejected 
 
There are no other options for consideration. 
 
 
CABINET MEMBER – CORPORATE SERVICES AND PERFORMANCE 
– 2 JANUARY 2013 
 
Provision of Cleaning Materials – Approval for Contract Extension 
 
Purpose: 
 
To seek approval to award a further contract extension to the current provider 
of cleaning materials whilst a current European Union-compliant tender 
exercise is completed to renew the collaborative contract on behalf of the 
Merseyside Authorities. 
 
Decisions Made: 
 
(1) the award of a 3 month contract extension for the period 1 January to 

31 March 2013 be approved; and 
 
(2) it be noted that the Leader of the Council and the Chair of the Overview 

and Scrutiny Committee (Councillor McGinnity) had given their consent 
under Rule 46 of the Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules for the 
foregoing decision to be treated as urgent and not subject to “call in”, 
on the basis that it cannot be reasonably deferred, because to do so 

Agenda Item 12

Page 145



COUNCIL-24-1-2013 

would leave the Council out of contract and so with no mechanism in 
place to control the costs of supply. 

 
Reasons for Decisions: 
 
The procurement collaboration of the Merseyside Authorities of Sefton 
Council, Liverpool City Council, Knowsley Council, St. Helens Council, Wirral 
Council, Halton Council and Merseytravel has a combined business value, in 
respect of cleaning materials, of approximately £1m per annum.  The current 
contract has previously been extended, following a report to the Cabinet 
Member on 17 September 2012, until 31 December 2012, to allow a 
compliant European Union Restricted Tender Procedure to be carried out, led 
on behalf of all the Authorities by Halton Council. 
 
Due to a healthy response from the marketplace and availability of 
Procurement officers across the contributing Authorities in coordinating the 
process, the exercise is only part complete at this time.  The Invitation To 
Tender (ITT) stage has now commenced and the timetable for the remainder 
of the tender envisages a contract award on 6 March 2013 and a start date of 
1 April 2013.  An extension to the current contract is necessary to allow the 
completion of the procurement exercise, whilst minimising the risk to Sefton 
and the other user Authorities. 
 
Alternative Options Considered and Rejected: 
 
Procurement Officers have looked at whether any external framework 
contracts exist which Sefton and the other Merseyside Authorities could 
migrate to, but none exist.  If the Council does not award an extension of 
contract, then Sefton, amongst the other Merseyside Authorities, will be left 
out of contract and so will have no cost control mechanism.  That is 
undesirable in the current economic climate. 
 
 
CABINET MEMBER – CHILDREN, SCHOOLS, FAMILIES AND LEISURE 
– 3 JANUARY 2013 
 
Birkdale Primary School – Additional Accommodation 
 
Purpose: 
 
The report details the tenders received for the proposed extension of Birkdale 
Primary School to provide additional teaching accommodation. 
 
Decisions Made: 
 
(1) subject to the virement of the necessary additional funding, the tender 

of Walter Carefoot and Sons (Construction) Limited, of Preston, in the 
sum of £1,433,899, for the provision of additional teaching 
accommodation at Birkdale Primary School, be accepted: 

 

Agenda Item 12

Page 146



COUNCIL-24-1-2013 

(2) subject to (1) above, the Head of Corporate Legal Services be 
authorised to enter into a contract with the successful tenderer; and 

 
(3) it be noted that the Leader of the Council and the Chair of the Overview 

and Scrutiny Committee (Councillor Brennan) had given their consent 
under Rule 46 of the Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules for the 
foregoing decisions to be treated as urgent and not subject to “call in”, 
on the basis that they cannot be reasonably deferred, because orders 
needed to be placed to ensure that the new accommodation was 
available in time for the commencement of the September 2013 term. 

 
Reasons for Decisions: 
 
To respond to an identified requirement for additional primary school places in 
the Birkdale area of Southport. 
 
Alternative Options Considered and Rejected: 
 
None. 

Agenda Item 12

Page 147



Page 148

This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of Previous Meeting
	7 Local Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2013/14 and Changes to Council Tax Discounts and Exemptions for Unoccupied Properties
	8 Capital Maintenance Grant 2012/13 - Additional Schemes
	9 Neighbourhood Planning Scheme of Delegation
	10 Review of Standards Regime
	12 Matters dealt with in accordance with Rule 46 of the Scrutiny Procedure Rules (Call-In and Urgency) of the Constitution

